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The Kıraça Group Companies is involved in the commercial vehicle, 
automotive spare parts, sailing and motor yacht, and energy industries

Kıraça Holding
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Kıraça Holding was established in 1998 under the leadership of 
İnan Kıraç, prominent name of the Turkish automotive industry, 
under the title of Kıraça Group Companies.
The founding mission of the Holding is to carry all of its 
stakeholders and Turkey a step forward by generating profitability 
and enabling sustainable development through effective business 
models and innovative products in its fields of activity.In this 
context, the Holding evaluates its founders’ more than 50-year 
experience in the automotive and other industry sectors through its 
brands in the commercial vehicle, automotive spare parts, sailboat 
and motor yacht, energy sector, and provides added value to the 
Turkish economy through job creation and innovative products.
Kraça Holding implements its mission with its experienced team 
at the management levels, acting with the values of respect for 
human beings, high moral values, professionalism, high quality, 
responsibility, and environmental awareness in all of its activities.
Suna ve İnan Kıraç Foundation, founded by İnan Kıraç - one of the 
founders of Kıraça Holding -, Suna Kıraç - his wife - and İpek Kıraç
- their daughter -, serves to our country by empowering Turkish 
culture, art, education and health, and conducts projects with its 
two prominent institutions, Pera Museum and İstanbul Research 
Institute.

As at 2021 year-end, the ratio of Karsan’s  
publicly-traded shares corresponds to  
34.56% of the Company’s capital

Kıraça Holding Other

34.56%

Total: 900.000.000 TL

36.54%

Karsan’s shares have been trading on Borsa İstanbul under the “KARSN” symbol since 2000.

As of end-2020, the company’s shares were being included in the following indices; BIST All Shares, BIST 
Metal Products & Machinery, BIST 100, BIST Stars, BIST Industrials, BIST Bursa, and BIST 100-30

Kıraça Holding 
adds value to the 
Turkish economy by 
creating employment 
and developing 
innovative products 
in the sectors in 
which it operates.

Shareholding Structure of Karsan (%)

308

Mavi ve mor 
(Ana renk turkuvaz 
Kontrastı kırmızı) 

63.46%
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Manufacturing commercial vehicles since 1966, 
Karsan’s nimble business model and business 
partnerships allow the company to respond to 
changing urban transportation needs.

Karsan’ Overview

Annual Report 2021
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Karsan’s factory in Hasanağa, Bursa is capable of producing 19,930  
vehicles per year in a single shift.

Karsan’s story began in 1966 
with a desire to “move the country 
forward”. With a half-century 
of experience in the Turkish 
automotive industry, Karsan 
continues its marketing, sales 
and after-sales services with its 
extensive service network in its 
journey from production for the 
world’s leading automotive giants to 
developing its own branded original 
products in the field of public 
transportation.
Karsan has become a rising brand 
throughout Turkey.
With the business partnerships it 
has established and its trailblazing 
innovations, Karsan today provides 
services in 20 different countries 
around the world.
At its Hasanağa plant in Bursa, 
which has been turning out 
commercial vehicles since 1966, 
Karsan has a single-shift production 
capacity of 19,870 units a year. 
Designed with built-in flexibility that 
allows production to shift quickly 
across a wide range of every sort 
of vehicle from cars to buses and 
from minivans to heavy lorries, the 
Hasanağa plant is located 30 km 
from downtown Bursa on 207,000 
m2 of grounds with 91,000 m2 of 
enclosed space.
Karsan produces 100% 
electric vehicles which have 
been innovatively developed 
and designed with a focus on 
addressing the needs of businesses 
and communities and which are 
capable of satisfying the unique 
requirements of individual countries 

and even of individual cities.
With its innovation inherent in 
DNA and its mission to produce 
sustainable solutions, Karsan 
continues to work rapidly by closely 
following the innovations in electric 
vehicle technology, which is needed 
by the future, and expands its 
product range day by day.
Karsan today produces three 
different versions (bus, van, truck) 
of Hyundai Motor Company’s H350 
panel van series, minibuses and 
chassis pickup trucks, Bozankaya 
branded electric buses, Menarinibus/
branded buses for Industria Italiana 
Autobus, and its own Karsan-
branded e-ATA, e-Jest, e-Jest, e-Atak, 
and autonomous e- ATAK vehicles 
and Karsan Star vehicles. In addition 
to vehicle manufacturing, Karsan also 
provides industrial services from its 
plant located in the Bursa Industrial 
Park.
Karsan’s story continues today, 
with its innovative product solutions 
developed to pass a better world 
on to future generations, by moving 
cities all over the world towards 
the future, communities towards 
a greener world, businesses 
towards profitability and business 
partners towards success. With 
the understanding of sustainable 
world, sustainable production 
vision, Karsan launched the electric 
models of Karsan Jest in the minibus 
segment in 2018 and Karsan Atak 
in the midibus segment in 2019, and 
presented its electric products to the 
whole world, especially to European 
countries.
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Karsan’s Timeline
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Karsan’s Timeline
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By developing innovative product solutions 
to leave a better world to future generations, 
Karsan moves cities towards the future, societies 
towards a greener world and its business 
partners towards success throughout the world.

Annual Report 2021
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Karsan became the first and only brand 
in Europe to offer 100% electric vehicles 

in all sizes ranging from 6 meters to 18 
meters when its electric product range was 

completed in 2021.
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Dear Stakeholders,
We are very proud that our 
organization, which we founded 
in 1966 with the goal of “moving 
our country forward,” has grown 
into a leading provider of high- 
tech mobility solutions in Turkey 
today.
As you are aware, the year 
2021 passed in the shadow of a 
pandemic that affected the entire 
world. This year, the automotive 
industry has faced global 
problems that it has never faced 
before.
Automotive, which is currently 
transitioning from internal 
combustion engines to electric, 
has faced supply issues, 
economic and logistical 
challenges, particularly chip, and 
extreme weather conditions. 
Despite all of these global issues, 
the Turkish automotive industry, 
in terms of total production and 
market, maintained its previous 
year’s course, and once again 
continued to be one of the driving 
forces of the Turkish economy 
through exports.

Karsan demonstrated once 
again that it is a key player in 
the Turkish automotive industry 
by closing 2021 with 30 percent 
growth and a turnover of more 
than 2 billion TRL, 70 percent 
of which comes from export 
activities. We manufacture 100% 
electric vehicles with advanced 
technology for every country, 
even every city, using innovative 
designs that we create by 
focusing on the happiness of 
businesses and societies. As a 
result, we are pleased to have 
achieved 90% of Turkey’s electric 
minibus and bus exports as 
Karsan in the last 3 years.
We continued to invest 
vigorously in 2021, in line with 
our strategy of developing high-
tech, environmentally friendly 
public transportation vehicles. 
We continued our collaboration 
to produce models of the world’s 
leading brands as well as our 
own models as Turkey’s only 
independent multi-brand vehicle 
manufacturer.

İnan KIRAÇ
Chairperson of the Board of Directors  
Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş.

Chairperson’s  
Message

We manufacture 
100% electric 
vehicles with 

advanced 
technology for every 
country, even every 

city, using innovative 
designs that we 

create by focusing 
on the happiness 
of businesses and 

societies. 

Annual Report 2021
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In this context, we agreed to sign 
a 5-year agreement with OYAK 
Renault to manufacture the 
existing Megane Sedan in 2021. 
To date, we have formed project-
based alliances with a number of 
valuable brands.
With this latest agreement, 
Karsan is excited to manufacture 
a passenger vehicle for the first 
time.
Every year, we get closer to our 
goal of a sustainable future.
We did not relent in our efforts 
last year to develop sustainable 
transportation solutions that 
will propel society forward. In 
2021, our work in the context of 
sustainability was evaluated at 
the Carbon Disclosure Project 
Climate Change Program level. In 
our first application, we were
rated the global average «B-» 
score. We are also proud to be 
one of the few companies that 
received this score on the first try.

As the year comes to a close, I’d 
like to share with you another 
issue that is very important to 
me. As many of you are aware, 
we have been attempting to 
make gender equality a part 
of our workplace culture since 
2019, as well as taking steps 
to support the fight against 
domestic violence. In this 
context, our company, which 
implemented a protocol with the 
International Labor Organization 
(ILO) Turkey Office in 2019 to 
improve gender equality in the 
workplace and increase women’s 
employment, went a step further 
in 2021 by signing a cooperation 
protocol with the Mor Salkım 
Women’s Solidarity Association 
and Counseling Center. As a 
result, the association’s goal is 
to assist Karsan employees and 
their families.

Our business culture, which 
is based on always working 
to improve and being open to 
new ideas, is the foundation of 
our success both at home and 
abroad. We will continue our 
journey with the understanding 
that our colleagues are the most 
important force that will propel 
Karsan to the future it seeks, and 
with the conviction that common 
tomorrows are possible when we 
work together. I’d like to thank 
you, our shareholders, customers, 
business partners, employees, 
and all of our stakeholders, 
for not abandoning us in this 
process.

Truly yours,

We are also pleased to have achieved 
90% of Turkey’s electric minibus and 
bus exports as Karsan in the last  
three years.
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(From left to right.)

Mehmet Altan SUNGAR
Independent Board Member

Okan BAŞ
Executive Director and CEO

Giancarlo BOSCHETTI
Vice Chairperson of Board of 
Directors

İnan KIRAÇ
Chairperson of Board of Directors

Nevzat TÜFEKÇİOĞLU
Independent Board Member

Fatma Füsun AKKAL BOZOK
Member of Board of Directors

Muhsin MENGÜTÜRK
Member of Board of Directors

Müfit ATASEVEN
Independent Board Member
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Board of Directors

İNAN KIRAÇ
Yönetim Kurulu Başkanı

İnan Kıraç, kariyerine 1961 yılında Koç Grubu’na bağlı Ormak A.Ş.’de Satış Memuru olarak başladı. 1966 yılında Fiat 
kamyonlarının ve midibüslerinin imalatçısı olan Otoyol’un Genel Müdürlüğü’ne atandı. 1970 yılında Türkiye’de üretilen 
Fiat marka otomobillerin pazarlama ve dağıtım şirketi Tofaş Oto Ticaret A.Ş.’nin Genel Müdürü oldu. Kıraç, önce Koç 
Holding’in Tofaş’tan sorumlu Başkan Yardımcılığı’na, daha sonra da Koç Holding A.Ş. Otomotiv Grubu Başkanlığı’na 
atandı. 1998 yılında emekliye ayrılıncaya kadar Koç Holding A.Ş. Yürütme Kurulu Başkanı (CEO) olarak hizmet veren 
Kıraç, Türk otomotiv sanayisinin gelişiminin her anına tanıklık etmiş, her ayrıntısına profesyonel yönetici olarak emek 
vermiş ve birçok dev fabrikaya imzasını atmıştır.

GIANCARLO BOSCHETTI
Yönetim Kurulu Başkan Vekili

Makine Mühendisliği ve Ekonomi eğitimi alan Giancarlo Boschetti 1964 yılında Fiat Grubu’nda iş hayatına atıldı. 
Boschetti, yaklaşık 40 yıl boyunca Fiat Grubu çatısı altında çeşitli görevler üstlendikten sonra 1991-2001 yılları arasında 
Iveco S.p.A.’nın Global CEO’su, 2002-2003 yılları arasında ise Fiat Auto S.p.A.’nın Global CEO’su olarak görev yaptı. 
Giancarlo Boschetti, uluslararası birçok şirkette yönetim kurulu üyesi olarak çalışmalarına devam etmektedir.

OKAN BAŞ
Yönetim Kurulu Murahhas Üyesi ve CEO

Boğaziçi Üniversitesi Makine Mühendisliği Bölümü’nde lisans, Clemson Üniversitesi (ABD) Makine Mühendisliği 
Bölümü’nde yüksek lisans eğitimini tamamlayan Okan Baş, çalışma hayatına 1987 yılında Tofaş Bursa Fabrikası 
Mühendislik Destek Departmanı’nda Makina Mühendisi olarak başlamış olup Tofaş bünyesinde 2016 Haziran ayına 
kadar farklı görevler üstlenmiştir. 1991-2002 yılları arasında Tofaş Bursa Fabrikası’nda Atölye Üretim Şefi, Motor 
Üretim Birimi Yöneticisi, Gövde Üretim Birimi Yöneticisi, Montaj Üretim Birimi Yöneticisi ve Doblò Ürün Sorumlusu olarak 
çalışmış olup 2002-2016 yılları arasında ise Tofaş Merkez Ofis İstanbul’da Satış Sonrası Direktörü, Mini Kargo Proje 
Sorumlusu, Satış Sonrası Yedek Parça Direktörü, Fiat İş Birimi Direktörü, Egea Projesi ve İş Geliştirme Direktörü olarak 
çalışmıştır.

NEVZAT TÜFEKÇİOĞLU
Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi

Nevzat Tüfekçioğlu, Ankara Üniversitesi Siyasal Bilgiler Fakültesi İktisat ve Maliye Bölümü’nden mezun olduktan sonra, 
1963 yılında Maliye Bakanlığı Hesap Uzman Yardımcılığına, 1966 yılında Maliye Bakanlığı Hesap Uzmanlığına atandı. 
1974 yılında kamu görevinden ayrılarak Koç Holding Mali Grubunda sırasıyla Koordinatör Yardımcısı, Koordinatör, 
Başkan Yardımcısı ve Denetim ve Mali Grup Başkanlıkları görevlerini yürüttü ve 2001 yılında emekli oldu. Tüfekçioğlu, 
2001-2006 yılları arasında Koç Holding A.Ş. Denetçisi, 2005-2006 yılları arasında Evyap A.Ş. Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi ve 
2013-2017 yılları arasında Kıraça Holding A.Ş. Yönetim Kurulu üyeliği görevlerinde bulunmuştur. Halen Koç Tüketici 
Finansmanı A.Ş. Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği, Entek Elektrik Üretimi A.Ş. Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği görevlerini sürdürmektedir.

Yönetim Kurulu
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İnan KIRAÇ 
Chairperson of the Board of Directors  
Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş.

İnan Kıraç began his career as a sales officer in 1961 at Ormak A.Ş., a division of the Koç Group. 
In 1966, he was promoted as the General Manager of Otoyol, the manufacturing company of 
Fiat trucks and midibuses. In 1970, he was later appointed as General Manager of Tofaş Oto 
Ticaret, the sales and distribution company of Fiat cars produced in Turkey. Mr. Kıraç was then 
promoted as the Vice President and later on to President of Koç Holding Automotive Group. 
He served as CEO of Koç Holding until his retirement in 1998. İnan Kıraç was privy to every 
development in the Turkish automotive industry, worked on every detail as a professional 
manager and put his seal on many great automotive factories.
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Giancarlo BOSCHETTI 
Vice Chairperson of Board of Directors

After graduating from mechanical engineering and economics, Giancarlo Boschetti, started to 
work in FIAT Group in 1964, where he held various positions for nearly 40 years. He served as 
Global CEO of Iveco S.p.A from 1991 to 2001, as Global CEO of FIAT Auto between 2002-2003. 
Giancarlo Boschetti serves as board member to many international companies.
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Okan BAŞ 
Executive Director and CEO
Having received his undergraduate and graduate degrees from Boğaziçi University, Department 
of Mechanical Engineering and Clemson University (USA), Department of Mechanical 
Engineering, respectively, Mr. Baş embarked upon his professional career at TOFAŞ Bursa Plant 
in 1987 in Engineering Support Department in the capacity of Mechanical Engineer. He worked 
at TOFAŞ in a variety of capacities until June 2016. Mr. Baş served at TOFAŞ Bursa Plant as 
Workshop Production Supervisor, Engine Production Unit Manager, Body Production Unit 
Manager, Assembly Production Unit Manager and Doblo Product Manager from 1991 to 2002, 
and worked at Tofaş Head Office Istanbul from 2002 to 2016 in various positions such as After-
Sales Director, Mini-Cargo Project Manager, After-Sales Spare Part Director, FIAT Business Unit 
Director, and Aegea Project and Business Development Director.

İNAN KIRAÇ
Yönetim Kurulu Başkanı

İnan Kıraç, kariyerine 1961 yılında Koç Grubu’na bağlı Ormak A.Ş.’de Satış Memuru olarak başladı. 1966 yılında Fiat 
kamyonlarının ve midibüslerinin imalatçısı olan Otoyol’un Genel Müdürlüğü’ne atandı. 1970 yılında Türkiye’de üretilen 
Fiat marka otomobillerin pazarlama ve dağıtım şirketi Tofaş Oto Ticaret A.Ş.’nin Genel Müdürü oldu. Kıraç, önce Koç 
Holding’in Tofaş’tan sorumlu Başkan Yardımcılığı’na, daha sonra da Koç Holding A.Ş. Otomotiv Grubu Başkanlığı’na 
atandı. 1998 yılında emekliye ayrılıncaya kadar Koç Holding A.Ş. Yürütme Kurulu Başkanı (CEO) olarak hizmet veren 
Kıraç, Türk otomotiv sanayisinin gelişiminin her anına tanıklık etmiş, her ayrıntısına profesyonel yönetici olarak emek 
vermiş ve birçok dev fabrikaya imzasını atmıştır.

GIANCARLO BOSCHETTI
Yönetim Kurulu Başkan Vekili

Makine Mühendisliği ve Ekonomi eğitimi alan Giancarlo Boschetti 1964 yılında Fiat Grubu’nda iş hayatına atıldı. 
Boschetti, yaklaşık 40 yıl boyunca Fiat Grubu çatısı altında çeşitli görevler üstlendikten sonra 1991-2001 yılları arasında 
Iveco S.p.A.’nın Global CEO’su, 2002-2003 yılları arasında ise Fiat Auto S.p.A.’nın Global CEO’su olarak görev yaptı. 
Giancarlo Boschetti, uluslararası birçok şirkette yönetim kurulu üyesi olarak çalışmalarına devam etmektedir.

OKAN BAŞ
Yönetim Kurulu Murahhas Üyesi ve CEO

Boğaziçi Üniversitesi Makine Mühendisliği Bölümü’nde lisans, Clemson Üniversitesi (ABD) Makine Mühendisliği 
Bölümü’nde yüksek lisans eğitimini tamamlayan Okan Baş, çalışma hayatına 1987 yılında Tofaş Bursa Fabrikası 
Mühendislik Destek Departmanı’nda Makina Mühendisi olarak başlamış olup Tofaş bünyesinde 2016 Haziran ayına 
kadar farklı görevler üstlenmiştir. 1991-2002 yılları arasında Tofaş Bursa Fabrikası’nda Atölye Üretim Şefi, Motor 
Üretim Birimi Yöneticisi, Gövde Üretim Birimi Yöneticisi, Montaj Üretim Birimi Yöneticisi ve Doblò Ürün Sorumlusu olarak 
çalışmış olup 2002-2016 yılları arasında ise Tofaş Merkez Ofis İstanbul’da Satış Sonrası Direktörü, Mini Kargo Proje 
Sorumlusu, Satış Sonrası Yedek Parça Direktörü, Fiat İş Birimi Direktörü, Egea Projesi ve İş Geliştirme Direktörü olarak 
çalışmıştır.

NEVZAT TÜFEKÇİOĞLU
Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi

Nevzat Tüfekçioğlu, Ankara Üniversitesi Siyasal Bilgiler Fakültesi İktisat ve Maliye Bölümü’nden mezun olduktan sonra, 
1963 yılında Maliye Bakanlığı Hesap Uzman Yardımcılığına, 1966 yılında Maliye Bakanlığı Hesap Uzmanlığına atandı. 
1974 yılında kamu görevinden ayrılarak Koç Holding Mali Grubunda sırasıyla Koordinatör Yardımcısı, Koordinatör, 
Başkan Yardımcısı ve Denetim ve Mali Grup Başkanlıkları görevlerini yürüttü ve 2001 yılında emekli oldu. Tüfekçioğlu, 
2001-2006 yılları arasında Koç Holding A.Ş. Denetçisi, 2005-2006 yılları arasında Evyap A.Ş. Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi ve 
2013-2017 yılları arasında Kıraça Holding A.Ş. Yönetim Kurulu üyeliği görevlerinde bulunmuştur. Halen Koç Tüketici 
Finansmanı A.Ş. Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği, Entek Elektrik Üretimi A.Ş. Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği görevlerini sürdürmektedir.
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Nevzat TÜFEKÇİOĞLU 
Independent Board Member

Nevzat Tüfekçiolu was appointed as Ministry of Finance Junior Accountant in 1963 and Ministry 
of Finance Senior Accountant in 1966 after graduating from Ankara University’s Faculty of 
Political Sciences. He resigned from public service in 1974 and served in Koç Holding Financial 
Group as Assistant Coordinator, Coordinator, Vice President and President of Audit and 
Financial Group before retiring in 2001. Mr. Tüfekçioğlu served as Koç Holding A.Ş Auditor 
between 2001 and 2006, Evyap A.Ş Board Member between 2005 - 2006 and Kıraça Holding 
A.Ş Board Member between 2013 - 2017. Presently he continues to serve as Koç Tüketici 
Finansmanı A.Ş Board Member, Entek Elektrik Üretimi A.Ş Board Member.
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MEHMET ALTAN SUNGAR
Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi

Mehmet Altan Sungar, 1963 yılında İktisadi Ticari İlimler Akademisi’nde öğrenci iken Koç Holding şirketlerinden Royal 
Lastikler Tevzi A.Ş.’de stajyer olarak işe başladı. Aynı şirkette farklı görevlerde bulunan Sungar, Türkiye’nin muhtelif 
bölgelerinde bölge müdürü olarak bayi teşkilatının kurulmasında da görev aldı. 1975 yılında Otoyol Pazarlama şirketinin 
kuruluş aşamasında görev üstlenen Sungar, aynı şirkette Pazarlama Müdürü, Genel Müdür Yardımcılığı ve Genel Müdür 
Vekilliği gibi farklı görevler yaptı. Sungar, 1985 yılından 2001 yılına kadar İstanbul Oto A.Ş.’de çalıştı. Aynı dönemde 
İstanbul Ticaret Odası Otomotiv Meslek Komitesi Üyesi olarak görev aldı. 2001-2004 yılları arasında Karsan Otomotiv 
Pazarlama ve Ticaret A.Ş. şirketinde Genel Müdür ve Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi olarak görev alan Sungar; 2004-2012 yılları 
arasında TURAVEL (Turizm, Eğitim ve Danışmanlık) şirketinde ortak ve danışman görevini üstlenmiştir.

FATMA FÜSUN AKKAL BOZOK
Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi

Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok, akademik eğitimini Boğaziçi Üniversitesi İdari Bilimler Fakültesi’nden yüksek lisans derecesi 
ve İstanbul Üniversitesi İşletme Fakültesi’nden doktora derecesi alarak tamamlamıştır. Mezuniyetinden sonra iş 
hayatına 1980’de Arthur Andersen Denetim Şirketi bünyesinde başlamıştır. 1983’te Koç Grubu’na katılıp Holding içinde 
önce Denetim ve Mali Grup bölümünde Denetim Uzmanı ve Koordinatör Yardımcısı olarak görev yapmıştır. 1992’de 
atandığı Denetim ve Mali Grup Koordinatörü görevini 11 yıl boyunca sürdürmüştür. 2003-2006 tarihleri arasında 
Finansman Grubu Direktörlüğü yapan Akkal, Sabancı Üniversitesi’nde öğretim üyeliği yapmaktadır. Akkal, ayrıca Akiş 
GYO’da Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği, Bizim Toptan Mağazaları A.Ş.’de Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği, Ford 
Otomotiv Sanayi Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği ve İzocam Ticaret ve Sanayi A.Ş. Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği 
görevlerini yürütmektedir.

MUHSİN MENGÜTÜRK
Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi

Prof. Dr. Muhsin Mengütürk, akademik eğitimini ABD’de Duke University Mühendislik Fakültesi’nden (Durham, 
North Carolina) yüksek lisans ve doktora dereceleri alarak tamamlamıştır. Mezuniyetinden sonra iş hayatına 1974’te 
Westinghouse Araştırma Merkezi’nde (Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania) ABD Hükümeti’nin Yenilenebilir Enerji Projesinin 
Türbin Erozyonu Bölümü Lideri olarak başlamıştır. Mengütürk, 1976’da Türkiye’ye dönüp Boğaziçi Üniversitesi 
Mühendislik Fakültesi’nde sırasıyla Yardımcı Doçent ve Doçent olarak görevlendirilmiş, 1984’te Profesörlüğe yükselerek 
İstanbul Teknik Üniversitesi Uçak ve Uzay Bölümleri Fakültesi Dekan Yardımcılığına atanmıştır. 1988-1992 tarihleri 
arasında Türk Eximbank’ın Kurucu Genel Müdür Yardımcısı olarak görevlendirilen Prof. Dr. Mengütürk; 1992-1995 
tarihleri arasında Bayındır Hayat Sigorta’nın Kurucu Genel Müdürlüğünü, 1997-2000 tarihleri arasında Sermaye 
Piyasası Kurulu’nun Başkanlığını yapmıştır. SPK görev süresini tamamladıktan sonra 2001-2006 tarihleri arasında 
Güneş Hayat Sigorta, Vakıf Emeklilik, Ankara Sigorta ve Ankara Emeklilik şirketlerinde Yönetim Kurulu Başkanı, Ata 
Holding’de Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi olarak çalışan Prof. Dr. Mengütürk 2006-2018 tarihleri arasında Doğuş Holding’de 
Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi olarak görev yapmıştır. Mengütürk ayrıca, Global İlişkiler Forumu (GİF) Yönetim Kurulu üyesidir. 
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Mehmet ALTAN SUNGAR 
Independent Board Member
While still a student at the Academy of Economics and Commercial Sciences, Mehmet Altan Sungar 
began working as an intern at Royal Lastikler Tevzi A., a Koç Holding company, in 1963. He held various 
positions within the same company and was involved in the establishment of the dealer network 
while serving as Regional Director in various regions throughout Turkey. Mr. Sungar took part in the 
foundation of Otoyol Pazarlama in 1975, and held several positions within the company, including 
Marketing Manager, Assistant General Manager, and Deputy General Manager. He also served in 
Istanbul Oto A.Ş. between 1985 and 2001. During the same period, Sungar worked as a member of 
the automotive professional community of the Istanbul Chamber of Commerce. Having served as the 
General Manager and Board Member in Karsat A.Ş. between 2001 and 2004, Sungar worked as a 
shareholder and counsel in TURAVEL (Tourism, Education and Consultancy) between 2004 and 2012.

MEHMET ALTAN SUNGAR
Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi

Mehmet Altan Sungar, 1963 yılında İktisadi Ticari İlimler Akademisi’nde öğrenci iken Koç Holding şirketlerinden Royal 
Lastikler Tevzi A.Ş.’de stajyer olarak işe başladı. Aynı şirkette farklı görevlerde bulunan Sungar, Türkiye’nin muhtelif 
bölgelerinde bölge müdürü olarak bayi teşkilatının kurulmasında da görev aldı. 1975 yılında Otoyol Pazarlama şirketinin 
kuruluş aşamasında görev üstlenen Sungar, aynı şirkette Pazarlama Müdürü, Genel Müdür Yardımcılığı ve Genel Müdür 
Vekilliği gibi farklı görevler yaptı. Sungar, 1985 yılından 2001 yılına kadar İstanbul Oto A.Ş.’de çalıştı. Aynı dönemde 
İstanbul Ticaret Odası Otomotiv Meslek Komitesi Üyesi olarak görev aldı. 2001-2004 yılları arasında Karsan Otomotiv 
Pazarlama ve Ticaret A.Ş. şirketinde Genel Müdür ve Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi olarak görev alan Sungar; 2004-2012 yılları 
arasında TURAVEL (Turizm, Eğitim ve Danışmanlık) şirketinde ortak ve danışman görevini üstlenmiştir.

FATMA FÜSUN AKKAL BOZOK
Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi

Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok, akademik eğitimini Boğaziçi Üniversitesi İdari Bilimler Fakültesi’nden yüksek lisans derecesi 
ve İstanbul Üniversitesi İşletme Fakültesi’nden doktora derecesi alarak tamamlamıştır. Mezuniyetinden sonra iş 
hayatına 1980’de Arthur Andersen Denetim Şirketi bünyesinde başlamıştır. 1983’te Koç Grubu’na katılıp Holding içinde 
önce Denetim ve Mali Grup bölümünde Denetim Uzmanı ve Koordinatör Yardımcısı olarak görev yapmıştır. 1992’de 
atandığı Denetim ve Mali Grup Koordinatörü görevini 11 yıl boyunca sürdürmüştür. 2003-2006 tarihleri arasında 
Finansman Grubu Direktörlüğü yapan Akkal, Sabancı Üniversitesi’nde öğretim üyeliği yapmaktadır. Akkal, ayrıca Akiş 
GYO’da Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği, Bizim Toptan Mağazaları A.Ş.’de Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği, Ford 
Otomotiv Sanayi Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği ve İzocam Ticaret ve Sanayi A.Ş. Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği 
görevlerini yürütmektedir.

MUHSİN MENGÜTÜRK
Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi

Prof. Dr. Muhsin Mengütürk, akademik eğitimini ABD’de Duke University Mühendislik Fakültesi’nden (Durham, 
North Carolina) yüksek lisans ve doktora dereceleri alarak tamamlamıştır. Mezuniyetinden sonra iş hayatına 1974’te 
Westinghouse Araştırma Merkezi’nde (Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania) ABD Hükümeti’nin Yenilenebilir Enerji Projesinin 
Türbin Erozyonu Bölümü Lideri olarak başlamıştır. Mengütürk, 1976’da Türkiye’ye dönüp Boğaziçi Üniversitesi 
Mühendislik Fakültesi’nde sırasıyla Yardımcı Doçent ve Doçent olarak görevlendirilmiş, 1984’te Profesörlüğe yükselerek 
İstanbul Teknik Üniversitesi Uçak ve Uzay Bölümleri Fakültesi Dekan Yardımcılığına atanmıştır. 1988-1992 tarihleri 
arasında Türk Eximbank’ın Kurucu Genel Müdür Yardımcısı olarak görevlendirilen Prof. Dr. Mengütürk; 1992-1995 
tarihleri arasında Bayındır Hayat Sigorta’nın Kurucu Genel Müdürlüğünü, 1997-2000 tarihleri arasında Sermaye 
Piyasası Kurulu’nun Başkanlığını yapmıştır. SPK görev süresini tamamladıktan sonra 2001-2006 tarihleri arasında 
Güneş Hayat Sigorta, Vakıf Emeklilik, Ankara Sigorta ve Ankara Emeklilik şirketlerinde Yönetim Kurulu Başkanı, Ata 
Holding’de Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi olarak çalışan Prof. Dr. Mengütürk 2006-2018 tarihleri arasında Doğuş Holding’de 
Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi olarak görev yapmıştır. Mengütürk ayrıca, Global İlişkiler Forumu (GİF) Yönetim Kurulu üyesidir. 
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Fatma Füsun AKKAL BOZOK 
Member of Board of Directors
Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok completed her academic studies by obtaining a master’s degree from 
Boaziçi University’s Faculty of Administrative Sciences and a doctorate from Istanbul University’s 
Faculty of Business. In 1980, she started her business career at Arthur Andersen Audit Company 
after graduating. She joined Koç Group in 1983 and served as an Audit Specialist and Assistant 
Coordinator in the Audit and Financial Group Department of the Holding. She held the position of 
Audit and Financial Group Coordinator within the Holding for 11 years. Akkal, who served as the 
Director of Financing Group between 2003 and 2006, is an academic member of Sabancı University. 
Akkal is also an Independent Board Member of Akis GYO, Independent Board Member of Bizim 
Toptan Mağazaları A.Ş., Independent Board Member of Ford Otomotiv Sanayii and Independent 
Board Member of İzocam Ticaret ve Sanayi A.Ş.

MEHMET ALTAN SUNGAR
Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi

Mehmet Altan Sungar, 1963 yılında İktisadi Ticari İlimler Akademisi’nde öğrenci iken Koç Holding şirketlerinden Royal 
Lastikler Tevzi A.Ş.’de stajyer olarak işe başladı. Aynı şirkette farklı görevlerde bulunan Sungar, Türkiye’nin muhtelif 
bölgelerinde bölge müdürü olarak bayi teşkilatının kurulmasında da görev aldı. 1975 yılında Otoyol Pazarlama şirketinin 
kuruluş aşamasında görev üstlenen Sungar, aynı şirkette Pazarlama Müdürü, Genel Müdür Yardımcılığı ve Genel Müdür 
Vekilliği gibi farklı görevler yaptı. Sungar, 1985 yılından 2001 yılına kadar İstanbul Oto A.Ş.’de çalıştı. Aynı dönemde 
İstanbul Ticaret Odası Otomotiv Meslek Komitesi Üyesi olarak görev aldı. 2001-2004 yılları arasında Karsan Otomotiv 
Pazarlama ve Ticaret A.Ş. şirketinde Genel Müdür ve Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi olarak görev alan Sungar; 2004-2012 yılları 
arasında TURAVEL (Turizm, Eğitim ve Danışmanlık) şirketinde ortak ve danışman görevini üstlenmiştir.

FATMA FÜSUN AKKAL BOZOK
Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi

Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok, akademik eğitimini Boğaziçi Üniversitesi İdari Bilimler Fakültesi’nden yüksek lisans derecesi 
ve İstanbul Üniversitesi İşletme Fakültesi’nden doktora derecesi alarak tamamlamıştır. Mezuniyetinden sonra iş 
hayatına 1980’de Arthur Andersen Denetim Şirketi bünyesinde başlamıştır. 1983’te Koç Grubu’na katılıp Holding içinde 
önce Denetim ve Mali Grup bölümünde Denetim Uzmanı ve Koordinatör Yardımcısı olarak görev yapmıştır. 1992’de 
atandığı Denetim ve Mali Grup Koordinatörü görevini 11 yıl boyunca sürdürmüştür. 2003-2006 tarihleri arasında 
Finansman Grubu Direktörlüğü yapan Akkal, Sabancı Üniversitesi’nde öğretim üyeliği yapmaktadır. Akkal, ayrıca Akiş 
GYO’da Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği, Bizim Toptan Mağazaları A.Ş.’de Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği, Ford 
Otomotiv Sanayi Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği ve İzocam Ticaret ve Sanayi A.Ş. Bağımsız Yönetim Kurulu Üyeliği 
görevlerini yürütmektedir.

MUHSİN MENGÜTÜRK
Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi

Prof. Dr. Muhsin Mengütürk, akademik eğitimini ABD’de Duke University Mühendislik Fakültesi’nden (Durham, 
North Carolina) yüksek lisans ve doktora dereceleri alarak tamamlamıştır. Mezuniyetinden sonra iş hayatına 1974’te 
Westinghouse Araştırma Merkezi’nde (Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania) ABD Hükümeti’nin Yenilenebilir Enerji Projesinin 
Türbin Erozyonu Bölümü Lideri olarak başlamıştır. Mengütürk, 1976’da Türkiye’ye dönüp Boğaziçi Üniversitesi 
Mühendislik Fakültesi’nde sırasıyla Yardımcı Doçent ve Doçent olarak görevlendirilmiş, 1984’te Profesörlüğe yükselerek 
İstanbul Teknik Üniversitesi Uçak ve Uzay Bölümleri Fakültesi Dekan Yardımcılığına atanmıştır. 1988-1992 tarihleri 
arasında Türk Eximbank’ın Kurucu Genel Müdür Yardımcısı olarak görevlendirilen Prof. Dr. Mengütürk; 1992-1995 
tarihleri arasında Bayındır Hayat Sigorta’nın Kurucu Genel Müdürlüğünü, 1997-2000 tarihleri arasında Sermaye 
Piyasası Kurulu’nun Başkanlığını yapmıştır. SPK görev süresini tamamladıktan sonra 2001-2006 tarihleri arasında 
Güneş Hayat Sigorta, Vakıf Emeklilik, Ankara Sigorta ve Ankara Emeklilik şirketlerinde Yönetim Kurulu Başkanı, Ata 
Holding’de Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi olarak çalışan Prof. Dr. Mengütürk 2006-2018 tarihleri arasında Doğuş Holding’de 
Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi olarak görev yapmıştır. Mengütürk ayrıca, Global İlişkiler Forumu (GİF) Yönetim Kurulu üyesidir. 
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Muhsin MENGÜTÜRK 
Member of Board of Directors
Prof. Dr. Muhsin Mengütürk completed his academic studies at Duke University Faculty of Engineering in the USA 
(Durham, North Carolina) obtaining a master’s degree and doctoral degrees. After graduation, his career began 
at the Turbine Erosion Department of the US Government’s Renewable Energy Project. In 1976, Mr. Mengütürk 
served respectively as Assistant Professor and Associate Professor, then he was appointed as Vice Dean of 
Istanbul Technical University Aeronautics and Astronautics Faculty after attaining a Professorship in 1984. Mr. 
Mengütürk, who was appointed as Turkish Eximbank’s Founding Vice President between 1988 - 1992, served as 
the Founding President of Bayındır Hayat Sigorta and President of the Capital Markets Board. After completing 
his duty in CMB, he served as the Chairperson of the Board of Directors in Güneş Hayat Sigorta, Vakıf Emeklilik, 
Ankara Sigorta and Ankara Emeklilik and Board Member in Ata Holding. Mr. Mengütürk served as a Board 
Member in Doğuş Holding. Mengütürk is also a Board Member of the Global Relations Forum (GRF).

Müfit ATASEVEN 
Independent Board Member
After completing his undergraduate degree at the Department of Business Administration at Ankara University, 
he was awarded a DEA-Doctorate degree from the University Paris IX Dauphine, completed his state doctorate 
in Turkey, and participated in the Fontainebleau INSEAD program. He served as a member of the Board of 
Directors and Auditors at OYAK General Directorate as well as Oyak Renault, Mais, Omsan, Tukaş, Entaş, 
Adana Çimento and Oyak Menkul Değerler, respectively. He held strategic positions at Renault SA, France, 
including Renault Mais Deputy General Manager and TOFAŞ General Manager. He also served as OYDER 
General Coordinator, Citroen Baylas General Manager, Board Member at Baylas and Baytur, Executive Board 
Member of DEIK Turkish-French Business Council, Board Member of Automotive Distributors Association and 
Chairperson of the Board. He has worked at Galatasaray, Sabancı, and Bilkent Universities, and he continues to 
work as a manager in the MEFA and Interactifs companies, both of which he founded.
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In 2021, we laid the 
groundwork for our future 
enterprise activities. Karsan 
has been undergoing a 
transformation for the last five 
years, as you are aware. As 
the heart of the automotive 
industry shifts from internal 
combustion engines to electric, 
we launched the electric 
version of Jest in 2018 as the 
most significant step of this 
transition. We introduced the 
electric ATAK a year later. It 
took a lot of effort to get these 
products on the market in a 
year. We know that electrifying 
our products will not help 

Distinguished Stakeholders,

As Karsan, we continue to 
make significant strides 
toward our goal of being “One 
Step Ahead in the Future of 
Mobility.” As you are aware, 
we ended 2021 with a 30% 
increase in revenue and a 
turnover of more than 2 billion 
TL. Export activities account 
for 70% of this total. Again, I’d 
like to express my great pride 
in the fact that we more than 
doubled our electric vehicle 
sales turnover last year. This 
figure, which was 213 million 
TL in 2020, was increased to 
402 million TL in 2021.

 

us achieve our goal, so 
electrical products serve as an 
intermediate stattions.

We are developing an 
infrastructure that will allow 
our products to be electric first 
and then electric autonomous. 
In this regard, we worked 
closely with ADASTEC 
to develop Autonomous 
e-ATAK. We launched our first 
driverless autonomous vehicle 
in early 2021. Our President 
hosted our first test drive at 
the Presidential Complex. The 
vehicle is currently used in 
routine Presidential Complex 
operations. We introduced the 
e-ATA Family in the large-size 
bus class in September of last 
year. With this launch, Karsan 
became the first and only 
brand in Europe to offer a fully 
electric product range in public 
transportation ranging in size 
from 6 meters to 18 meters.

With all of this, our company 
was also evaluated at the 
level of the Carbon Disclosure 
Project Climate Change 

Okan BAŞ
CEO 
Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş.

CEO’s Message

As you are aware, we ended 2021 with a 
30% increase in revenue and a turnover 
of more than 2 billion TL. Export activities 
account for 70% of this total. Again, I’d like 
to express my great pride in the fact that 
we more than doubled our electric vehicle 
sales turnover last year.
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Program, which measures the 
level of environmental impact 
management. As Karsan, we 
were able to obtain a global 
average of «B-» score in our 
first application. In addition, 
we concluded an agreement 
to begin manufacturing 
passenger vehicles in 2021. 
We are continuing our 
collaboration with OYAK 
Renault in order to begin mass 
manufacturing of the Renault 
Megane Sedan in September 
2022. We have now completed 
the first body, and the facilities 
are being constructed.

In terms of volume, we more 
than doubled our exports in 
2021 over the previous year. 
We sold 331 Karsan products 
to Europe last year. The 
previous year, the figure was 
147.

This includes both electric and 
conventional vehicles. In 2021, 
124 of our electric vehicles will 
be registered as products in 
Europe. As a result, 306 of our 
Karsan electric vehicles have 

been traveling world in 16 
different countries since 2019, 
primarily in France, Romania, 
Portugal, and Germany.

Although it may appear small 
in comparison to conventional 
vehicle sales figures, we 
can clearly state that we 
are one step ahead in the 
transformation of electric 
products, which has been 
underway for a few years. For 
us, 306 vehicles equal 3 million 
kilometers of experience. In 
the last three years, Karsan 
has realized 90 percent of 
Turkey’s electric minibus and 
bus exports.

306 of the 344 electric 
minibuses and buses sold 
from Turkey to Europe in the 
last three years are Karsan 
vehicles. This is a significant 
accomplishment. We already 
have orders for more than 
308 electric vehicles at the 
beginning of 2022, which 
we started very quickly. 
I am confident that the 

development will accelerate 
significantly further.

With our electric product 
portfolio, we aided in the 
transformation of many 
European cities’ transportation 
infrastructure and achieved 
long-term success. 
Furthermore, we made an 
important step for the North 
American market. Damera, 
Canada’s leading bus supplier 
and maintenance services 
provider, shook our hands. We 
began providing sales and

after-sales support as 
the Canadian distributor 
of Damera Bus Sales 
Canada Corp., an affiliate of 
Mississauga Bus Group of 
Companies, one of the region’s 
well-established companies, 
with the agreement.

As Karsan, we have been 
successful in increasing e- 
market JEST’s share year after 
year. With a 42 percent share 
in the 6-meter e-JEST 2020, it 
became the segment leader 

We are developing an infrastructure 
that will allow our products to 
be electric first and then electric 
autonomous. In this regard, we 
worked closely with ADASTEC to 
develop Autonomous e-ATAK.
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pride for us. On the one 
hand, it is significant that it 
is the first full-size bus in the 
United States to be granted 
permission to travel in this 
manner. Another project 
involving driverless e-ATAK 
is underway in Europe. In 
Northern Europe, we made  
our first export to Norway. 
All of this is the result of our 
innovative and entrepreneurial 
spirit...

We have achieved the 
distinction of being the first 
and only European brand  to 
provide electric vehicles of all 
sizes.

In this regard, in 2021, we will 
launch the all-electric

e-ATA model family. The e- 
ATA Series debuted in the 
market as three distinct models 
with lengths ranging from 10 
to 12 meters. We signed the 

in all of Europe. e-JEST has 
reclaimed first place in this 
field, increasing its market 
share to 51% by 2021. For 
the second year in a row, it 
was the European market’s 
e-JEST segment leader. We 
will continue to increase these 
figures, demonstrating that 
e- JEST dominates the market. 
E- ATAK by Karsan, on the 
other hand, has risen to the 
top of its class in Europe, with 
a 30% share of the electric city 
midibus market.

Last year, Karsan’s e-ATAK 
was tested for the first time 
on the University of Michigan 
campus in the United States. 
Now, I’d like to share the 
good news that permission to 
transport passengers on

public roads is on its way. 
This is a source of great 

largest electric bus contract in 
Turkey, worth 35 million Euros, 
for 56 18- meter-long electric 
buses in Romania toward the 
end of 2021. By the end of 
2022, we will have deployed 
56 18-meter e- ATAs.

We broke new ground in 
electric vehicle tenders in 
2021. In Italy, we signed a 
framework agreement with 
Consip for 80 e-ATAKs, and the 
first 11 orders have already 
been received. Furthermore, we 
won the Cagliari Municipality’s 
four e-ATAK tenders for the 
first time in Italy, and we will 
deliver them this year. For 
the first time in Germany, 
we delivered 5 e- ATAKs to 
the Weilheim Municipality, 
a public institution. With 
e-ATAK, we made our first 
foray into the Luxembourg 
market. We delivered four e- 
JESTs, Bulgaria’s first electric 

CEO Mesajı

As Karsan, we have become Europe’s first and only brand to 
offer a fully electric product range in all sizes, ranging from 6 
meters to 18 meters.
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minibus. For the first time, we 
sold electric Jest to Croatia. We 
introduced e-JEST in Mexico.

Finally, with the Karsan brand, 
we entered Ukraine for the first 
time with a fleet of 150 Jest 
and ATAK vehicles.

We are also assertive

in environmentally friendly CNG 
vehicles. In this regard, we 
will provide Mersin residents 
with our 205 CNG buses. We 
have already delivered 87 
of our CNG buses, and the 
remainder will be delivered this 
year. Over 1500 CNG parks 
have been sold in Turkey in 
the last 10 years. 750 of these 
are Menarinibuses, which we 
manufacture and sell under

license as Karsan. We have 
a 48 percent market share. 
51 ATAKs began roaming 
Ankara as the newest and 
youngest fleet as part of the 

EGO Directorate of Ankara 
Municipality’s project to renew 
its aging fleet.

With our Karsan-branded 
vehicles, we are present in 
16 different countries. On the 
other hand, we are attempting 
to raise awareness of the 
Karsan brand. Today, when 
the term “electric bus” is typed 
into the world- famous search 
engine Google in 16 countries 
in their native language, the 
Karsan brand ranks in the top 
three organic searches. This 
demonstrates that Karsan 
is on its way to becoming a 

preferred brand not only in 
Europe, but also globally.

We keep moving forward with 
our electric vision, e- Volution. 
I’d like to express my heartfelt 
gratitude to you, our valued 
shareholders, employees, 
customers, business partners, 
and all stakeholders, for 
standing by our side as we 
work to establish ourselves 
as a world-renowned and 
assertive brand that produces 
high-tech solutions.

Truly yours,

With our Karsan-branded vehicles, we are present in 16 
different countries. On the other hand, we are attempting 
to raise awareness of the Karsan brand.
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Okan BAŞ 
Executive Director and CEO 
 

Ahmet Muzaffer ARPACIOĞLU 
Deputy General Manager of Domestic Market Sales and Foreign Relations

Deniz ÇETİN 
Deputy General Manager of Export

Alper BULUCU 
Deputy General Manager of Industrial Operations

Having completed his undergraduate and graduate degrees from Boğaziçi University, Department of 
Mechanical Engineering and Clemson University (USA), Department of Mechanical Engineering, respectively, 
Mr. Baş embarked upon his professional career at TOFAŞ Bursa Plant in 1987 in Engineering Support 
Department in the capacity of Mechanical Engineer. He held various positions at TOFAŞ until June 2016. Mr. 
Baş served at TOFAŞ Bursa Plant as Workshop Production Supervisor, Engine Production Unit Manager, 
Body Production Unit Manager, Assembly Production Unit Manager and Doblo Product Manager between 
1991 and 2002, and worked at Tofaş Head Office İstanbul between 2002 and 2016 in various positions 
such as After-Sales Director, Mini-Cargo Project Manager, After-Sales Spare Part Director, FIAT Business 
Unit Director, and Aegea Project and Business Development Director.

Ahmet Muzaffer Arpacıoğlu obtained his undergraduate degree from Marmara University, Business 
Administration (English) Department and his MBA degree at Birmingham University. He embarked on his 
career as sales coordinator at Kofisa Foreign Trade Company in 1988. Then, he continued his career at 
Tofaş Oto Ticaret as Regional Manager and Fleet Sales Manager between 1990-1997. Mr. Arpacıoğlu was 
promoted to the role of Assistant General Manager at Karsan Pazarlama, the marketing arm of Karsan, in 
1997. From 2000 to 2009, he was Sales Director at Automobiles Peugeot and from 2009 to 2016, he was 
General Manager at Karland A.Ş. Mr. Arpacıoğlu, who successfully fulfilled the task of Commercial Affairs 
Assistant General Manager at Karsan between February 2017 and December 2020, has been continuing 
to contribute to our Company’s commercial affairs activities as the Deputy General Manager of Domestic 
Market Sales and Foreign Relations since December 2020.

After completing his undergraduate education at Yıldız Technical University, Department of Mechanical 
Engineering, he received MBA education from Goldey-Beacom College in the USA and then completed 
his master’s degree in Automotive Engineering at Boğaziçi University. Starting his professional life as a 
design engineer at Mercedes-Benz Türk A.Ş. in 2004, Mr. Çetin served as a post-sales field coordinator on 
international markets at Temsa Global A.Ş. between 2007-2011, and worked as the Customer Relations 
Regional Manager in General Motors Turkey. Between 2012 and 2020, after serving as the International 
After-Sales Department Manager, Spare Parts Sales Manager and Key Customer Sales Manager at Temsa 
Ulaşım Araçları A.Ş., he worked as the Country Manager responsible for North America operations for the 
last 4 years. Mr. Çetin has been serving as the Deputy General Manager of Export at Karsan as of the end 
of 2020.

Alper Bulucu obtained his undergraduate degree at Mechanical Engineering Department, Istanbul University, 
after which he embarked his career at Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş. as a Welding Engineer at 
Bodywork and Welding Department in 2000, and has held various positions. Between 2000- 2009 he 
served as Welding Engineer, Dye and Assembly Method Responsible, Assembly Factory Production Senior 
Supervisor, and continued his professional life as Program and Business Development Manager between 
2009-2015, when he also directed the Hyundai Motor Company and Renault Trucks programs. Mr. Bulucu 
was promoted to Production Director position in 2015 and has been serving as the Deputy General Manager 
of Industrial Operations since March 2020.

Kenan KAYA 
Deputy General Manager of Financial Affairs and Finance

Kenan Kaya obtained his undergraduate degree from the Public Finance Department, Marmara University. 
He began his career at the Finance Department of Döktaş Dökümcülük A.Ş. in 2006 and continued with 
treasury and reporting responsibilities until 2011. Between 2011-2013, he held several managerial positions, 
and took over responsibilities in Finance, Budget Planning, Reporting and Control at Aktaş Holding. He acted 
as the Country Supervisor and Manager of Financial and Administrative Affairs at Sofiteks between 2013-
2016. After joining Karsan on 1 February 2016, Mr. Kaya took over the positions of Budget Planning and 
Control Manager, and acting Accounting Manager. As of 1 January 2019, Mr. Kaya was appointed as the 
Deputy General Manager of Financial Affairs and Finance.

Senior Management  
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Çağatay UYSAL 
Purchasing Director

Barış HULUSİOĞLU 
R&D Director

Hazım Kubilay DİNÇER 
After Sales and Spare Parts Director

Aslı ÖR 
Marketing and Export Operations Director

Ahmet Özgür DOĞAN 
Supply Chain Director

Çağatay Uysal graduated from the Middle East Technical University, Mechanical Engineering Department 
and embarked on his professional life in 1997 at the Factory Engineering Department of Vestel Manisa 
Production Facility. He served at Vestel until July 1999. and left the company to complete his military service.
Since 2001, after completing his mandatory military service, Mr. Uysal has worked in various positions 
at Karsan Bursa Production Facility including Purchasing Engineer, Direct Purchasing Manager, Project 
Purchasing Manager, Jest Model Vehicles Project Manager, Bus Purchasing and Ordering Manager, 
Infrastructural Purchasing Manager, and since October 2018, he has served as the Director of Purchasing.

Barş Hulusiolu began his career as a Design Engineer at Hexagon Mühendislik in 2006 after completing 
his undergraduate (2001) and master’s degree (2006) at Mechanical Engineering Department of Uludağ 
University. He was a Team Leader at Hexagon Mühendislik from 2009 to 2013, and a Project Leader from 
2013 to 2017. He worked on automotive, defense industry, and marine projects. Mr. Hulusioğlu, who joined 
Karsan Otomotiv in 2017 as the Product and Project Engineering Manager, has been the R&D Director since 
November 2020.

Hazım Kubilay Dinçer, obtaining an undergraduate degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Middle East 
Technical University, embarked on his professional life at Tofaş Bursa Factory, as Mechanical Engineer in the 
Method Bodywork Department in 1992 and held several positions within Tofaş until April 2017. Between 
1992-2006, he served as Workshop Engineer, Product Process Specialist, Body Production Engineering 
Specialist, Industrial Product Specialist, Palio-Albea-Doblò Quality Model Manager, R&D Doblò Platform 
Quality Manager at the Tofaş Bursa Factory. He worked as the After Sales Technical Manager at Tofaş 
Central Office in Istanbul from 2006 to 2017. On April 1, 2017, Mr. Dinçer was appointed as the After Sales 
Services Manager of Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş. He has been serving as the After Sales and 
Spare Parts Director since March 2020.

After completing her education at Marmara University, Department of Business Administration (German), 
Aslı Ör began her professional life at Anadolu Isuzu in 2006 as a Marketing Specialist, and joined Tofaş in 
2007. She worked in various areas of marketing such as CRM, pricing, marketing programs and campaign 
management at Tofaş. She served as “Product Marketing Supervisor and Marketing Business Development 
Manager” between 2014-2017. Ms. Ör, who served as the Marketing Manager at Karsan since 2017, has 
been serving as the Marketing and Export Director since March 2020.

Ahmet Özgür Doğan, who graduated from Industrial Engineering Department, University of Uludağ in 2003, 
worked in project, sales, and quality units in automotive supply companies until 2007.
Between 2007 and 2010, he worked as the MCV Project Spare Parts Export Responsible at the Tofaş Bursa 
Plant. Between 2010 and 2017, he served as a Supply Chain Development Specialist, Supply Chain Design 
Manager, Transport, Capacity and Supplier Development Manager, respectively. He worked as the Supply 
Chain Development Manager from 2017 to 2021. Mr. Doğan has been appointed Supply Chain Director at 
Karsan Automotive, as of October 1, 2021.

ÇAĞATAY UYSAL
Satınalma Direktörü

ODTÜ Makine Mühendisliği Bölümü’nde lisans eğitimini tamamlayan Sayın Uysal, çalışma hayatına 1997 yılında 
Vestel Manisa Üretim Tesislerinde Fabrika Mühendisliği Departmanı’nda Makina Mühendisi olarak başlamış olup 
Vestel bünyesinde 1999 Temmuz ayına kadar çalışmıştır. Askerlik sonrası 2001 yılından bu yana Karsan Bursa 
Üretim Tesislerinde Satınalma Mühendisi, Direkt Satınalma Yöneticisi, Proje Satınalma Yöneticisi, Jest Aracı Proje 
Yöneticisi, Proje Satınalma Müdürü, Otobüs Satınalma ve Siparişleme Müdürü, Altyapı Satınalma Müdürü ve en son 
olarak Ekim 2018’den bu yana Satınalma Direktörü olarak görev yapmaktadır.

HAZIM KUBİLAY DİNÇER
Satış Sonrası ve Yedek Parça Direktörü

Orta Doğu Teknik Üniversitesi Makine Mühendisliği Bölümü’nde lisans eğitimini tamamlayan Sayın Dinçer, çalışma 
hayatına 1992 yılında Tofaş Bursa Fabrikası’nda Metot Karoseri Departmanı’nda Makina Mühendisi olarak başlamış 
olup Tofaş bünyesinde 2017 Nisan ayına kadar farklı görevler üstlenmiştir. 1992-2006 yılları arasında Tofaş Bursa 
Fabrikası’nda Atölye mühendisi, Ürün Proses Uzmanı, Gövde Üretim Mühendislik Uzmanı, Endüstriyel Ürün Uzmanı, 
Palio-Albea-Doblò Kalite Model Yöneticisi, Ar-Ge Doblò Platform Kalite Yöneticisi olarak çalışmış olup 2006-2017 
yılları arasında ise Tofaş Merkez Ofis İstanbul’da Satış Sonrası Teknik Müdürü olarak çalışmıştır. Sayın Dinçer, 
1 Nisan 2017 tarihinde Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş. Satış Sonrası Hizmetler Müdürlüğüne getirilmiştir. 
Mart 2020’den itibaren Satış Sonrası ve Yedek Parça Direktörü olarak görev yapmaktadır.

ÇAĞATAY GÜLERSOYLULAR
Kalite Müdürü

İstanbul Teknik Üniversitesi Makina Mühendisliği Bölümü’nde lisans (2001), Endüstri Ürünleri Tasarımı Bölümü’nde 
yüksek lisans (2003) eğitimini tamamlayan Sayın Gülersoylular çalışma hayatına 2001 yılında Shell & BP JV Depolama 
Tesislerinde Otomasyon Mühendisi olarak başlamıştır. 2005 yılında Karsan Otomotiv’deki kariyerine Kaynak Üretim 
Mühendisi olarak başlayan Sayın Gülersoylular, sırasıyla Kaynak Metot Mühendisi (2007), Montaj Üretim Yöneticisi 
(2009), MB Ürün Ailesi Proje Yöneticisi (2013) ve Kalite Güvence Müdürü (2015) görevlerini yürütmüş olup, 2017 
yılında Kalite Müdürlüğü görevine atanmıştır. 

TAYFUN TÜRKKAN TÜRKMEN
Ar‑Ge Direktörü

ODTÜ Makine Mühendisliği Bölümü’nde lisans eğitimini tamamlayan Sayın Türkmen, çalışma hayatına 1990 yılında 
Tofaş Bursa Fabrikası’nda Metot Karoseri Departmanı’nda Makina Mühendisi olarak başlamış olup; Aralık 1991’e 
kadar Tempra lansman projesi içinde görev almıştır. 1992 yılında Karsan Mühendislik Departmanı’nda ürün ve 
metot mühendisi olarak çalışmaya başlayan ve 1994 yılında Mühendislik Müdürü olarak çalışmalarına devam eden 
Sayın Türkmen; 1992-2005 yılları arasında ürün geliştirme, üretim ve siparişleme faaliyetlerinin etkin olarak 
gerçekleştirilebilmesi için şirketin ihtiyaç duyduğu, altyapı, sistem ve süreç çalışmalarını tasarlamış ve devreye 
almıştır. 2006-2017 yılları arasında ise grup şirketi Hexagon Mühendislik’te görev alan Sayın Türkmen, yeni kurulan 
şirketin yine altyapı çalışmalarına destek olmuş ve Platform Direktörü olarak ürün yönetimini gerçekleştirmiştir. 
Şubat 2017’den itibaren Karsan’da Ar-Ge Direktörlüğü görevini sürdürmektedir.

MÜCAHİT KORKUT
İnsan Kaynakları Müdürü

ODTÜ Makine Mühendisliği Bölümü’nde lisans eğitimini tamamlayan Sayın Korkut, 1989 yılında Çemtaş Çelik Makina 
Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.’de Bakım Yatırım Mühendisi olarak görev yapmıştır. Askerlik sonrası 1991 yılında Tofaş Bursa 
Fabrikası’nda Mühendislik Destek Departmanı’nda Makina Mühendisi olarak başlamış olup, Tofaş bünyesinde 
2018 Temmuz ayına kadar farklı görevler üstlenmiştir. 1991-2002 yılları arasında Tofaş Bursa Fabrikası’nda 
Metot Karoseri mühendisi, Toplam Kalite Sorumlusu, Ürün Sorumlusu, Model Yöneticisi görevlerini yerine getiren 
Sayın Korkut, 2002-2014 yılları arasında ise Satış Sonrası Teknik Eğitim Yöneticisi, Bayi İK Müdürlüğü, Tofaş Akademi 
Müdürlüğü görevlerini üslenmiştir. 2015-2018 yıllar arasında Tofaş İK Alan Müdürü olarak çalışan Mücahit Korkut, 
3 Temmuz 2018 tarihinden bugüne kadar da Karsan’da İnsan Kaynakları Müdürlüğü görevini sürdürmektedir.
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şirketin yine altyapı çalışmalarına destek olmuş ve Platform Direktörü olarak ürün yönetimini gerçekleştirmiştir. 
Şubat 2017’den itibaren Karsan’da Ar-Ge Direktörlüğü görevini sürdürmektedir.

MÜCAHİT KORKUT
İnsan Kaynakları Müdürü

ODTÜ Makine Mühendisliği Bölümü’nde lisans eğitimini tamamlayan Sayın Korkut, 1989 yılında Çemtaş Çelik Makina 
Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş.’de Bakım Yatırım Mühendisi olarak görev yapmıştır. Askerlik sonrası 1991 yılında Tofaş Bursa 
Fabrikası’nda Mühendislik Destek Departmanı’nda Makina Mühendisi olarak başlamış olup, Tofaş bünyesinde 
2018 Temmuz ayına kadar farklı görevler üstlenmiştir. 1991-2002 yılları arasında Tofaş Bursa Fabrikası’nda 
Metot Karoseri mühendisi, Toplam Kalite Sorumlusu, Ürün Sorumlusu, Model Yöneticisi görevlerini yerine getiren 
Sayın Korkut, 2002-2014 yılları arasında ise Satış Sonrası Teknik Eğitim Yöneticisi, Bayi İK Müdürlüğü, Tofaş Akademi 
Müdürlüğü görevlerini üslenmiştir. 2015-2018 yıllar arasında Tofaş İK Alan Müdürü olarak çalışan Mücahit Korkut, 
3 Temmuz 2018 tarihinden bugüne kadar da Karsan’da İnsan Kaynakları Müdürlüğü görevini sürdürmektedir.

17KARSAN Faaliyet Raporu 2019
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Our People
Our own people, our big family stands 
behind the brand of Karsan.
Our relationships with our colleagues 
and all of our stakeholders are 
determined by the value we place 
on people and human dignity. Each 
of us works professionally, taking 
responsibility, developing our own 
expertise and business, utilizing cutting- 
edge technology and working methods, 
and inspiring others through our actions.

Our Reputation
We strive to be the best by employing 
cutting-edge working methods and 
cutting-edge technology in our respective 
fields of expertise.
Our reputation is built on our commitment 
to quality, our approach to customers, 
and the hundreds of behaviors we all 
exhibit on a daily basis. In our words 
and actions, we never abandon our 
moral values, consistency, dependability, 
transparency, and honesty.

Our Quality
Our quality is supported by high- 
performance, innovative, flexible, and 
long-lasting products.
We strive for the highest level of 
quality in everything we do, and we are 
always striving for improvement. While 
protecting our quality, we are always 
environmentally conscious and strive to 
reduce our carbon footprint and provide 
innovative solutions to environmental 
issues.

Our Customers
Our customers’ satisfaction is at the 
heart of our business.
Every day, we take responsibility for 
regaining their trust and making their 
lives easier.

Being one step ahead in the 
future of mobility.

To provide creative, 
sustainable and inspiring 
solutions and suggestions to 
customer needs in the global 
land transportation market.

Vision

Mission

Our Values

Annual Report 2021
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Strategic 
Partnerships 
• Menarinibus 
• BMW

Contract-Based 
Production 
• Tractor Cabs 
• Renault

Integrated 
Industrial 
Solutions 
 
• Garaj Management 
• MaaS 

Original Eqipment Manufacturer(OEM)

Karsan’s business 
model, which has a 
unique position in the 
Turkish automotive 
industry, is comprised 
of three major areas of 
activity.

The first of these is the development, 
production, marketing, sale, and 
after- sales services of Karsan 
branded vehicles for domestic and 
international markets as the “Original 
Equipment Manufacturer (OEM).”
Within the scope of “Strategic 
Partnerships and Contract-Based 
Production” activity, second area is 
to continue production, marketing, 
sales, after-sales and spare parts 
activities for brands that aim to 

expand their activities in the 
region by establishing strategic 
partnerships.
Another area of activity is 
“Integrated Services,” and 
Karsan provides turnkey 
transportation solutions 
that include everything from 
determining the transportation 
need in this area to executing the 
product and service solution to 
be developed.

Developing and growing 
relentlessly with strong partners

The Karsan’s Business Model

Strategic 
Partnerships  
and Contract-
Based Production
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Brands of Karsan
The story of Karsan continues today, with its innovative 
product solutions developed to pass a better world on for 
future generations, by moving cities toward the future, 
societies toward a greener world, businesses toward 
profitability and business partners toward success all over 
the world.

Annual Report 2021
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The e-ATA, e-JEST, e-ATAK, and Autonomous e- ATAK 
vehicles, combined with Karsan’s entrepreneurial spirit’s 
more than 50 years of experience, provide fully electric, 

innovative, and inspiring solutions. Furthermore, Karsan 
continues to provide high-quality services under its own 

brand, with the creators of its class, the Karsan Jest minibus, 
the Atak midibus, and the Star vehicles.
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The Automotive Industry and 
Position of Karsan in the Industry
While the European automotive market sales increased 
by 0.3 % on a unit basis in 2021, the Turkish automotive 
market contracted by 3 %.

European city bus 
market sales increased 
by 1% in 2021. Electric 
vehicles, on the other 
hand, grew by 48.5%, 
increasing their share in 
the total from 15% 
to 22%.

(1) EU28. Source: OICA.
(2) EU28 + EFTA. Source: ACEA.
(3) Heavy vehicles (3.5 tons and above). Source: Chatrou CME Solutions
(4) Excluding trolley buses
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(1) Source: Automotive Manufacturers Association (OSD).
(2) Source: Automotive Manufacturers Association (OSD).
(3) Karsan’s data

Commercial vehicle sales 
increased by 13.3 % and 
minibus sales by 4.8 % in 
the Turkish automotive 
market. Despite this, the 
13+1 and 14+1 minibus 
segments continued to 
contract by 47 %.
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Automotive Industry and  
Position of Karsan in the Industry

Product Type        2021 Sales (Unit)     2020 Sales (Unit)            Change Ratio (%)
Karsan                 593               610          (3)

    Jest                348               563        (38)

    Atak                 217                 47         362

    Star       18                   0         100

    Menarinibus EV                10                   0         100

Menarinibus     91               249         (63)

Hyundai H350             2,758             2,227            24

TOTAL              3,442            3,086            12

Karsan’s Sales Distribution by Brands 2020

Karsan’s Sales Distribution by Brands2021
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%3.0
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Product Type                          (Thousand TL)                         (Thousand TL)      Change Ratio (%) 
Karsan                        635,522                     358,393           77

    Jest                       237,376                    240,586           (1)

    Atak                       340,897                      115,654          195

    Star                            18,783                         2,153          772

    Menarinibus EV                       38,466                                -          100

Menarinibus                 127,717                     406,696          (69)

Hyundai H350 (*)         839,634                           53,875            56

Diğer (**)           497,368                        312,114            59

TOTAL          2,100,240                   1,615,953            30

                  2021 Sales Revenue              2020 Sales Revenue        

(*) The reimbursement amount to which our Company is entitled as part of the HMC H350 project, as well as the gross profit from 
financial sector activities, are included in the Hyundai H350 revenue.
(**) Other items include spare part and material sales, industrial services such as cataphoresis coating, part pressing, painting, and 
cabin manufacturing provided to the automotive basic and sub-industry, and sales of discontinued products.

Karsan’s Sales Revenue – Distribution by Brands 2020

Karsan’s Sales Revenue – Distribution by Brands 2021

Karsan

Menarinibus

Hyundai H350

Other

Jest

Atak

Star

Menarinibus EV

%37.3

%53.6

%3.0 

%40.0(*)

%6.1%23.7(**)

%30.2

%67.1
%32.3

%0.6 

%33.3(*)

%25.2

%19.31(**)

%22.2

%6.1



36

To leave a livable green world for future 
generations, we are proud to be the first on 
the roads, always with our Karsan electric 
vehicles that have traveled millions of 
kilometers.

Annual Report 2021
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2021 Activities

Karsan, the first and only brand in Europe to 
offer 100% electric vehicles ranging in size from 
6 meters to 18 meters with the e-ATA line-up 
launched in September, has begun to organize 
roadshow events in Europe with its new 100 % 
electric city bus e-ATA in 10, 12,
and 18 meter lengths. Karsan’s 3 pieces 
12-meter long class e-ATAs have been inspected 
and tested by private and public transport 
companies in different cities of Romania, France 
and Italy. The roadshow events of e-ATA, which 
started in October and attracted great interest, 
were completed in Romania and continue in the 
cities of France and Italy.
The eco-friendly e-ATA, which constitutes the 
largest bus model family in Karsan’s electric 
product range, continued its

 promotional tour, which started with the Gala 
Tranzit event in Cluj, and continued with in the 
Romanian cities of Jimbolia, Bralia, Bucharest, 
Slobozia and other cities. Karsan, which 
has won the tender for 100% electric public 
transportation vehicles opened by the Romanian 
Ministry of Regional Development and Public 
Administration, and signed the biggest electric 
bus export contract in Turkey, took part in 
the Romania tour in Timișoara, where it will 
deliver 44 e-ATAs, Braşov, where it will deliver 
12 e-ATAs, and Slatina, where 10 e-ATAs will 
be delivered. The 12- meter e-ATA in France, 
on the other hand, will continue its roadshow 
in Luxembourg and again in France after the 
promotional activities in Aigrefeuille-sur-Maine. 
The journey of e-ATA to Italy started with the 
ASSTRA National Conference held in Rome.

At the Roadshow Event, Karsan e-ATA Meets with European 
Operators!

Karsan’s 100% Electric Bus is on a Tour Across Europe!

Karsan’s 100% Electric Bus is on 
a Tour Across Europe!

Annual Report 2021
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Karsan, one of the leading companies 
in the Turkish automotive industry, is 
receiving awards for its achievements 
in production and exports.
Karsan was selected for an award 
as part of the Turkish Confederation 
of Employer Associations (TİSK) 
award program, which has featured a 
different theme each year since 2014 in 
order to raise awareness of corporate 
social responsibility. In addition, the 
Karsan Positive & Communication 
Portal project received an award in the 
category of Business, Business Culture, and 
Workforce Transformation in the “Common 
Futures” Award program, which was held this 
year with the main theme of “The Future of Our 
Business.”

Milestones of the Karsan Positive movement…
In 2017, Karsan established the “Karsan 
Positive” movement, which includes the 
internal change, transformation, and renewal 
process. Aiming for positivity in both culture 
and business results, the company has created 
corporate e- mail addresses for all blue-collar 
employees in order to make communication 
more transparent within the scope of this 
understanding.
Furthermore, the company commissioned the 
“Positive Career and Leadership for Career 
Opportunities” process and completed all of 
the managerial elections and a 30 % rotation 
within this scope. Karsan also signed the 
“Women’s Empowerment Principles (WEPs)” 
in order to contribute to gender equality by 
launching

the positive equality project into action in 
collaboration with the ILO.
Karsan also commissioned the positive 
internship program in which it established the 
electric vehicles laboratory in collaboration 
with the Ministry of Education in order to 
contribute to the preparation of the next 
generation for business life by activating the 
“Gene Positive Orientation” program for those 
who have just started working at Karsan. 
Karsan demonstrates its commitment to the 
principle of positivity in social responsibility 
projects with its “Cafe Positive” project. More 
than 50 applications have been transferred 
to the digital environment via Karsan Positive 
Communication Portal in order to disseminate 
the corporate culture and the sustainability of 
the processes. Karsan’s employees, who can 
access personal and corporate information 
whenever and wherever they want, increased 
their satisfaction rate to 94%.

Karsan’s Positive & Communication Portal project  
won an award!

Karsan Was Awarded with its 
“Business Culture” That Shapes Its 
Achievements at Home and Abroad!

Karsan Was Awarded with its “Business 
Culture” That Shapes Its Achievements at 

Home and Abroad!
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Karsan, with its electrical product line-up 
ranging from 6 m to 18 m long, continues to 
be the choice of countries for modern public 
transportation solutions that meet the mobility 
needs of the era. Karsan, which had previously 
delivered electric vehicles to many cities in 
Romania and signed high-volume contracts, 
won the Deva electric vehicle tender. It is 
planned to present 22 units of e-JESTs and 

4 units of e-ATAKs, as agreed upon in the 
tender, to the city in the second half of 2022 
as Deva Municipality’s first electric vehicles. 
Karsan, which has delivered electric vehicles 
to many cities in Romania and signed large-
volume contracts, recently increased its sales 
of electric vehicles throughout the country to 
158 units following its new tender.

26 Units of Electric Vehicles from Karsan to Deva City, 
Romania!

Karsan Wins Romania’s Deva 
Municipality Electric Tender!

2021 Activities

Annual Report 2021

Karsan Wins Romania’s Deva Municipality Electric Tender!
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Karsan, which is the only independent multi-
brand vehicle manufacturer in Turkey, sent the 
Autonomous e-Atak, the first Level 4 autonomous 
bus developed with the USA-based Turkish 
technology company ADASTEC and introduced to 
the market as the first mass-production driverless 
autonomous vehicle in Europe and America, to 
Michigan State University (MSU), one of the leading 
universities in the USA.
Autonomous e-ATAK, which is preferred as an 
important step in the smart mobility ecosystem 
commissioned within the scope of the university, 
will be used for the transportation of Michigan State 
University faculty members, students and visitors.
On the subject, Karsan CEO Okan Baş stated, “As 
Karsan, we are shaping the future of transportation 
with our innovative products. We are proud that 
our Autonomous e-ATAK vehicle will be used on the 
enormous campus of Michigan State University, one 
of the most respected universities in the USA, where 
the pulse of the automotive and technology world 
beats, where real traffic conditions are located.”
MSU faculty, university staff, students and visitors 
will be transported by Autonomous e-ATAK. 
Autonomous e-ATAK will work without ceasing 
on a 4 km route within the university and will also 
be used for data collection and research for the 
development of electric and autonomous vehicles 
for the university.

Michigan State University unveiled Autonomous 
e-ATAK
Decorated with the white Spartan logo, the mascot 
of the university, Karsan Autonomous e-Atak was 
introduced at the press conference on November 
5. In addition to the introduction, a test drive event 
was also held with participation of press.
 Many Karsan Autonomous e-Atak innovations, 

such as driverless sensor technology that detects 
the environment and pedestrians, advanced radar 
technology, and thermal imaging cameras, were 
well received by students. It was stated that the 
Autonomous e-ATAK, which will travel at a speed 
of 25 kilometres per hour during the test phase, 
which will include 630 travels will increase to 40 
kilometres per hour after the tests are completed in 
the spring semester of 2022.
Dr. Ali Ufuk Peker, CEO of ADASTEC, also 
participated in the test drive. Peker stated that 
the data gathered during the test drives will 
aid in performing the best driving adjustments 
with Autonomous e-ATAK. In his speech at the 
demonstration and test event in the United States, 
Michigan State University President Samuel 
Stanley Jr. stated, “Mobility is one of MSU’s main 
focuses. In this regard, we continue to seek 
collaborations that will accelerate our research 
and development studies and improve the 
mobility environment not only on our campus but 
also in our state and country,” and emphasized 
Autonomous e-ATAK’s contribution to this 
development.

Karsan Autonomous e-ATAK will transport the students and 
visitors of Michigan State University, a respectable university!

U.S. expansion of Karsan continues 
with Autonomous e-ATAK

U.S. expansion of Karsan continues with  
Autonomous e-ATAK!
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Karsan continues to be the environmentalist 
choice of cities with its fully electric product 
range. The historical narrow streets of Europe 
are attaining an eco-friendly transportation 
solution with e-JEST, which has proven 
itself with its high maneuverability and 
unexampled passenger comfort. e-JEST, 
which was announced by the brand with 
the launch of e-ATA and changed its 
name within the scope of “Karsan Electric 
Evolution”, its new journey in electric public 
transportation solutions, began to serve in 
the Split Municipality of Croatia. Standing out 
with unique dimensions in the 6-meter length 

class, high capability and range performance, 
e-Jest also became the first fully electric 
Karsan model to enter service in Croatia. “Our 
Karsan electric vehicles continue to travel in 
more than 30 cities across Europe,” said Deniz 
Çetin, Deputy General Manager of Karsan 
Exports and continued “Being the leader of 
its segment in the market in 2020, e-JEST 
continues to be admired for its design and 
performance day by day. So in this context, 
we are extremely happy that we will be 
providing services to the coasts of the Adriatic 
with our e-JEST, which we delivered in Split, 
the second- largest city of Croatia.”

The Historical Streets of Croatia are Electrified with e-Jest!

The Historical Streets of Croatia  
are Electrified with e-Jest!

Annual Report 2021
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The Historical Streets of Croatia are Electrified with e-Jest!
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Karsan delivered 8-meter length class diesel 
Atak buses to the municipality as part of the 
bus fleet renewal works commissioned by 
Ankara Metropolitan Municipality to improve 
city transportation quality. In the agreement 
made for a total of 50 units of 8- meter long 
buses, Karsan delivered all of the Atak buses 
and offered them for the service of the people 
of Ankara. Diesel Ataks with low-floor and 
disabled access ramps have started their 
services at many points of the city, especially 
the ring services for the metro and the narrow 
streets of Ankara. Ankara Metropolitan 
Municipality Mayor Mansur Yavaş, EGO 
General Manager Nihat Alkaş, EGO Deputy 
General Manager Zafer Tekbudak,

 EGO Bus Operations Department Head 
Yahya Şanlıer attended the delivery ceremony 
held on the subject. Evaluating the issue, 
Karsan Domestic Market Sales and Foreign 
Relations Deputy General Manager Muzaffer 
Arpacıoğlu made statements, “We contribute 
to urban transportation with our products 
that make life easier in the global arena, 
particularly in Europe and throughout our 
country. Our 8-meter class diesel Atak 
buses provide comfort and convenience in 
public transportation, as well as technology 
and high-performance engine features, 
manoeuvrability, a low-floor structure 
that makes getting on and off easier, eco- 
friendliness with low emission values, and 
comfort features.”

50 Diesel Atak Buses from Karsan to Ankara Metropolitan 
Municipality!

Buses of Ankara Metropolitan 
Municipality Are Renewed with  
Karsan Atak!

Buses of Ankara Metropolitan Municipality Are Renewed with Karsan Atak!
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Karsan won the tender for 100% electric 
public transportation opened by the Romanian 
Ministry of Regional Development and Public 
Administration, and concluded an agreement 
for the Turkish Automotive industry’s largest 
electric bus export up till today. As a result 
of the tender, signatures were made for the 
public transportation system export worth 35 
million euros in two separate ceremonies held in 
Romania, both attended by Karsan CEO Okan 
Baş.
Karsan won both tenders with its 100% electric 
18-meter-long bus. Karsan, a market leader in 
high-tech products, will deliver a total of 56 units 
of electric buses under the terms of the tender, 
44 units to Timișoara Municipality and 12 units to 
Braşov Municipality.
Furthermore, it will establish a total of 75 
charging stations, 19 of which will be quick 

charging, in the region, and will provide a 
comprehensive electric public transportation 
system service by undertaking all the 
maintenance and garage operation of the 
vehicles for 6 years.
Delivering a speech at the signing ceremonies 
held within the scope of the two tenders 
awarded, Karsan CEO Okan Baş said, “The future 
of transportation lies in electric and driverless 
public transportation vehicles. Since 2018, we 
have been introducing our 100% electric models 
with the roads one after the other. While e-ATAK 
and e-JEST continue to be the zero-emission 
preferences of Europe, they have also covered 
more than 1 million kilometres and provided us 
with a significant experience. Today, our electric 
buses serve in many countries of the world, from 
Romania, France, Germany, Portugal and even 
Mexico.”

Giant ‘Electric’ Export of 35 Million Euros from Karsan to 
Romania!

Karsan Has Won Turkey’s Largest Electric 
Public Transport System Agreement 
Worth 35 Million Euros!

Annual Report 2021
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Karsan Has Won Turkey’s Largest Electric Public Transport System 
Agreement Worthing 35 Million Euros!
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Europe’s eco-friendly choice with its electric 
transport solutions, Turkish producer Karsan 
participated in an important testing event in 
Spain with e-Atak, the company’s 100% electric 
bus in the 8-meter segment. The scope of the test 
included studies such as determining charging 
station points on long-distance journeys and 
determining the needs that may arise along 
the route. Electric Atak performed in a pilot 
test drive and roadshow event on a specially 
created 600-km route between Barcelona and 
Madrid. The “Raption 50” model quick-charging 
devices, manufactured and launched by Circontrol 
and have since entered in use in all corners of 
the world with over 3500 units, were used to 
recharge Karsan’s Atak Electric. With a range of 
300 km and a passenger capacity of 52, Karsan’s 

e-Atak completed this 14-hour journey quietly 
with its 220 kWh engine, with no interruptions 
other than planned breaks except for 3 stops. 
Furthermore, e-Atak became the first electric 
bus to be driven between Barcelona and Madrid, 
despite its classification as an urban bus, and it 
had also importance in terms of showing that 
an electric city bus can reach its destination 
on long trips with having good planning. The 
event also demonstrated that instead of urban 
buses powered by diesel engines, which cover 
about 200 to 250 km daily with approximately 
56 metric tons of CO2 emission per year, using 
electric buses is crucially important both in terms 
of the zero-emission objective and passenger 
transportation activities in Europe.

Karsan e-Atak Covered 600 km Intercity Distance in Spain!

Karsan e-Atak Covered 600 km 
Intercity Distance in Spain!

Karsan e-Atak Covered 600 KM Intercity Distance in Spain!
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As Turkey’s only independent multi-brand 
vehicle manufacturer, Karsan produces world-
renowned high-tech public transportation 
vehicles as well as models from the brands with 
which it collaborates. In line with this strategy, 
Karsan drew up a 5-year agreement with Oyak 
Renault for the production of the current Megane 
Sedan, effective from the end of 2022. With 
the cooperation between the two companies, 

an annual production volume of 55,000 units 
is expected. Turkish automotive manufacturer 
Karsan will make an investment of 210 million TL 
on behalf of Oyak Renault for the production of 
the Megane Sedan and will generate an income 
per vehicle produced. Another contribution 
of this agreement will be the employment of 
approximately 800 new employees.

Karsan Plans to Employ 800 New Employees within the 
scope of Renault Megane Sedan Production!

Continuing its Electric and Autonomous 
Investments, Karsan Strengthens Its 
Production Capacity with Oyak Renault 
Collaboration!

Annual Report 2021

2021 Activities

Continuing its Electric and Autonomous Investments, Karsan Strengthens Its Production Capacity with 
Oyak Renault Collaboration!
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Karsan was recognized for its contribution to 
the Turkish automotive industry’s exports by 
providing modern transportation solutions 
to cities through its public transportation. 
Karsan received the Gold Export Award as 
part of the award granted by the Uludağ 
Automotive Industry Exporters’ Association 
(OIB) to OIB member companies that helped 
the automotive industry become the export 
champion in 2020. Karsan CEO Okan Baş, who 
received the award from OIB Board Member 
Cenk Uğur Sermet on behalf of Karsan, 
which is among the automotive companies 

that exported the most in 2020, remarked, 
“In 2020 when production and exports were 
halted due to the pandemic, we focused our 
attention on the export of high- tech electric 
vehicles. We responded to domestic market 
demands in addition to exporting combustion 
vehicles. During this period, on the one hand, 
our electric product range is running non-stop 
in many parts of Europe, on the other hand, 
our main focus is electric buses, and finally, 
we accelerated our work on our first mass 
production level 4 autonomous vehicle in 
Europe and America.”

Karsan was Awarded OIB’s 2020 Gold Export Award!

Karsan Received the Outstanding 
Export Success!

Karsan Received the Outstanding Export Success!



48

Karsan’s 100% electric model e-Jest became 
the market leader in Europe by achieving a 
43% market share on its own segment in 
2020. First introduced to the European market 
and achieving a 24% market share in its own 
segment in 2019, now e-Jest’s market share 
has reached 43% by 2020.
According to the 2020 European Minibus 
and Bus Market Report published by Wim 
Chatrou-CME Solutions, e-JEST surpassed 
its competitors in the 3.5-6 tons electric 
minibus class 
and managed 
to become 
the leader of 
the European 
market.
With the 
experience 
of Karsan 
engineers and 
electric batteries 
equipped with 
BMW technology, 
e-JEST stands 
out among 
competitors in 
many European 
countries, 
including 
Germany, 
Switzerland, 
Portugal, Italy, 
and Spain, with a 

focus  on Romania and France.
 Karsan CEO Okan Baş stated that they 
conducted a comprehensive study from 
field research to battery technologies while 
producing the new generation zero- emission 
public transportation vehicles required in the 
European market, and that the results of these 
studies combine Karsan’s experience in the 
minibus field with technology, and that they 
will continue to work on this.

Turkish automotive producer Karsan Became the Market 
Leader of Electric Minibuses in Europe!

Karsan e-JEST Leads the European 
Market!
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In addition to its nearly 200 electric vehicles 
serving in 30 European cities, Karsan was the 
winner of the tender for electric buses recently 
held in Weilheim, Germany for eco-friendlier 
and sustainable transportation. Karsan, 
which participated in the tender through its 
German dealer Quantron AG, not only placed 
the best bid, but also successfully met the 
tender standards for the electric buses to be 
used in the city including the requirement of 

a daily range of at least 250 km per bus, and 
the criteria regarding storage and charging. In 
accordance with the “2022 City Bus Concept” 
studies of the Wilhelm Municipality, Karsan, 
which meets the vehicle specifications in the 
tender criteria in the best way and offers the 
best bid, will deliver 5 units of 100% electric- 
powered e-ATAK buses to the city in the last 
quarter of the year.

Karsan to Deliver 5 Unit e-Atak Electric Buses to Weilheim, 
Germany

Germany’s Transportation Network 
Continues to be Electrified with Karsan!

Germany’s Transportation Network Continues to be Electrified with Karsan!
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Within the scope of the project, Karsan 
cooperated with Istanbul Technical University 
(ITU), one of the most respected educational 
institutions in Turkey, and agreed to use the 
Autonomous e-Atak in the R&D activities of the 
university. With this cooperation, it is aimed to 
develop new projects with high commercial 
potential across the world in the field of 
driverless vehicle technologies by the Turkish 
engineers of the future. Autonomous e-Atak, 
developed on the 8- meter-long class e-Atak 
model, with the work carried out by the Karsan 
R&D team and the autonomous technology 
partner ADASTEC, will be delivered to the 
university in the second half of the year.
At the signing ceremony held for the project, 

Okan Baş, CEO of Karsan, met Prof. Dr. İsmail 
Koyuncu, ITU’s Rector and Dr. Ali Ufuk Peker, 
CEO of ADASTEC, and remarked: “With its 
pioneering role, Karsan began working to 
produce the public transportation vehicles of the 
future. Accordingly, at the beginning of the year, 
we introduced Autonomous Atak Electric, the 
first mass-manufactured Level-4 driverless bus 
in Europe and America. We are happy to respond 
to the request of ITU, one of the most respected 
educational institutions in Turkey after receiving 
the order from Romania. In this context, we aim 
to deliver Autonomous e-ATAK to the 2021-2022 
academic year. It is a point of honour for us and 
our country that our driverless 8-meter long bus 
will be utulized within the scope of R&D activities 
of ITU.”

Karsan’s Level 4 Driverless Bus, Autonomous e-Atak, 
developed in cooperation with ADASTEC, will be used at ITU!

Karsan’s Level 4 Driverless Bus,  
Autonomous e-Atak, developed in  
cooperation with ADASTEC,  
will be used at ITU!
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Karsan’s Level 4 Driverless Bus, Autonomous e-Atak, developed in cooperation with ADASTEC, will be 
used at ITU
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Karsan won the tender for 73 vehicles opened 
by Mersin Metropolitan Municipality to ease 
urban transportation burden and use eco-
friendlier buses, and with the increase in 
business, within the scope of the tender for 
87 units, the first 30 units of CNG (natural 
gas) fueled Menarinibus Citymood were 
delivered. Karsan plans to deliver 43 more in 
May and 14 more CNG-powered Menarinibus 
Citymoods with lengths ranging from 12 to 18 
meters in September.
While conducting the first test drive, Mersin 
Metropolitan Municipality Mayor Vahap Seçer 
stated that the Menarinibus Citymoods, 

which were delivered with the representative 
key, will be driven predominantly by female 
drivers.
Delivering a speech at the ceremony, Muzaffer 
Arpacıoğlu, Karsan Deputy General Manager 
of Commercial Affairs emphasized that they 
have equipped their Menarinibus vehicles with 
a high-tech camera and recording systems, 
collision sensors, and high-capacity driver and
passenger air conditioners with fresh air 
intake, the need for which has become more 
apparent, particularly during the pandemic 
period.

Delivery of 30 units of CNG Menarinibus Citymood from 
Karsan to Mersin!

Delivery of 30 units of CNG Menarinibus 
Citymood from Karsan to Mersin!

Delivery of 30 units of CNG Menarinibus Citymood from Karsan to Mersin!
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Karsan, which has an indelible impression 
thanks to its deliveries to Romania recently 
and delivering its electric vehicles to the 
city of Sucaeva, became the sole winner of 
the tender for electric public transportation 
vehicle opened for the city of Mangalia. In this 
context, Karsan will provide 10 e-ATAK buses 
to the use of the city in the second half of the 
year, and after this delivery, the number of 
Karsan’s vehicles in the Romanian market 
will increase to 120. Karsan CEO Okan Baş 

commented on the issue saying, “While Karsan 
continues to support the export efforts of the 
automotive industry with its product range, it 
also contributes to the vision of our country by 
becoming a global player for electric vehicles. 
Today, we have become an important part of 
the transformation with our electric products 
in public transportation in various European 
countries. We are also pleased to continue our 
growth in the field of electric vehicles in the 
Romanian market.”

Karsan Awarded Mangalia City’s Electric Bus Tender!

Karsan’s Electric Buses Continue to be 
Romania’s Number One Choice!
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Karsan’s Electric Buses Continue to be Romania’s Number One Choice!
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With its product range, Karsan continues to 
be a role model in global city transportation. 
Karsan signed a memorandum for cooperation 
with the Kharkiv City Council after participating 
in the International Mintrans Forum on the 
development of transportation infrastructures 
in Kharkiv, Ukraine, using the Jest and Atak 
models.
Karsan will contribute its knowledge and 
product range to the strengthening of Kharkiv’s 

transportation infrastructure as part of the 
city’s modernization, and will have a say in the 
city’s public transportation investment. Sharing 
his thoughts after memorandum signing, Deputy 
Mayor of Kharkiv Igor Terekhov remarked that 
500 vehicles are planned to be purchased within 
the scope of the investment, the first 150 units 
with a length of 6 and 8 meter vehicles will 
be purchased this year, and that they want to 
cooperate with Karsan in this regard.

Karsan Receives Orders from Ukraine for 150 Jest and Atak Buses!

Memorandum on Cooperation Signed 
between Karsan and Kharkiv City 
Council

Memorandum on Cooperation Signed between Karsan and Kharkiv City Council!
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Karsan unveiled Autonomous e-ATAK, the 
first Level 4 autonomous bus in America 
and Europe, ready for real road conditions. 
Autonomous e-ATAK, which can detect its 
surroundings without the assistance of human 
driver, is equipped with many LiDAR sensors 
located in different parts of the vehicle. 
In this project, Karsan R&D collaborated 

with another Turkish technology company 
ADASTEC to integrate Level 4 autonomous 
software into the electrical- electronic 
architecture and electric vehicle software of 
e-ATAK. Furthermore, Autonomous e-ATAK 
includes many innovative technologies such 
as advanced radar technology on the front, 
high resolution image processing with RGB 

Autonomous Atak Electric, Europe’s and USA’s first serial- 
produced self-driving bus, is ready to hit the roads!

Autonomous Atak Electric, Europe’s 
and USA’s First Serial-Produced Self- 
Driving Bus, Is Ready to Hit the Roads!
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Autonomous Atak Electric, Europe’s and USA’s First Serial-Produced Self-Driving Bus, Is Ready to Hit the 
Roads



55

cameras, and extra perimeter security thanks 
to thermal cameras. Autonomous e- ATAK, 
which can provide all of these technologies 
as Level 4 Autonomous, can travel without 
a human driver on a predetermined route. 
Without a driver, the vehicle can travel 
autonomously at a speed of 50 km/h in 
all weather conditions, day or night, and 
performs all of the operations performed 
by a bus driver, such as pulling into stops 
on the route, managing the getting on/off 
processes, and providing management and 
administration at intersections, crossings, and 
traffic lights.
Emphasizing that the autonomous Atak 
Electric offers Level 4 autonomy thanks to 
its drive-by-wire equipment and dedicated 
software that processes and directs 
information in technological sensors, Kansan 
CEO Okan Baş continued, “We bring to the 
market a truly autonomous public transport 
vehicle equipped with a central management 
system that enables constant communication 
with the vehicles allowing for human 
intervention when necessary and enabling 
data exchange with third-party software.

“In public transportation, autonomous 
transformation will be faster.”
Karsan CEO Okan Baş continued his remarks 
as follows: “As Karsan, we shared with you all 
of developments we have made in this field 
over the last 3 years.
Because it was very critical for our country 
that a Turkish brand produced 100% electric 

vehicles and that these vehicles grow 
assertively on the play zone of the global 
giants. We sold nearly 200 units of our electric 
models, e-JEST and e-ATAK, in 30 different 
European cities in less than two years. It is 
now the turn of Autonomous e- ATAK. There 
is an important reason why we have chosen 
autonomy as the primary route as a company 
that manufactures public transportation 
vehicles. Unlike passenger vehicles, public 
transportation vehicles follow predetermined 
routes. As a result, its “autonomous 
transformation” for public transportation will 
be much faster than for passenger cars. We 
believe that autonomous public transportation 
will take the lead in 15-20 years.”
Karsan CEO Okan Baş stated that the 
vehicle will be used on a real-world route at 
a university in Michigan, USA and that there 
is no other brand in America or Europe that 
produces Level 4 autonomous vehicles with 
the lengths and capabilities of Autonomous
e-ATAK.
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President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan closely 
examined and tested the “Autonomous 
e-ATAK”, the first 100% electrically powered 
and driverless bus in Europe and America, 
which was developed co-jointly with ADASTEC 
under the leadership of Karsan, ready for use in 
real road conditions.
President Erdogan attended the event and 
received extensive information about the 
Karsan Autonomous e-ATAK, the first Level 
4 driverless and electric bus in Europe and 
America in its segment, before boarding the 

autonomous bus with an empty driver’s seat 
and travelling inside the Complex with his 
entourage.
Karsan CEO Okan Baş expressed that Karsan 
have been exporting e-JEST and e-ATAK all 
over the world from Europe to America for 
a long time, but that the future lies also in 
autonomous vehicle technologies, which is 
the next level, and that they are pleased that 
Karsan Autonomous e-ATAK will represent 
pioneering innovation in the 8-meter segment.

President Erdoğan Becomes the First Passenger of Karsan 
Autonomous Atak Electric, the First Serial-Produced Autonomous 
Electric Bus in Europe and the USA Produced by Turkish Engineers!

Karsan Autonomous Atak Electric, the 
First Serial-Produced Autonomous 
Electric Bus in Europe and the USA, Is 
at Presidential Complex!
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Karsan Autonomous Atak Electric, the First Serial-Produced Autonomous Electric Bus in Europe  
and the USA, Is at Presidential Complex!
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Offering modern solutions that can be adapted 
to any city with its innovative vehicles for public 
transportation systems, Karsan continues to 
contribute to the transportation of European 
cities with its electrical product range. Karsan, 
which won the electric minibus tender for the 
Romanian city of Suceava last year, provided 
the city with t10 e-JEST vehicles in this context.
Karsan, which operates in various cities 
throughout Romania and currently has 5 e-JEST 
vehicles in service in Suceava, has increased 

its fleet to 15. Karsan has received orders for 
7 e-JESTs, which are optionally included in the 
tender contract, in addition to the 10 e-JESTs 
that have begun to serve.
These vehicles will be delivered to the city 
municipality by Karsan in the first quarter of 
2021.
The delivery will be carried out by Karsan’s 
Romanian distributor Anadolu Automobil Rom, 
and the e-Jest buses will start serving in the 
Romanian municipality of Suceava.

10 Karsan e-JEST Buses Now Started Service in Suceava!

Karsan Electric Buses Continue to 
Electrify Romania!

Karsan Electric Buses Continue to Electrify Romania!
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Karsan, the Turkish automotive producer, which 
is Europe’s environmentally friendly choice 
with its 100% electric vehicles, has delivered 
its e-ATAK buses to Belgium for use for the 
first time. Two e-ATAKs were delivered to the 
transportation giant Keolis in the city of Ghent 
for the transportation of employees of the 
Zuiderpoort business center, which is a large 
office complex in the city.Zuiderpoort has taken 
an important step toward reducing its ecological 
footprint in transportation by replacing diesel 
buses with Karsan e-ATAK. The 8-meter e-ATAK 

buses, which are used for the transportation of 
Zuiderpoort employees to the Ghent - Saint Pierre 
station, protect the environment with their zero-
emission silent operation, 52 seat capacity and 
UFR platform, while also providing convenience 
for the transportation of employees with reduced 
mobility. The e- ATAK, which will serve every 
15 minutes during busy hours on weekdays 
and every 30 minutes during normal hours, has 
become the reason for preference in terms of 
zero emissions, less noise pollution and positive 
impacts on the environment as well as less traffic.

Transportation Giant Keolis Prefers Karsan Again!

Transportation Giant Keolis 
Prefers Karsan Again!
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Mobility   Redefined

We first defined a subject universe that includes 
potential sustainability impacts that may occur in 
the Karsan value chain in social, environmental, 
and economic areas as part of the prioritization 
work we did during the reporting period. Then we 
included it in this subject universe, which includes 
over fifty topics and 17 United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals, which we created by 
studying the GRI Standards, World Economic 
Forum (WEF) Global Mega Risk Trends Survey, 
industry reports, competitor practices, and many 
other sources. We determined our sustainability 
priorities by evaluating the subject universe from 
the perspectives of “impact, risk, opportunity, and 
stakeholder expectations” with 125 company 
representatives ranging from senior management 
to unit employees, as well as nearly 50 external 
stakeholders, primarily suppliers, customers, 

financial institutions, and non-governmental 
organizations (NGOs).
In this context, we defined our five main 
priorities, which we explained with 29 subtopics, 
emphasizing the long-term value chain risks of the 
mobility sector, which has been redefined today, 
and integrating them with the 13 UN Sustainable 
Development Goals.
We assessed the issues we identified not only in 
terms of their significance, but also of the stage of 
our value chain at which the impact occurred.
While, in the content of the study, it is observed 
that the elements that constitute the Governance 
Fundamentals, Climate Change and Environment 
priority areas have a significant impact on our 
entire value chain, it has been revealed that the 
Smart Mobility area has a more

pronounced impact on 
company operations, sales 
and after-sales processes, the 
Responsible Sourcing Area on 
the supply chain and company 
operation processes, and the 
Inclusive Workplace area on 
company operations.

GOVERNANCE 
FUNDAMENTALS
As a requirement of our 
corporate culture shaped by 
our experience of more than 
half a century, we adopt a 
governance approach based 
on internationally accepted 

Our sustainability priorities, which we identified through 
various research and stakeholder perspectives, are at the 
heart of the sustainability management process we follow. 
We use a process that is based on the principles outlined in 
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards to determine 
these priorities.

Sustainability in Karsan

Sustainability in Karsan
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corporate governance principles, unconditional 
customer satisfaction, superior quality and 
excellence norms in production processes and 
products, and an innovative and creative R&D 
culture.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
With the participation of all our employees and 
a sense of collective responsibility, we protect 
the health and safety of everyone in our field of 
activity and aim to create a safe workplace for 
everyone.
Karsan OHS Policy determines the basic principles 
of our understanding of occupational health and 
safety. As one of the main elements of the WCM 
methodology, we have a specialist unit responsible 
for our occupational health and safety works. 
However, it is the common responsibility of every 
employee and manager to ensure occupational 
safety throughout the company’s activities. We 
follow the internationally accepted ISO 45001 
Occupational Health and Safety System Standard 
for the systematic realization of this responsibility.
We ensure system reliability by repeating WCM 
practices and standard external auditing every 
year. Our internal audit experts also perform ISO 

45001 and WCM Step certification audits. In 
addition, the Ministry of Family, Labor and Social 
Security of the Republic of Turkey also carries out 
inspections at uncertain times.

SMART AND GREEN MOBILITY
With our strong R&D infrastructure,  innovative 
design and engineering capacity, we are striving 
to provide more environmentally friendly, safer 
and smarter mobility solutions for the whole world 
and to implement pioneering practices in this field. 
With the rapidly increasing population worldwide 
and the concentration of economic activities in 
cities, the concentration of the population in cities 
causes a great change in living standards. The 
fact that the rate of the population living in the 
city, which is 55% today, is expected to increase 
to 80% in OECD countries in 2050, shows that 
the current urban organization will not meet the 
future needs. Given the environmental impact, 
health, safety and economic development 
concerns, particularly climate change, the need 
for a more efficient, smarter and more sustainable 
city organization is an indisputable reality. The 
transportation phenomenon, which, contrary 
to the expectations of the fast lifestyle in cities, 

Annual Report 2021
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Büyüleyici Tasarımı Keşfet

Yenilikçi çizgilerle birleşen arka far grubu 
tasarımı ve aerodinamik tasarımlı tavanı 
ile tüm gözler onun üzerinde. e-ATA ile 
şehre iz bırakın.
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spends an average of more than 50 hours per 
month in traffic, is increasing day by day, resulting 
in a decrease in economic and environmental 
efficiency.
For example, the fact that private cars, which 
account for 85 % of mobility expenditures, are 
used only 4 % of the time indicates a significant 
need for transformation in transportation and 
travel activities, which are vital components of 
urban life.
Proven technologies and trends such as the rapid 
development in 5G and connection technologies, 
electrification, sharing economy applications, 
autonomous vehicle technologies, and modular 
vehicle designs appear as applications that will 
shape mobility models in the future. While the 
regulations enacted in various countries of the 
world, which foresee the limitation of hydrocarbon 
fueled vehicles, the fact that electric vehicles 
meet expectations in terms of both economy 
and performance with the great development 
in battery technologies, and the development of 

vehicle charging station infrastructure increase 
the demand for electric vehicles. Electric vehicle 
(EV) sales, which exceeded 2 million in 2020, are 
expected to reach 32 million in 2030. The fact that 
electric vehicles are encouraged, particularly in 
the EU, motivates manufacturers to pursue this 
path. As new products and tools emerge, so do 
business models and online services that diversify 
mobility models.
The electrification of private vehicles is gaining 
traction in the public transportation and bus 
segments. While the European Green Deal’s 2030 
decarbonization policy accelerates the transition to 
electric vehicles, this transformation is happening 
faster in public transportation.

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT 
MANAGEMENT
One of our top sustainability priorities is the 
effective management of environmental impacts 
caused by our activities.

CUTTING- EDGE TECHNOLOGY
FOR THE CITIES OF THE FUTURE

BE THE CHANGE

With its innovating sustainable future mission, 
Karsan reveals another premiere in its 
sector and takes you on an exciting journey, 
introducing the leading technology of new 
era.

Karsan is ready for the future today with 
its autonomous technology to overcome 
the consequences of increasing 
population, harmful gas emissions and 
human-induced errors in traffic.
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Environmental impact management is one 
of the fundamental components of the WCM 
methodology, which we have adopted as our 
primary working model. As a result, we strive to 
control and reduce environmental impact at every 
stage of our operations.
Climate change and greenhouse gases, various air 
gases, energy management, water consumption, 
material consumption, waste management, 
and recycling are all environmental impacts in 
our manufacturing activities. Furthermore, our 
environmental impact occurs during the use of 
the vehicles we manufacture, specifically fuel 
consumption and greenhouse gas emissions.
Aside from managing and minimizing 
environmental impacts, proper recording, 
reporting, and auditing of these impacts, as well 
as monitoring compliance with environmental 
legislation, are all important areas of practice. 
In this context, we adhere to the ISO14001 
Environmental Management System Standard 
when conducting environmental management 
activities.
On our website, you can find the Karsan 
Environmental Policy, which includes our 
environmental management principles. In all of 
our activities, we follow our principles and strive 
to reduce our environmental impact. We keep 

our system reliable by conducting independent 
external audits and certifications on a regular 
basis. On the other hand, we are inspected by the 
Republic of Turkey’s Ministry of Environment and 
Urbanization.
During the reporting period, our company received 
no complaints, legal actions, financial or in-kind 
penalties for noncompliance with environmental 
legislation.
In the coming period, our primary goal is to add 
the ISO 50001 Energy Management System 
Standard to our portfolio, in addition to the ISO 
14001 Standard. During the reporting period, we 
also carried out our training activities by making all 
necessary preparations.
Environmental and energy management, which 
is also an important part of risk management, 
is managed through a chain of command that 
extends from the Board of Directors to the 
production units. We also have managers in 
charge of environmental and energy management 
processes in our main production units.
Work teams responsible for environmental and 
energy management are formed as part of our 
sustainability management efforts. Because 
environmental and energy management 
performance is a component of WCM 
methodology, it is also useful in evaluating our 

%25 Eğime Kadar Rahat Kalkış 
e-JEST’in çalışkan BMW motoru yüksek tork üretir ve
zorlu dik yokuşlarda sürücüsüne güven verir.
O’nunla dik yokuşlarda durup kalkmak düz yolda gitmek kadar kolaydır

Üstün Manevra Kabiliyeti
Şehrin dar sokakları için ideal araç olan e-JEST;
düşük dönüş yarıçapı ve üstün manevra kabiliyeti ile otomobil
kullanıyormuş hissi yaratır. Tam dolu kapasiteyle bile kolayca
rampaları tırmanır ve virajları döner.



63

corporate performance as well as the individual 
performance of our managers ranging from senior 
management to field operations.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
Because of its importance in an efficient and 
high-quality production operation, supply chain 
management is carried out by the Purchasing 
Directorate reporting to CEO and the Supply Chain 
Directorate reporting to the Industrial Operations 
Deputy General Manager.
As a vehicle manufacturer, our procurement 
management works as follows: We list the 
materials that must be procured when a vehicle 
is put into production. Our procurement experts 
identify suppliers to supply the necessary parts 
and prepare the system for the serial supply 
process.
Our Supply Chain experts ensure that the 
necessary parts are ordered and procured. 
Supply plans are created at weekly and monthly 
intervals, and precise and predictive orders are 
sent to suppliers. According to the supply plan and 
part type, logistics modes are also planned and 
shipment is made to the production facility.

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
We offer turnkey commercial vehicle production 
solutions, including design, engineering, and 
production, to the world’s distinguished brands, 

and we produce commercial vehicles under our 
own brand, based on our more than 50 years 
of experience in the automotive industry and 
our flexible production capacity. In this sense, 
the R&D projects we produce help to develop 
our country’s automotive production know-
how while we continue our activities at home 
and abroad. With our world-class commercial 
vehicles manufactured in the United States, 
we provide domestic alternatives to meet our 
country’s mobility needs. Furthermore, we 
contribute to the economy in terms of both 
export input and qualified employment growth.
We achieved a total export income of 133 
million USD in 2020 as an automotive company 
that provides foreign currency inflow to our 
country by generating export income and 
supporting this with its own brand vehicles. 
On the other hand, we helped to strengthen 
the Turkish automotive industry by capturing 
5.1 % of the market with our Karsan Jest 
branded vehicle and 24.1 % of its own segment 
with Karsan Atak in the 8-meter length bus 
class. We accomplished this with our human 
resources, which totaled 1,074 people, 829 of 
whom were field workers.
Our investments benefit the country’s economy, 
industrial infrastructure, and manufacturing 
capacity. In this regard, we have invested 112.5 
million TL in 2020 and 458.5 million TL over the 
last five years.
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Karsan, a leading name in the Turkish automotive 
industry, has taken an important step toward 
incorporating gender equality into the workplace 
and supporting the fight against domestic 
violence. Karsan, which implemented a protocol 
with the Turkey Office of the International Labor 
Organization (ILO) in 2019 to incorporate gender 
equality into working life and increase women’s 
employment, also signed a cooperation protocol 
with Mor Salkım Women’s Solidarity Association 
and Counseling Center on combating domestic 
violence against women within the scope of the 
“Gender Equality Policy” and “ Policy on Zero 
Tolerance for Violence” prepared as a result of 
the work carried out with the ILO and within 
the framework of the goal of “Development of 
Company Policies Regarding Domestic Violence 
Against Women”. Within the scope of the protocol, 
it is aimed by the association to provide support 
to Karsan employees and their relatives, direct 

women, who receive service from the association 
and request a job to Karsan’s Human Resources 
department, to use the violence hotline of the 
association free of charge for employees who 
are exposed to or witness domestic violence, and 
to keep the information of women who receive 
counselling services confidential.
The signing ceremony was attended by the 
Founder and President of Mor Salkım Women’s 
Solidarity Association Dilek Üzümcüler, and Board 
Member of Association Burcu Üzümcüler Özyadın 
and association members, Karsan Financial 
Affairs and Finance Deputy General Manager 
Kenan Kaya, Karsan Human Resources Manager 
Mücahit Korkut, Karsan equality committee 
members and Kıraça Holding executives. The 
ceremony began with an introduction by Karsan 
and was followed by speeches by Dilek Üzümcüler, 
Founder and President of Mor Salkım Women’s 

Eşit işe eşit ücret politikası! 

ILO prensiplerine ve ILO’nun 190 sayılı Çalışma Yaşamında Şiddet ve Tacizin Önlenmesi 

Sözleşmesine uygun olarak geliştirilmiş ilk iş yeri politikası olan Şiddete Sıfır Tolerans Politikası’nı 

oluşturan ve Türkiye’de ilk uygulamaya koyan şirket unvanının da sahibi olan Karsan, ILO Türkiye 

Ofisi’nin dijital eğitim platformu olan ILO Akademi tarafından verilen “Şiddete Sıfır Tolerans” 

eğitimlerini de alan ilk kuruluş oldu. İnsan kaynakları biriminin öncülüğünde farklı bölümlerde 

görev alan çalışanların katılımıyla oluşturulan “Karsan Pozitif Eşitlik Komitesi” de şirket genelinde 

toplumsal cinsiyet eşitliği çalışmalarını yürüterek kadın istihdamının artırılması için gerekli 

tedbirleri almayı amaçlıyor. Toplumsal cinsiyet sorunlarının içinde ücretlendirmedeki 

eşitsizliklerinin önemli bir yer tuttuğuna inanan şirket, bu doğrultuda da eşit işe eşit ücret 

politikasını benimsiyor. 

 

 

 

A Precedent from Karsan in both Contributing to Female 
Employment and Combating Domestic Violence!

Karsan and Mor Salkım Women’s 
Solidarity Association Sign a Protocol!

Corporate Social Responsibility
Annual Report 2021
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Solidarity Association, and Burcu Üzümcüler 
Özyadın, Member of the Board of Directors. Both 
names provided detailed information about the 
association’s activities, goals, and projects.
Delivering a speech at the signing ceremony, 
Karsan Human Resources Manager Mücahit Korkut 
talked about Karsan’s gender equality journey and 
mentioned the milestones of this journey.

The protocol is valid for five years!
The protocol aims to direct women who receive 
service from the foundation and need employment 
support to Karsan’s human resources department, 
to provide consultancy services to women who 
work in Karsan and reach the Mor Salkım Women’s 
Consultative and Solidarity Center.
Within the five-year protocol, personal information is 
kept secret based on the confidentiality policies and 
the protection of personal data in the framework of 
legal legislation.

The faoundation’s violence line serves  
24 hours on 7 days!
The protocol also aims to provide voluntary 
cooperation in the awareness activities that can be 
carried out in the fight against violence if requested 
by Karsan. In addition, when the foundation is to be 
spread internallya and organize seminars, trainings, 
and meetings in the context of fighting violence 
against women, the employees are exposed 
to or witnessed domestic violence, Karsan will 
direct those individuals to the violence line of the 
association serving 7 days and 24 hours, and the 
information of women requesting counseling will be 
kept confidential.

 
The Purple Salkim Women Solidarity Association 
The Purple Salkim Women Solidarity Association 
is working in the national and international field 
onthe gender equality and the fight against 
domestic violence against women. Mor Salkim 
Women Solidarity Association, which is among 
Turkey’s limited NGOs within the context of its work, 
is the only organization in Bursa to provide the 
services of women consultation and solidarity on a 
voluntary basis.

The milestones of Karsan’s journey to gender 
equality
Karsan signed the protocol with the ILO Turkey 
Office in 2019 to improve gender equality and 
increase employment for women. The company has 
undertaken with that protocol, the commitment to 
implement the ILO’s Model for Developing Gender 
Equality in Companies in Karsan. Karsan signed the 
“Women’s Empowerment Principles (WEPs)”, which 
was created last year in partnership with the UN 
Global Compact and the UN Community Gender 
Equality and Women’s Empowerment Unit (UN 
Women).
Karsan then published two important policies to 
underline their sensitivity to this issue. As a reflection 
of the work with the ILO, the company created 
the “Gender Equality Policy” and “Zero Tolerance 
Policy for Violence” within the scope of the 
International 16-Day Gender- based Anti-Violence 
Campaign, which began with the International 
Day of Elimination of Violence against Women on 
25 November and ended on 10 December Human 
Rights Day.

 
 

Equal job equal pay policy!
Karsan, the first workplace to create Zero Tolerance 
Policy which is the first work place policy developed 
in accordance with ILO principles and ILO’s No. 
190 the Convention on the Prevention of Violence 
and Harassment at Work and put it into practice 
in Turkey, was the first organization to receive the 
“Zero Tolerance to Violence” trainings given by the 
ILO Academy, the digital training platform of the 
ILO Turkey Office. The “Karsan Positive Equality 
Committee”, which is formed by the participation 
of employees in different departments under the 
leadership of human resources, aims to implement 
gender equality studies across the company and 
take the necessary measures to improve women’s 
employment. The company believes that the 
inequalities in payment are an important place for 
gender issues, and in this respect, it adopts the 
equal job pay policy.
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Sustainable development and social prosperity 
are only possible with woman being active and 
equally present in the working life!
With this consciousness, as KARSAN, we 
continue our journey “Positive Equality” for the 
construction of a brighter, more equitable society 
and the future.

In this context, this year, we have joined forces 
against violence against women and gender 
inequality and supported women who were in 
need with Mor Çatı Women’s Shelter Foundation 
products.
We are determined to express our opposition to 
discrimination and violence against women in 
every environment and to continue our activities 
with the aim of raising awareness in society.

Our Journey Continues  
For Positive Equality

Corporate Social Responsibility

Annual Report 2021
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We participated to the art contest “Labor Doesn’t 
Have A Gender” organized by Bursa Organize 
Sanayi Bölgesi Sanayicileri ve İş İnsanları 
Derneği (BOSİAD) and Bursa Organize Sanayi 
Bölgesi (Bursa OSB) with the paintings of Berna 
Çalışkan, daughter of Beyazıt Çalışkan from 
Human Resources, İpek aydın, daughter of Savaş 

Aydın from Purchasing Department and Çağan 
Kerem Erdem, son of Bülent Erdem from Supply 
Chain Department.
Once again, we thank all our children and 
families who participated in the contest and wish 
them success in their education lives.

We Participated to BOSİAD “Labor 
Doesn’t Have A Gender” Themed Art 
Contest
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We thank to the little ones (Berna, Almina, Deniz, Eda, Elif, Emine Sena, Eslem, Elif, Yusuf İslam, Kaan, 
Salih Ömer, Kaan Uras, Ömer, Tuana) who share our dream and we wish them lasting success

We held an award-winning art contest with the 
“My Father Is a Hero” theme for the children of 
our very worthy colleagues at the “Father’s Day” 
event in 2021, and we celebrated the day of the 
Father employees’ work with the pictures of their 
children.

As Karsan Automotive, we donated to the 
“Literate Future” campaign of the Mother Child 
Education Foundation (ACEV) for each of 
our little contestants who added value to the 
competition with their labor and we brought 
books for needy children.

Donation to AÇEV on Father’s Day

Our Biggest Dream is a Literate Future!

Corporate Social Responsibility

Annual Report 2021
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We have contributed to 1 year 
education for 32 children!
In 2021, at Bursa 8th Eker I 
Run, we took steps to reach 
the children who will receive 
education support in the TEGV 
Bursa Learning Unit.
In these challenging days, 
KARSAN supports as a 
community to reintegrate our 
children to the society, where our 
Running Team is on their way to 
make first graders childhoods’ 
happy and to prepare them for 
the future!

Karsan collected 100.4 kg of electronic waste 
in 2021 with the “Support Education with Your 
Electronic Waste” campaign launched on June 5 
World Environment Day.
Electronic waste is the fastest-growing waste 
in the world, given the consumption habits in 
recent years. Chemicals and heavy metals (lead, 
cadmium, mercury, arsenic, etc.) contained in 
electronic waste when not properly disposed, 
they cause water, air and soil pollutants. In 
2020, 49 million tons of electronic waste were 
produced worldwide, and in 2021, this figure 
was estimated to reach 52 million tons. Only 5% 
of these waste are restored.
As Karsan Otomotiv A.Ş. with the occasion of 
the World Environment Day, we have launched 
a project to recycle electronic waste from our 

homes in cooperation with Karsan- TEGV to 
ensure the recycle of Electronic Waste and to 
prevent damage to the environment.
Within the scope of the project, we collected 
100.4 kg of electronic waste from our employees’ 
homes in Karsan Electronic Waste collection 
areas. In cooperation with TEGV, we have 
recycled these wastes from the licensed 
electronic waste disposal plant and in return, we 
have met the educational needs of our children 
who are in need. So we have prevented the 
inappropriate disposal of these waste, which 
is considered dangerous waste, and have 
contributed to the education.
Hereby, we also thank all of our employees who 
supported the process.

EKER I Run

Karsan has finished the “Support 
Education with Your Electronic Waste” 
Campaign
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Karsan has started 
working under the 
establishment of 
ISO 50001 Energy 
Management 
System since 2020 
to use energy 
efficiently, prevent 
unconscious 
natural resource 
consumption and 
reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions 
regularly within 
the scope of WCM 
Environmental 
and Energy Pillar 
activities.
In this context, 
the Karsan 
Akçalar and OSB 
factories were eligible for ISO 50001:2018 
Energy Management System Certificate without 
encountering inappropriate circumstances 
during the audit conducted on March 15-16, 
2021. In addition, Karsan aims to reduce energy 
consumption between 6% and 15% by carrying 
out Energy kaizens to achieve energy goals and 
objectives with Energy Management Systems. 
Karsan also has an objective to boost energy 
gains by receiving 30% grant support for energy 
investments with Productivity Enhancing Projects 
(VAP).
 The Environmental Kaizen We Performed at the 
Treatment Plant Published in the National Journal 
of Environmental Sciences “Iron-Based Coagulant” 
carried out in the treatment plant together with 

the Environment 
CD studies 
commissioned 
within the scope of 
WCM Environment 
and Energy Pillar 
activities.
Within the scope 
of “PAC Coagulant 
Instead of Use” study 
20% improvement 
was achieved in 
the chemical cost 
of the treatment 
plant. In addition, the 
study was entitled 
to receive the best 
standard kaizen 
award in November 
within the scope of 
WCM studies.

The PAC coagulant used in this study is a newly 
used chemical in treatment plants in recent years. 
In addition, this study was published as a scientific 
article in the “National Journal of Environmental 
Sciences (UCBAD)”.
The PAC coagulant used in this study is a new 
chemical used in recent years in treatment plants 
and the waste water treatment plant that we 
treated has reduced pollutant expense efficiency 
and minimized the cost and environmental effects 
of caustic chemicals and reducing the amount 
of treatment mud, which is a hazardous waste 
was aimed. This study was also published as 
a scientific article in the national “Ulusal Çevre 
Bilimleri Journal (UCBAD)”.

Corporate Social Responsibility

KARSAN received ISO 50001 Energy 
Management System Certificate

Annual Report 2021
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edinerek, gelecekte sektöre ve yeni teknolojilere katma değer yaratacak bireyler 

olacaklardır. 

 

 

 

edinerek, gelecekte sektöre ve yeni teknolojilere katma değer yaratacak bireyler 

olacaklardır. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

In 2020, Karsan signed with Bursa Governorship 
and Bursa Provincial National Education Directorate 
the “Co-operative and Technical Training Protocol” 
to support qualified and sustainable professional 
training in the automotive sector. Under this protocol, 
in the agreed Şehit Ömer Halisdemir Professional 
and Technical Anatolian High School, the company 
created “Karsan Electric Vehicles Technology 
Laboratory”. At least 50% of the students who will 
be trained at the Karsan Electric vehicles Technology 
Laboratory, the first laboratory to raise students in 
particular in electric vehicles throughout the country, 
are intended to be female students. In this way, it is 
planned to increase the number of qualified female 
employees in production. In this context, the area of 
activity of our project contributes directly to the aims 
of ‘Qualified Education’ and ‘Gender Equality’, which 
are among the ‘Sustainable Development Goals’ of 
the United Nations.
In 2021, the first year of our project, 10th grade 
students selected to start studying in the laboratory. 
In addition, 2 girls and 2 male students who have 
been selected from 12th grade students have 
been interning at the production facilities of our 
company for 3 days a week to support Karsan’s 
Gender Equality Project activites which is conducted 
alongside with ILO.
The Scholarship Protocol has been signed with the 
Suna İnan Kıraç Foundation to give all students who 
will be trained in the laboratory scholarships during 
the course of the education period (3 years)
All selected students will be able to perform 
vocational training and internship applications in real 
production environments of KARSAN
and will be provided with priority employment in 
KARSAN after graduation.

 Students who will be trained and graduating at 
Karsan Electric Vehicles Technology Laboratory will 
be individuals who will add value for the industry 
and create new technologies in the future by not only 
acquiring technical equipment, but also behavioral 
and social equipment, with their assigned mentors 
and the internship programs prepared for their 
individual development.

KARSAN Electric Vehicles Technology 
Laboratory
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Karsan, one of the leading companies of Turkish 
automotive industry, was deemed worthy of an 
award for the work to make the gender equality 
part of the working culture. The company won 
in the “Success in Leadership Developmentfor 
Women” categorie the “2021 Silver Stevie” 
award in the Stevie Awards, which is one of 
the most prestigious human resources awards 
in the world following its work under the project 
“improving Gender Equality in Karsan”.

“We hope our project will be a source of 
inspiration”
Okan Baş, CEO of Karsan, made a statement 
about the matter:

 “We will continue to express our opposition
to all kinds of discrimination and violence 
against women in every environment and raise 
awareness in society. The work we started two 
years ago brings along a long-term process. 
we are increasing our success bar with the 
value that female employees can bring to our 
company through their efforts and capabilities. 
In this context, we will continue to increase our 
employment for female employees.
This award, which we have been deemed worthy 
as a result of the evaluation of distinguished 
members of the industry at the Stevie Awards, 
has shown once again that we are on the right 
track.

Karsan, won an awad at The Stevie 
Awards’ın in the “Succes in Leadership 
Development” categorie

Karsan Continues to Crown Its Achievements with Awards!

Corporate Social Responsibility

Annual Report 2021
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We hope that our project, which we launch to 
make gender equality a part of the working 
culture, is an inspiration to companies that 
operate not only in our industry, but in all 
sectors.”

We are the first institution to receive “Zero 
Tolerance to violence” training!
Karsan received the title of the company, which 
constitutes the world’s first Zero Tolerance 
Policy in accordance with ILO principles, in 2020. 
KARSAN was also the first to receive the “Zero 
Tolerance to violence” training given by THE ILO 
Academy. In 2019- 2020, Karsan employees are 
being raised awareness by “Zero Tolerance to 

violence training” which is the continuation of 
gender equality education given face-to-face.

Participation in the Women’s Leadership 
Platform
Our Industrial Relations and organizational 
Development Manager, Mr. Görkem Levent, 
attended the annual “Gender Equality in 
Institutions (TCE) measurements” roundtable 
meeting organized by the Women Leadership 
platform.
In the organisation where good practice examples 
in Karsan are transferred to different business 
representatives, it has been aimed to contribute to 
the spread of studies throughout the country.
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Financial Reports
•  Independent Auditor’s Report on the  

Board of Directors’ Annual Report
•  Board of Directors’ Annual Report for the Year 2021
•  Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended  

31 December 2021 and Independent Auditor’s Report

Annual Report 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report on The Board of Directors’ Annual Report

To the General Assembly of Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş.
1) Opinion
As we have audited the full set consolidated financial statements of Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve 
Ticaret A.Ş. (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the period between 1 January 2021–31 
December 2021, we have also audited the annual report for the same period.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial information provided in the Management’s annual report and the 
Management’s discussions on the Group’s financial performance, are fairly presented in all material respects, 
and are consistent with the full set audited consolidated financial statements and the information obtained 
from our audit.

2) Basis for Opinion
Independent audit conducted by us is appropriately carrying out according to Independent Auditing Standards 
published by the Capital Markets Board and Independent Auditing Standards which are parts of Turkish 
Auditing Standards published by the Public Oversight, Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority (KGK 
Our responsibility is disclosed under Responsibilities of the Independent Auditor on the Independent Audit 
of the Annual Report in detail. We declare that we are independent from the Group in accordance with the 
Code of Ethics for Independent Auditors (“Code of Ethics”) issued by POA and ethical provisions stated in the 
regulation of audit. We have fulfilled other responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the 
Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.

3) Auditor’s Opinion for the Full Set Consolidated Financial Statements
We have presented unqualified opinion for the Group’s full set consolidated financial statements for
the period between 1 January 2021–31 December 2021in our Auditor’s Report dated 9 March 2021.

Deloitte; Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (“DTTL”), incorporated under UK legislation, one or more of the companies in its network 

of member firms and associated legal entities. DTTL and each of its member firms are separate and independent legal entities. 

DTTL (also referred to as “Deloitte Global”) does not provide Services to customers. For more information on our global network of 

member firms, visit www.deloitte.com/about.

© 2022. For more information, please contact Deloitte Turkey (Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited member company).

(Convenience Translation of Independent Auditor’s Report
on The Management’s Annual Report Originally Issued in Turkish)
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4) Management’s Responsibility for the Annual Report
The Group’s Management is responsible for the following in accordance with Article 514 and 516 of the
Turkish Commercial Code No. 6102 (“TCC”) and “Communiqué on Principles of Financial Reporting in
Capital Markets” with No.14.1 of the Capital Markets Board (“the Communiqué”):
a)  Preparing the annual report within the three months following the reporting date and presenting it to the 

General Assembly,
b)  Preparing the annual report with the all respects of the Group’s flow of operations for that year and the 

Group’s consolidated financial performance accurately, completely, directly and fairly. In this report, the 
consolidated financial position is assessed in accordance with the consolidated financial statements. The 
Group’s development and risks that the Group may probably face are also pointed out in this report. The 
Board of Director’s evaluation on those matters are also stated in this report.

c)  The annual report also includes the matters stated below:
 - The significant events occurred in the Group’s activities subsequent to the financial year ends,
 - The Group’s research and development activities,
 - The compensation paid to key management personnel and members of Board of Directors including 

financial benefits such as salaries, bonuses and premiums, allowances, travelling, accommodation and 
representation expenses, in cash and kind facilities, insurances and other similar guarantees.

The Board of Directors also considers the secondary regulations prepared by the Ministry of Trade and related 
institutions while preparing the annual report.

5) Responsibilities of the Independent Auditor on the Independent Audit of the Annual Report
Our aim is to express an opinion and prepare a report about whether the Management’s discussions and 
consolidated financial information in the annual report within the scope of the provisions of the TCC and the 
Communiqué are fairly presented and consistent with the information obtained from our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards on auditing issued by Capital Markets Board 
and the SIA. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Management’s discussions on the Group’s 
financial performance, are fairly presented in all material respects, and are consistent with the full set audited 
consolidated financial statements and the information obtained from our audit The engagement partner on 
the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ersin Çağan.

DRT BAĞIMSIZ DENETİM VE SERBEST MUHASEBECİ MALİ MÜŞAVİRLİK A.Ş.
Member of DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU LIMITED
 

Istanbul, 9 March 2022

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
4) Yönetim Kurulu’nun Yıllık Faaliyet Raporuna İlişkin Sorumluluğu 
 
Grup yönetimi, 6102 sayılı Türk Ticaret Kanununun (TTK) 514 ve 516’ncı maddelerine ve Sermaye Piyasası Kurulu’nun 
(“SPK”) II-14.1 No’lu “Sermaye Piyasasında Finansal Raporlamaya İlişkin Esaslar Tebliği”ne (“Tebliğ”) göre yıllık 
faaliyet raporuyla ilgili olarak aşağıdakilerden sorumludur: 
 

a) Yıllık faaliyet raporunu bilanço gününü izleyen ilk üç ay içinde hazırlar ve genel kurula sunar.  
 

b) Yıllık faaliyet raporunu; grubun o yıla ait faaliyetlerinin akışı ile her yönüyle finansal durumunu doğru, eksiksiz, 
dolambaçsız, gerçeğe uygun ve dürüst bir şekilde yansıtacak şekilde hazırlar. Bu raporda finansal durum, finansal 
tablolara göre değerlendirilir. Raporda ayrıca, şirketin gelişmesine ve karşılaşması muhtemel risklere de açıkça 
işaret olunur. Bu konulara ilişkin yönetim kurulunun değerlendirmesi de raporda yer alır. 

 
b) Faaliyet raporu ayrıca aşağıdaki hususları da içerir:  

 
- Faaliyet yılının sona ermesinden sonra şirkette meydana gelen ve özel önem taşıyan olaylar,  
- Şirketin araştırma ve geliştirme çalışmaları,  
- Yönetim kurulu üyeleri ile üst düzey yöneticilere ödenen ücret, prim, ikramiye gibi mali menfaatler, 

ödenekler, yolculuk, konaklama ve temsil giderleri, ayni ve nakdî imkânlar, sigortalar ve benzeri 
teminatlar.  

 
Yönetim kurulu, faaliyet raporunu hazırlarken Ticaret Bakanlığı’nın ve ilgili kurumların yaptığı ikincil mevzuat 
düzenlemelerini de dikkate alır. 
 
5) Bağımsız Denetçinin Yıllık Faaliyet Raporunun Bağımsız Denetimine İlişkin Sorumluluğu 
 
Amacımız, TTK hükümleri ve Tebliğ çerçevesinde yıllık faaliyet raporu içinde yer alan finansal bilgiler ile Yönetim 
Kurulu’nun yaptığı irdelemelerin, Grup’un denetlenen konsolide finansal tablolarıyla ve bağımsız denetim sırasında elde 
ettiğimiz bilgilerle tutarlı olup olmadığı ve gerçeği yansıtıp yansıtmadığı hakkında görüş vermek ve bu görüşümüzü içeren 
bir rapor düzenlemektir. 
 
Yaptığımız bağımsız denetim, Sermaye Piyasası Kurulu’nca yayımlanan Bağımsız Denetim Standartları’na ve BDS’lere 
uygun olarak yürütülmüştür. Bu standartlar, etik hükümlere uygunluk sağlanması ile bağımsız denetimin, faaliyet 
raporunda yer alan finansal bilgiler ve Yönetim Kurulu’nun yaptığı irdelemelerin konsolide finansal tablolarla ve denetim 
sırasında elde edilen bilgilerle tutarlı olup olmadığına ve gerçeği yansıtıp yansıtmadığına dair makul güvence elde etmek 
üzere planlanarak yürütülmesini gerektirir. 
 

Bu bağımsız denetimi yürütüp sonuçlandıran sorumlu denetçi Ersin Çağan’dır. 
 
DRT BAĞIMSIZ DENETİM VE SERBEST MUHASEBECİ MALİ MÜŞAVİRLİK A.Ş. 
Member of DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU LIMITED 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Ersin Çağan, SMMM 
Sorumlu Denetçi 
 
İstanbul, 9 Mart 2022 
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The Board of Directors  
Activity Report For 2021 

Annual Report 2021

I. GENERAL INFORMATION
a.Accounting Period to which the Report relates:   : 01.01.2021 – 31.12.2021
b. Trade name of the company    : KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş.
Company’s CENTRAL REGISTRATION SYSTEM Number  : 0525000190600031  
Tax Office and Number of the Company   : BURSA - Ertuğrulgazi V. D.- No: 5250001906
Trade Registry Number of the Company    : 13366
Company Contact Information    :

General Directorate and Factory
Address : HASANAĞA ORGANİZE SANAYİ BÖLGESİ (HOSAB), 
    SANAYİ CADDESİ NO: 55 16280 NİLÜFER / BURSA 
Telephone : +90 (224) 484 21 70 (25 HAT) / +90 (224) 280 30 00 
Fax  : +90 (224) 484 21 69
Organized Industrial Zone Factory
Address : ORGANİZE SANAYİ BÖLGESİ MAVİ CAD.NO:13 16215 NİLÜFER / BURSA
Telephone : +90 (224) 243 33 10 (4 HAT) 
Fax  : +90 (224) 243 74 50
Hasanağa Organized Industrial Zone Factory
Address : HASANAĞA ORGANİZE SANAYİ BÖLGESİ (HOSAB), SANAYİ CADDESİ NO:40    
    16280 NİLÜFER / BURSA
Telephone : -
Fax  : -
Istanbul Office
Address : EMEK MAH. ORDU CAD.NO:10 34785 SARIGAZİ / SANCAKTEPE / İSTANBUL
Telephone : +90 (216) 499 65 50 
Fax  : +90 (216) 499 65 53
Website : www.karsan.com.tr  

c. Changes in the Company’s Organization, Capital and Partnership Structure in the Period
Registered Capital Ceiling :          TRY 1,500,000,000 TL* 
Issued Capital   :            TRY 900,000,000 TL  

(*) The amendment of the articles of association regarding the increase of the registered capital ceiling of our company at the amount of TRY 
900,000,000 to TRY 1,500,000,000 was approved at the Ordinary General Assembly for 2020 held on 27 May 2021 after obtaining the necessary 
permissions. The said amendment to the articles of association was registered on July 14, 2021 and published at the Turkish Trade Registry 
Gazette on July 27, 2021.



79

As of 31.12.2021, the Group’s personnel number is 1,079 persons. 284 of them are white collar and 795 of 
them are blue collar. 

TITLE OF THE PARTNERSHIP

Kıraça Holding A.Ş.                   571,118,812                           63.46                    571,118,812                          63.46

     Group A Privileged              64,028,614                                     7.11                   64,028,614                               7.11

     Group B                        507,090,199                           56.34                 507,090,199                56.34

Other                      328,881,188                           36.54                  328,881,188                36.54

     Group A Privileged                 1,554,775                0.17                      1,554,775                              0.17

     Group B                     327,326,413                            36.37                  327,326,413                           36.37

TOTAL                  900,000,000                                   100               900,000,000                              100 

SHARE AMOUNT (TRY)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

SHARE AMOUNT (TRY)SHARE PERCENTAGE (%) SHARE PERCENTAGE (%)

In line with the objectives and priorities of the company, organizational changes have been made during the 
period and in this context; Sales and foreign processes have been separated from the Marketing and Export 
Directorate and Marketing and Export Operations Directorate and Export Group Directorate have been 
established. In addition, Export Operations and Dealer Development Directorate was established and Export 
Operations Management and Planning and Dealer Development Expertise were connected. Export Country 
Directorate and Export Country Manager positions have been bound to the Export Group Directorate created 
and the duties of the closed EU Tender Manager position have been transferred and thus the Company’s 
overseas sales structure has been strengthened. Within the R&D structure, the Electricity unit has been raised 
to the level of directorate. The Environmental Occupational Health and Safety Directorate has been established 
based to the Industrial Operations GMY structure. The quality unit has been raised to the Directorate.

ç. Notes on Privileged Shares and Voting Rights of Shares
According to article 8 of the Company’s Articles of Association (“Board of Directors”), Group A shares have 
the “privilege to nominate candidates for the election of the Members of the Board of Directors”. There is no 
privilege for the exercise of voting rights in the articles of association of our company. 

d. Board of Directors, Executives and Staff Number Information
i. Board Members
The members of the Board of Directors of the Company have been elected, to serve for one year and in any case 
until their successors are elected, at the Ordinary General Assembly, held on May 27, 2021, within the framework 
of the Company’s articles of association in accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code and related regulations. 
 
Members of the Board of Directors as of 31.12.2021: 

Board of Directors   Function                Function Start Date
İnan Kıraç    Chairperson of the Board        27.05.2021
Giancarlo Boschetti    Deputy Chairperson of the Board of Directors 27.05.2021
Okan Baş    Board Managing Member        27.05.2021
Nevzat Tüfekçioğlu   Independent Board Member        27.05.2021
Müfit Ataseven    Independent Board Member        27.05.2021
Mehmet Altan Sungar  Board Member         27.05.2021
Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok    Board Member         27.05.2021
Muhsin Mengütürk   Board Member         27.05.2021
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Since the Supervisory Board (Body of Auditors) is voluntary in the New Turkish Commercial Code, no members 
of the Supervisory Board were elected at the Ordinary General Assembly held on May 27, 2021, and in 
accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code No. 6102, Capital Market Law No. 6362, the Central Bank 
of Turkey Law No. 1211, the Decree No. 660 and the secondary legislation and other relevant regulations 
in force in this context, DRT Bağımsız Dış Denetleme ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş. (Member 
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited), which was elected as the Independent External AuditIng Body by 
the resolution No. 2021 / 12 of the Board of Directors dated 22.03.2021, with the recommendation of the 
Supervisory Committee, has been approved as the independent external auditing company to serve for 1 
year. 
Information about the duties of the Members of the Board of Directors, performed outside the company, and 
the Declarations of Independence of the Independent Board Members are detailed in ANNEX/1 and ANNEX/2. 

ii. Evaluation on Board Committees
The principles of duty and activity related to the Board Committees have been published on the Public 
Disclosure Platform and in the “Investor Relations” section of  www.karsan.com.tr  . silll

Board Committees as of 31.12.2021: 
Committee  Committee Members    Function on the          Attribute     Meeting Frequency
      Committee      

   Nevzat Tüfekçioğlu    Chairperson           Independent Member

   Müfit Ataseven     Member            Independent Member
 
   Müfit Ataseven     Chairperson           Independent Member
   
   Muhsin Mengütürk    Member           Non-Executive Member
   
   İbrahim Onur Baysal(*)    Member           Executive 
 
   Nevzat Tüfekçioğlu    Chairperson           Independent Member
           
   Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok     Member                      Non-Executive Member
   
   Mehmet Altan Sungar      Member                     Non-Executive Member

(*) Within the framework of Article 11 of the Corporate Governance Communiqué No. SPK II-17.1, the Investor Relations Department Director has been appointed 
to the Corporate Governance Committee.

At least 4 times a 
year in 3-month 
periods

At least 2 times  
a year

At least 6 times a 
year in 2-month 
periods

Corporate  
Governance  
Committee

Supervisory  
Committee 

Early Risk 
Detection 
Committee
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During the period, the Supervisory Committee continued its activities within the framework of CMB legislation 
regulations and the Principles of Duty and Activity such as the election of the independent audit body, the 
public disclosure of financial statements and prepared 6 reports.
During the period, the Corporate Governance Committee continued its activities within the framework of the 
CMB legislation regulations and Principles of Duty and Activity such as the preparation of the Corporate 
Governance Compliance Report, the oversight of the Activities of the Investor Relations Department, the 
election of Independent Board Candidate Members within the framework of the Nomination Committee 
function and the activities of the Wage Committee within the framework of the Wage Committee function 
and prepared 8 reports. 
During the period, the Committee for Early Detection of Risk continued its activities within the framework of 
CMB legislation regulations and the Principles of Duty and Activity and prepared 6 reports.
The effectiveness of the committees was positively evaluated by the Board of Directors.
iii. Executives
Executives as of 31.12.2021: 
 
Senior Management   Function   Function        Profession
                    Start Date        

Okan Baş (*)    CEO                    

     Deputy General Manager of Financial 

     Affairs and Finance

     Deputy General Manager of Domestic 

     Market Sales and Foreign Relations 

     Deputy General Manager of 

     Industrial Operations                

     Deputy General 

     Manager of Export            

(*) Sn. Okan Baş, is also the Chief Executive of KARSAN LLC, CEO of Karsan İç ve Dış Ticaret A.Ş. and CEO of Karsan Europe Srl.

(**) Mr. Kenan Kaya is also the Deputy Board Chairperson of Karsan İç ve Dış Ticaret A.Ş., Board Member of Karsan Europe Srl and Board Member of Hervouet 
Corporate Industry SAS.

(***) Mr. Ahmet Muzaffer Arpacıoğlu is also Chairperson of the Board of Directors of Hervouet Corporate Lease and Executive Board Member of Karland A.Ş.

(****) Sn. Deniz Çetin is also the Board Member of Karsan İç ve Dış Ticaret A.Ş., Board Member of the Karsan Europe Srl Yönetim Kurulu Üyesi, and Board Member 
and General Director of Hervouet Corporate Industry SAS.

Kenan Kaya (**) 2019       Economist

2020                Business Manager

2020              Mechanical Engineer

2020             Mechanical Engineer

2016         Mechanical Engineer Msc

Ahmet Muzaffer Arpacıoğlu (***)

Alper Bulucu

Deniz Çetin (****)
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iv. Personnel and Labor Movements

     December 31, 2021       December 31, 2020 
     

Karsan Otomotiv               273                 789          1,062          230             829    1,059  
Karsan Europe                  3                      0                3              4             0          4  
Karsan İç ve Dış Ticaret A.Ş.                                0                      0                0              0             0          0  
Hervouet Corporate Industry  SAS (HCI)                8                      6               14             11             0          11  
Karsan North America LLC                 0                 0                0             -                    -          - 
 
Total               284            795          1,079          245                829   1,074

As of 31.12.2021, the Group’s personnel number is 1,079 persons. 284 of them are white collar and 795 of 
them are blue collar. 

White 
Collar

Blue 
Collar Total Total

White 
Collar

Blue 
Collar

e. Information on the transactions of the board members with the company for itself or for others and 
activities within the scope of the non-competition within the framework of authority granted by the 
Company’s General Assembly 
Although there is no provision in the Company’s Articles of Association not to trade with the company and 
not to violate the non-competition, in accordance with Articles 395 and 396 of the Turkish Commercial Code, 
at the Ordinary General Assembly 2020 held on May 27, 2021, it was decided that the Company and the 
members of the Board of Directors should be allowed to do business on behalf of themselves and someone 
else, to carry out a transaction of the type of commercial business that falls under the subject of the Company’s 
business for one’s own or others, and to be a partner of a company, engaged in the same type of business as 
the Company, with unlimited responsibility. 
In addition, it was presented for the knowledge of the General Assembly at such Ordinary General Assembly 
that the shareholders who hold control of Management, Members of the Board of Directors, managers with 
administrative responsibilities and their blood and mafrriage relatives up to the second degree did not perform 
an important transaction, which may cause conflict of interest with the Company or its subsidiaries and/or 
that they did not perform a transaction in the type of commercial business falling in the subject of business 
of the Company or its subsidiaries for themselves or others and did not participate in any other company 
engaging in the same type of commercial businesses in the capacity of unlimited partner in 2020. 
The shareholders who hold control of Management, Members of the Board of Directors, managers with 
administrative responsibilities and their blood and mafrriage relatives up to the second degree did not perform 
an important transaction, which may cause conflict of interest with the Company or its subsidiaries and/or 
that they did not perform a transaction in the type of commercial business falling in the subject of business 
of the Company or its subsidiaries for themselves or others and did not participate in any other company 
engaging in the same type of commercial businesses in the capacity of unlimited partner in 2021.

II. FINANCIAL BENEFITS PROVIDED TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES
For the year of 2021, the total rights, interests and fees provided to the Members of the Board of Directors and 
Executives are listed as 6.291 Thousand TRY in the financial statement notes and these notes are published 
in the annual report and on the Company’s website. In the Usual General Meeting held on May 27, 2021, 
which is valid from the beginning of the month following the General Meeting, it has been decided that each 
member of the Independent Board Members should be paid gross 13.5 thousand TRY per month and gross 
11 thousand TRY per month for each member of the Board of Directors.



83

III. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY
With the Special Event Disclosure dated July 24, 2019, our Company’s application for R&D Center, submitted 
to the T.R. Ministry of Industry and Technology, General Directorate of R&D Incentives in order to benefit from 
the incentives and exemptions provided by the Law No. 5746 on Supporting Research, Development and 
Design Activities, was evaluated and it was announced on the KAP that it was appropriate to give the R&D 
Center Certificate to our Company.
Our electric minibus, midibus and bus projects, distribution vehicle project, autonomous midibus project, 
research and development activities related to bus tenders are carried out by our Company’s R&D center.

IV. COMPANY’S ACTIVITIES AND IMPORTANT DEVELOPMENTS RELATED TO THE ACTIVITIES
a. Investments and Incentives Made by the Company in the Relevant Accounting Period
In 2021, the Group invested 156.889 thousand TRY in total.
The “Investment Incentive Certificate” application made to the General Directorate of Incentive Implementation 
and Foreign Capital of the Ministry of Industry and Technology was approved on October 6, 2021 in order to 
connect the investment planned by our company within the scope of product diversification to the Investment 
Incentive Certificate. The investment amount attached to the incentive certificate is TRY 214.818.692. 
The support elements regarding Area 4 which is provided for investment and evaluated under “Regional 
Incentive Practices” are below:
• Insurance premium employer share support.
• Tax Credit
• Customs Duty Exemption
• VAT Exemption
• Interest Support

b. Information on the Company’s Internal Audit System and Internal Audit Activities and the Opinion of 
the Board of Directors on this matter
The Corporate Risk Management Directorate, established in 2014, has been reorganized as the Corporate 
Risk Management and Internal Audit Directorate as of October 1, 2015. The Corporate Risk Management 
and Internal Audit Directorate functionally reports to the Karsan CEO with the Audit Committee and the Early 
Risk Detection Committee appointed by the Board of Directors. Risks identified as a result of the activities 
carried out within the framework of the plan approved by the Early Detection of Risk Committee are evaluated 
by taking into account the corporate risk taking profile and it is aimed to ensure an effective internal control 
system configuration with action plans created as a result of risk-oriented Internal Audit activities.
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c. Information on the Company’s direct or indirect subsidiaries and share percentages
              Partnership Share of the Company
                31.12.2021          31.12.2020

      

Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi Mamulleri Pazarlama A.Ş. (*)  Distributor      6.43%        6.43%                25%               25%

Karsan USA LLC (**)     Sales, Marketing       100%         100%              100%              100%

Karsan Europe SRL     Sales, Marketing       100%         100%              100%              100%

MaaS Global OY (***)     Transportation Solutions      5.81%         5.81%             8.04%            8.04%

      Bus production, distribution  
      and marketing    28.59%       28.59%          28.59%           28.59%

      Domestic and international  
      vehicle and spare parts sales 
      and marketing       100%         100%              100%             100% 
 
      Sales, Marketing       100%         100%                  -                      - 
  
      

Field of 
Activity

Direct and Indirect 
Partnership 
Percentage

Effective 
Partnership 
Percentage

Direct and 
Indirect 

Partnership 
Percentage

Effective 
Partnership 
Percentage

Name of the Company

      Automotive and Spare  
      Parts Marketing       50%          50%                50%              50%

Hervouet Corporate Lease SAS      Financial Leasing       50%          50%                50%              50%

Industria Italiana Autobus S.P.A 

Karsan İç ve Dış Ticaret A.Ş. 

Hervouet Corporate Industry SAS (HCI) 

Karsan North America LLC (****)

(*) Due to the participation of our Company in the capital increase made by Karsan Pazarlama below the amount to which our current share percentage would 
correspond, the partnership percentage was registered in January 2021 and decreased from 25% to 6.43%.
(**) Karsan has established a company with the title of Karsan USA LLC, which is fully owned by Karsan, with its head office in the USA, New York, without any 
need for capital increase at the stage of foundation, in order to participate in the tenders to be organized by local authorities in the USA. There has been no capital 
transfer to the company and has no effect on the financial position of the Group.
(***) Since the share of the Company in MaaS Global OY, in which the Company is a shareholder of 5.81%, is not significant in the consolidated financial 
statements, the subsidiary has been shown in the financial statements with the final transaction cost. Due to the fact that our Company did not participate in the 
latest capital increase ofthe Salary, its share decreased from 8.04% to 5.81%.
(****) In 2021, the company established a company with the title of Karsan North America LLC, which does not require a capital transfer during the enterprise 
phase of Karsan Automotive in the United States, in order to participate in the tenders held by local authorities in the United States. There has been no capital 
transfer to the company and it has not been included in the consolidated financial statements because it is inactive.

There is no Company in which our company has a mutual participation relationship exceeding 5%.

ç. Information on the Company’s acquired own shares
The company did not acquire its own shares during the period. 

d. Disclosures on special audit and public audit carried out in the accounting period
In 2021 activity year, no special audit requests have been made within the Article 438 of TTK (Turkish 
Commercial Code). 

e. Information on the lawsuit, filed against the Company and which may affect the financial position and 
activities of the Company and their possible consequences
There is no significant lawsuit filed against the Company in 2021 that may affect the Company’s Financial 
Status and Activities.

f. Disclosures on administrative or judicial sanctions applied against the Company and members of the 
governing body due to their practices in violation of the legislative provisions
In 2021, there are no administrative or judicial sanctions imposed on the company and members of the 
governing body due to practices that are in violation of the legislation. 
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g. Information and assessments regarding whether the goals set in the previous periods were achieved 
or not, whether the resolutions of general assembly were fulfilled or not and the justifications if the goals 
were not achieved or the resolutions were not fulfilled
An annual budget is created in line with the targets set by the Company’s Board of Directors and the 
compliance of operating results with the budget is monitored. The Ordinary General Assembly resolutions 
regarding the activities of 2020, held in May 2021, were implemented by our Company. 

ğ. Information on extraordinary general assembly meeting, if held during the year, including the date of 
meeting, resolutions taken at the meeting and the actions taken in this regard
The company did not hold an Extraordinary General Assembly during the period.

h. Information on the Expenses Made within the Scope of Donations and Aids Made by the Company 
During the Year
At our Company’s Ordinary General Assembly held on May 27, 2021, the upper limit of donations to be made 
by our Company in 2021 was determined as TRY 300,000. In addition, our Company made donations and 
aid of TRY 16.680 in 2021. 

ı. Significant Changes Occurring in the Environment Where the Company Operates and the Policies 
Applied by the Company Against these Changes
There were no significant changes experienced during the period in relation to the geographical environment 
in which the company operates.  

i. If it is a company affiliated with a group of companies; legal actions taken with the holding company, 
with an affiliate of the holding company, in favor of the holding company or an affiliate of it under its 
direction and all other measures taken or avoided from taking for the benefit of the holding company or 
an affiliate of it in the past year of operation
There are no legal actions with a parent company, a company affiliated with the parent company, in favor of 
the the parent company or an affiliate of it at the direction of the parent company and no transactions taken 
or avoided to be taken for the benefit of the parent company or an affiliate of it in the previous operating year.

j. If a Company being a part of the Group of Companies; (i) Whether an Appropriate Countermeasure was 
Provided in each Legal Transaction, according to the circumstance and conditions known to them at the 
time when the Legal Action was Taken or the Measure was Taken or Avoided and Whether the Measure 
Taken or Avoided damaged the Company, if damaged, whether it was compensated  
Since there is no legal action mentioned in clause (i), no action was taken under this article.

k. Information on Legislative Changes that could affect Company Activities Significantly
There is no legislative change that could significantly affect the company’s activities.



86

The Board of Directors 
Activity Report For 2021

Annual Report 2021

l. Amendments to the Articles of Association during the Period and their Reasons
The registered capital ceiling increase of our company has been realized, the registered capital ceiling has been 
increased from TRY 900.000.000 to TRY 1.500.000.000 to be valid between 2021-2025, and in this context, Article 
6 of the Articles of Association titled capital has been amended. Because Capital Market law, Turkish Commercial 
Code and the matter of the transfer of management authorization in the relevant legislative framework happened 
with internal directives, in order to simplify, Article 12 with the title of the duties of the Board of Directors of the main 
agreement has been changed accordingly. Moreover, concerning the participation of the Board of debt holders, 
the implementation of the principles for the participation via electronic platforms to the general assembly has 
been added to Article 17 titled Meeting Place. of the Main Agreement. Approval was obtained from the Capital 
Markets Board in March and the amendments were registered on 14.07.2021 and announced at the Turkish 
Trade Registry Gazette on 27.07.2021.
 
m. Characteristics of the Company’s Production Units
The company carries out its productions at three factories in Bursa.

• Hasanağa Organized Industrial Zone Factory (Head Office)
 HMC H350 ( carcase , paint , montage ) Hasanağa Organized Industrial Site Factory (Headquarters) of 

Karsan vehicles ( paint , montage )  has a total area of 200 m², 90 m² indoor
• Hasanağa Organized Industrial Zone Factory (Branch)
 Hasanağa Organized Industrial Zone Factory (Branch), where the bodies of Karsan and Menarinibus branded 

vehicles are produced, has a total area of 16 thousand m², 10 thousand m² of which is closed area. 
•  Bursa Organized Industrial Zone Factory (Branch)
 Bursa Organized Industrial Zone (OSB) Factory, where tractor cabins, cataphoresis and spare parts are 

produced, has a total area of 29 thousand m², 20 thousand m² of which is a closed area. 

The units of the enterprises are listed below.
Hasanağa Organized Industrial Zone and Bursa Organized Industrial Zone Enterprises
•   Weld Production Unit 
•   Paint Production Unit
•   Assembly Production Unit
•   • LLF Assembly Production Unit

Bus Enterprise
•   Bus Body Production Unit
•   Paint Production Unit
•   Assembly Production Unit

Support Units for All Enterprises
•   Industrial Operations
    •    Production Üretim 

 •   Production Engineering
 •   Workforce Planning and WCM
 •   OSB Factory Production Management
 •   Project Directorate
 •   Environmental and Occupational Health and Safety Issues
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•   Purchasing 
  •   Infrastructure Purchasing
  •   Superstructure Purchasing
  •   Projects Purchasing
  •   Indirect Purchasing

•   • Financial Affairs and Finance
  •   Accounting 
  •   Budget Planning and Control
  •   Financing 
  •   Investor Relations 

•   Domestic Market Sales and Foreign Relations 
  •   Sales

•   Export
  •   Marketing and Export Operations

 o  Export Operations and Dealer Development
  •   After Sales and Spare Parts

 o  After Sales Services Export Operation 
 o  Export Technical Support and SSH Quality 
 o  Export Aftersales Region 
  o  Spare Parts Sales Support and Business Development
 o  Spare Parts Logistics and Planning
 o  Spare Parts Purchasing
 o  Warranty and Training
 o  Garage
 o  Spare Part 

•   Export Group 
  •   Export Country

•   R&D
  •   Product and Project
  •   System Engineering
  •   Product Cost Engineering
  •   E&E Systems

•   Human Resources
•   Quality
•   Corporate Risk Management and Internal Audit
•   Strategic Research and Planning
•   Legal Coordination Department
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SERMAYE PİYASASINDA FİNANSAL RAPORLAMAYA İLİŞKİN  
ESASLAR TEBLİĞİNE (II-14.1) İSTİNADEN HAZIRLANMIŞ  

2021 YILINA İLİŞKİN YÖNETİM KURULU FAALİYET RAPORU 

11 
 

 
• Ar-Ge 

▪ Ürün ve Proje 
▪ Sistem Mühendisliği 
▪ Ürün Maliyet Mühendisliği 
▪ E&E Sistemler 

 
• İnsan Kaynakları 

 
• Kalite 

 
• Kurumsal Risk Yönetimi ve İç Denetim 

 
• Stratejik Araştırma ve Planlama 

 
• Hukuk Koordinatörlüğü 

 

 

 

 

n. Ürünler 
 

KARSAN MARKA ARAÇLAR MODEL SEGMENT 

 

JEST Minibüs 

 
e-JEST Elektrikli Minibüs 

 
ATAK Otobüs (8 metre – şehir içi) 

 
e-ATAK Elektrikli Otobüs (8 metre – şehir 

içi) 

 

Autonomous e-
ATAK 

Elektrikli Otonom Otobüs (8 
metre – şehir içi) 

 
STAR Otobüs (8 metre – şehirler arası) 

 
e-ATA Elektrikli Otobüs (10 – 12 – 18 

metre) 

n. Products
 
KARSAN BRANDED VEHICLES MODEL  SEGMENT

JEST   Minibus

e-JEST   Electric Minibus

ATAK   Bus (8 meters – city center)

STAR   Bus (8 meters – intercity)

e-ATA   Electric Bus (10 – 12 – 18 meters)

H350

Citymood

e-ATAK 
 

Autonomous
e-ATAK  

Electric Bus  
(8 meters – city center)

Minibus

Pickup truck

Van

Diesel and CNG Bus  
(10 – 12 – 18 meters)

Electric Autonomous Bus  
(8 meters – city center)

HYUNDAİ BRANDED VEHICLES     MODEL     SEGMENT

MENARINIBUS BRANDED VEHICLES    MODEL                SEGMENT
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o. Productivity
        2021    2020 (*)
  Capacity Utilization Rate     17.2%    15.6%

(*) In 2020, the capacity was 19.870 vehicles / year.

The current capacity of our company is 19,930 vehicles / year. In 2021, a total of 3.437 vehicles were produced, 
achieving a capacity utilization rate of 17.2%. 

ö. Developments in Production and Sales
The production numbers of our company per product types in comparison with the previous period are shown below.

Product Type            2021 (Number)     2020 (Number)       Percentage of Change (%)
Karsan Diesel                  443                        533                     (17)
Karsan Electric                   145                          97                 49
Hyundai H350               2,758                      2.227                 24
Menarinibus                    91                         249                        (63)
TOTAL                3,437                       3,106                        12

The production numbers and proceeds of our company per the product types in comparison with the previous 
period are shown below. 

Product Type            2021 (Number)     2020 (Number)        Percentage of Change (%)
Karsan Diesel                  460                        504          (9)
Karsan Electric                   133                         106                 25
Hyundai H350               2,758                      2,227                 24
Menarinibus                    91                         249                        (63)
TOTAL                3,442                       3,086                        12
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Product Type            2021 (Number)     2020 (Number)       Percentage of Change (%)
             Sales Revenue       Sales Revenue 
          (Thousand TRY)  (Thousand TRY)
Karsan Diesel           233,523                        144,609                  61
Karsan Electric           401,998                   213,784                 88
Hyundai-H350 (*)          839,634      538,750                 56
Menarinibus              127,717                  406,696               (69)
Other (**)           497,368                      312,114                  59
TOTAL        2,100,240                 1,615,953                  30

(*) The compensation amount our Company was entitled within the scope of the HMC H350 project and the gross profit from financial 
sector activities were included in the Hyundai H350 revenue. 

(**) Other item consists of spare parts and material sales, Industrial services including cataphoresis coating, part printing, painting and 
cabinet manufacturing provided to the automotive main and sub-industry and sales of discontinued products.

p. Collective Labor Agreement Practices 
In 2021, as Karsan Otomotiv, no disputes or labor movements were observed during the period. The new term 
group collective bargaining agreement between the Turkish Metal Union and MESS, which will cover the period 1 
September 2021 - 31 August 2023, was signed on 12 January 2022.
According to the CMB’s Communiqué on Principles Regarding Financial Reporting (II.14.1), the Group’s provision 
for severance pay reserved at the end of the period is 61.575 Thousand TRY.

r. Information on Corporate Responsibility Activities Regarding Benefits of Employees, Vocational Training 
and Other Corporate Activities that Cause Social and Environmental Consequences:
In addition to wages and bonuses, our company employees are provided with cash benefits such as birth, 
death, marriage, child allowance, military service allowance, holiday allowance, paid leave allowance and in-
kind allowances such as food, transportation, clothing and cleaning allowance.

Internal and external trainings are planned in line with the needs of our employees. 42% of the trainings 
realized in 2021 consist of technical trainings, 17% Occupational Health and Safety, 11% Administrative/
Personal Development, 7% WCM Techniques, 17% Environmental/Energy Management Systems, 5% Quality 
Management Systems, 1% Information Security Management System trainings.
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Our company received ISO 14001 Environmental Management System Certificate for the first time in January 
2004. By ensuring zero errors in surveillance monitoring with our environmental management system has now 
switched to revision ISO 14001:2015 and has extended document validity to October 30, 2023. Karsan renewed 
its Environmental Permits for Hasanağa Factory on 18 April 2018 and Bursa OIZ Factory on 07 August 2018 
within the scope of the legislation activities of the Ministry of Environment and Urbanization. In addition, the 
“Industrial Waste Management Plan” approvals, which were renewed every two years, were renewed for both 
factories in 2021. In addition to the Karsan Environmental Management System, it established and documented 
the ISO 50001:2018 Energy Management System in March 2021.
Karsan complies with all environmental laws and regulations in the country in order to protect the environment 
and ensure its continuity; has established the Environmental Management System in order to keep its 
environmental impacts under control, to reduce these impacts and to continuously improve its environmental 
performance. Considering in terms of the environmental legislation, Karsan has fully complied with all legislation 
provisions issued within the scope of T.R. Environment and Urbanization and renewed its Environmental Permit 
on Air Emission on April 18, 2018 in this context. Within the scope of the company’s Environmental Management 
System activities; it is aimed to reduce the use of energy and natural resources and to reduce the amount of 
waste by supporting recycling activities. In this context, a reduction of 5.1 kg / vehicle contaminated wastes was 
achieved with 10 kaizen activities it carried out. After physical and chemical treatment, our wastewater is sent to 
the HOSAB Central Wastewater Treatment Plant and treated up to the values below the discharge limits to the 
receiving environment and the effluent analysis and controls are regularly carried out by the relevant authorities.
In addition to the Karsan waste management system, it adopted the Zero Waste Management System in 2020 
and received a Zero Waste Management Certificate issued by the T.R. Ministry of Environment and Urbanization. 
With the Zero Waste Management System, it evaluates all its wastes within the scope of 5R (reduce, reuse, 
recycle, refuse, recover) activities and zeroed the amount of waste sent for disposal. Moreover, in our facility, there 
is a Hazardous Waste Temporary Storage Area which meets the terms of the Waste Management Regulation, 
and also Field approval has been renewed on 26 March 2021 and date of validity has been extended until 2024. 
Our waste management system with zero disposal waste, is constantly improving its environmental performance 
by setting goals and objectives that reduce new environmental impact and energy consumption, consistently with 
the Company Environmental Policy. As part of its continuous improvement efforts, the company provides “Basic 
Environmental Awareness and Zero Waste Management” trainings to its employees every year and increases the 
environmental awareness of its employees.In 2021, the company provided environmental trainings through the 
TISK platform and provided training to approximately 600 people.  In addition, the Company aims to increase the 
environmental awareness of the local people, sub-industries and all employees in the region where it is established 
and organizes awareness-raising trainings and meetings with a continuous training approach. 
There are no lawsuits filed against the Company due to damages to the environment, and in line with Karsan 
Environmental policy, it aims to keep environmental impacts under control by complying with all environmental 
legislation in order to protect our environment and to ensure its continuity, to reduce these impacts and to 
continuously improve our environmental performance and to increase this awareness and to leave a livable and 
clean environment to future generations by carrying out all product and production activities with the “Operational 
Business Excellence”.
The company also established the Sustainability Management System in 2021 and carried out carbon footprint 
reduction activities. For the first time in 2021, it calculated Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 carbon emissions and 
started to carry out reduction projects accordingly. In addition, it entered data within the scope of the Carbon 
Disclosure Project (CDP) project within the scope of carbon emission and received a B-score in the first year.
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V. FINANCIAL STATUS
a. Summary of Financial Statements
The Financial Statements are consolidated according to the CMB Series II.14.1 and audited independently.
 
Summary Balance Sheet (Thousand TRY)
Assets                         31.12.2021              31.12.2020
Current Assets                          1,925,327                1,545,117
Fixed Assets                            1,811,939                 1,171,830
Total Assets                          3,737,266              2,716,947

Liabilities                        31.12.2021              31.12.2020
Short-Term Liabilities                         2,137,461               1,104,709
Long-Term Liabilities                          605,912                 884,072
Shareholders’ Equity                          993,893                  728,166
Total Liabilities                        3,737,266               2,716,947

Summary Income Statement (Thousand TRY)               31.12.2021              31.12.2021
Revenue (*)                          2,100,240               1,615,953
Gross Profit                              574,135                 474,038
Main operating profit /loss                          780,499                525,084
Profit/Loss for the Period                           108,278                   20,720

(*) The gross profit from finance sector activities is included in the revenue.

Total assets of the company has reached from 2.716.947 thousand TRY at the the end of 2020 to 3.737.266 
thousand TRY at the end of 2021 by increasing %27. The amount of revenue which was 1.615.953 thousand 
TRY in 2020, was 2.100.240 thousand TRY in 2021. The operating profit which was 525.084 thousand TRY 
in 2020, has reached 778.916 thousand TRY by increasing 33%.
When we compare it with the same period of the previous year, this increase in the operating profit of 2021 
is due to the increase in other revenues from the main activities. 
In line with the company’s goals of becoming an OEM and making our brand known internationally, the need 
for financing has increased as a result of its investment expenditures and measures have been taken against 
sudden increases and decreases in foreign exchange rates by keeping foreign currency debts under mutual 
control with receivables in order to reduce financial liabilities and not to be adversely affected by foreign 
exchange rates. In particular, it is aimed to reduce financing costs by finding resources at low cost with export-
based financial borrowing instruments. 

s. Information on Conflicts of Interest between the Company and the organizations from which it provides 
services such as Investment Consultancy and Rating, and the Measures taken by the Company to Prevent 
these Conflicts of Interest
In the Loan Rating Report dated 28 September 2021 prepared by JCR Avrasya Derecelendirme A.Ş. (JCR), the 
long-term and short-term national ratings of our Company have been confirmed as‘ A- (Trk) ‘and ‘A-1 (Trk) ‘, 
respectively, and their appearance regarding the ratings is confirmed as’ Stable ‘. The international ratings of our 
company are limited to the country rating. There is no conflict of interest between JCR and our Company. 
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b. Key Indicators and Ratios

Key Indicators (TRY)         2021               2020
Gross Profit Margin          0.27                0.29
Operating Profit Margin         0.37      032
Net Profit Margin          0.05     0.01

Liquidity Ratios          2021   2020
Current Ratio           0.90     1.40
Liquidity Ratio          0.75      1.24
Cash Ratio            0.05     0.06
  
Financial Structure Ratios        2021   2020
Total Debts / Equity          2.76     2.73
S.T. Liabilities / Total Assets         0.41     0.41
L.T. Liabilities / Total Assets         0.16     0.33
Tangible Fixed Asset / (Equity + L.T. Liabilities)      0.48     0.33

Profitability Ratios          2021   2020
Net Profit / Total Assets for the Period                  0.03              0.008
Net Profit / Equity for the Period          0.11     0.03
 
c. Determination and assessments of the governing body on whether the company’s capital remained 
uncovered or whether the company bankrupted
The company’s capital is not unrequited within the calculation, taking into account the Article 376 of TTK 
(Turkish Commercial Code).

d. Considered measures, if any, to improve the financial structure of the company:
Alternatives to various money and capital market instruments are evaluated for the short and long term 
financing needs of the company.

e. Information on the dividend distribution policy and the justification of not performing profit distribution, 
if not distributed, and recommendation on how to use retained profits:
The Company’s Profit Distribution Policy was approved with the Agenda Item 8 of 2013 Ordinary General 
Meeting which was held on 27 June 2014; and Publicly posted on the company’s website.  Profit Distribution 
Policy is given below. 

“Profit Distribution Policy
There is no privilege regarding participation in the company’s profit and distribution of dividends. Our company 
distributes profit within the framework of the provisions of the Turkish Commercial Code, Capital Market 
Legislation, Tax Legislation and other relevant legislation and the articles of association related to profit 
distribution. In determining the profit distribution, as long as the relevant regulations and financial possibilities 
allow, taking into account our long-term company strategy, investment and financing policies, profitability 
and cash position, the net distributable period profit, calculated within the framework of the Capital Market 
Regulations, is distributed to our shareholders in cash and / or in the form of free share at the maximum rate as 
long as it can be covered from our legal records.  The profit distribution is aimed to be made within 3 months 



94

The Board of Directors 
Activity Report For 2021

Annual Report 2021

at the latest following the General Assembly meeting, provided that the General Assembly meeting resolved 
for distribution and the General Assembly decides on the profit distribution date. Dividends may be paid in 
equal or different installments within the framework of the provisions of the legislation, provided that it is 
decided at the General Assembly meeting where the distribution is decided. Dividends are equally distributed 
to all existing shares as of the date of distribution, regardless of their date of issue and acquisition. The Board 
of Directors has adopted as a principle to take all measures in terms of place, time and form to ensure that 
the annual profit is delivered to the partners as soon as possible within the framework of the legislation. 
According to the Company’s Articles of Association; the Board of Directors may distribute advance dividends, 
provided that it is authorized by the General Assembly and complies with the Capital Market Regulations.” 
Consolidated profit amounting to 108.278 Thousand TRY has been generated as a result of the activities of 
the year of 2021 and there is no dividend that can be distributed after deducting the previous year’s loss.

f. Partnership’s Financing Sources
The company’s financing resources consist of the company’s equity, loans used, bonds issued to qualified 
investors and term deposit incomes.

g. Nature and Amount of Issued Capital Market Instruments
The debt instrument issuance was realized by our company on July 23, 2020 and October 5, 2020, concerning 
the issue limit of 400 Million TL which is approved by the Capital Markets Board on May 7, 2020, with decision 
no. 28/594 and where our controlling shareholder Kiraca holding A.Ş. has been listed as a guarantor for 
all payment obligations. Debt instruments, details of which are given in the table below, have been sold to 
qualified investors with coupon payment, variable interest and principal payment at the end of maturity every 
3 months. 

ISIN Code   Amount of Issue (Million TRY)       Maturity (days)             Redemption Date
TRSKRSN72212             29,7    728            July 21, 2022
TRSKRSN72311            42,8              1,093            July 21, 2023
TRSKRSNE2216           22,65   728      October 3, 2022

Necessary explanations regarding bond issuance and bond coupon payments are published on the Public 
Disclosure Platform and the Company’s website (www.karsan.com.tr) in accordance with the CMB legislation. silll

f. Information about the Sector in which the Company Operates, the Place of the Company in the Sector 
It is possible to summarize the developments in the sector and Karsan Otomotiv for 2021 as follows in line 
with the OSD data. Total vehicle production was 1.276.140 units in the January-December period of 2021 
with a contraction of 1.7% compared to the same period of 2020, while automobile production decreased by 
8,4% to 782.835.
Also covering our Company;
 • Compared to the previous year, Turkey’s Light Commercial Vehicle production contracted by 8.9% with 

46.870 units in the Minibus, while it increased by 8.5% with 2.216 units in the Midibus.
 • Compared to the previous year, Turkey Heavy Commercial Vehicle production increased by 29,5% for 

Buses by the amount of 5.567, by 88,5% for Panel Trucks with the amount of 3.922, and by 67,3% for 
Jaggernauts with the amount of 34.652.
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Turkey market commercial vehicle group, the sales of light commercial vehicals has realized as 175.497 with 
the growth of 7,8%. While the domestic light commercial vehicle sales in this group decreased by 5.8% to 
97,670 units, the imported light commercial vehicle sales grew by 31.9% to 77,827 units. The share of imports 
in the light commercial vehicle market was 44.3% in 2021.
With more than 55 years of experience in the automotive sector and flexible production capacity, Karsan 
offers turnkey commercial vehicle production solutions including design, engineering and production to the 
world’s distinguished brands and produces commercial vehicles under its own brand. 
The Company, which offers sustainable solutions in accordance with the mobility needs of the age, developed 
and presented the minibus Karsan e-JEST in 2018, the small bus Karsan e-ATAK in 2019, the autonomous bus 
e-ATAK at the beginning of 2021 and finally the electric bus series e-ATA in September 2021 in accordance 
with the European market. In this context, it continues its activities to comply with the features of the existing 
brands that will be introduced in the new model year and local regulation standards in order to be sold in new 
markets, especially in the European Union and the United States. Since 2019, 306 Karsan electric vehicles 
have been travelling all over the world in 16 different countries, especially France, Romania, Portugal and 
Germany. In the last 3 years, 90 percent of Turkey’s electric minibus and bus exports Karsan electric vehicles. 
An agreement has been reached between our company and Oyak Renault regarding the production of 
Renault Megane Sedan branded vehicles by Karsan and the contract has been signed as of August 2, 2021. 
The term of the said contract is five (5) years from the date of production commencement.  In accordance 
with the contract, it is planned to complete the necessary investments for the start of production in 1.5 years. 
The investment amount planned for the relevant production in Karsan plants is 210 million TRY. The said 
investment shall be in a manner that shall respond to the capacity of 55.000 units per year.
Due to the contract signed with Oyak Renault, the existing facilities of our Company had to be reorganized 
and it was decided to open a new branch due to the expansion of our activities. In the newly opened Bursa 
HOSAB Branch, the bodies of Karsan branded diesel, electric and autonomous vehicles and Menarinibus 
branded 10, 12 and 18 meters natural gas and diesel buses will be produced.
Regarding the “Tender of Buying 12 meters 63 Solo Buses and CNG fueled (natural gas) 18 meters 10 
Accordion Buses” Mersin Metropolitan Municipality Department of Transportation has requested a work 
increase by 20% within the article on work increase of the signed agreement. With the additional request, 
the number of vehicles to be delivered to the municipality has increased to 75 CNG fueled (natural gas), 12 
meters (Solo) and 12 CNG Fueled (natural gas), 18 meters (accordion) Buses, the total sale from the tender 
has increased to 113.4 million TRY.
Our company signed a contract in August 2021 for the tender for the purchase of 44 18-meter-long electric 
municipal buses opened by the Ministry of Regional Development and Public Administration of Romania to 
be used in the urban public transportation services of Timisoara Municipality. The supply of materials required 
for the 6-year maintenance of electric buses within the scope of the tender and the supply of charging station 
shall also be undertaken by the Company.
In 2021, an export revenue of 166.2 Million USD including export registered sales was obtained.
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VI. RISKS AND THEIR EVALUATION BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
a. Information on the risk management policy of the company to be applied against anticipated risks, if any
Karsan conducts its activities in a transparent, accountable, fair and responsible manner. The Board of Directors 
establishes internal control systems, including risk management, information systems and processes that can 
minimize the impacts of risks that may affect the stakeholders of the Company, especially the shareholders, by 
taking into account the opinions of the relevant Board committees.  Karsan Otomotiv Board of Directors manages 
and represents the Company by keeping the risk, growth and return balance of the Company at the most 
appropriate level with the strategic decisions it takes, with a rational and cautious risk management approach, 
considering the long-term interests of the Company.

b. Information on the activities and reports of the risk early detection and management committee if constituted
Karsan Otomotiv’s risk management and reporting responsibility is carried out under the leadership of the 
Corporate Risk Management and Internal Audit Department under the Headquarters, in coordination with other 
departments. Risks are questioned and evaluated in detail through workshops held periodically. The Risk Early 
Detection Committee, which was formed by being elected from the members of the Board of Directors, submitted 
6 reports to us in 2021. The Risk Early Detection Committee presents recommendations regarding early detection 
and evaluation of all kinds of risks, whether strategic, financial, operational etc., calculating their impacts and 
probabilities, managing and reporting these risks in accordance with the corporate risk taking profile of the 
Company, applying the necessary measures regarding the detected risks, taking them into account in decision 
mechanisms and establishing and integrating an effective internal control system in this line.

VII. REQUIRED INFORMATION REGARDING RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND THEIR BALANCES IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LEGISLATION AND THE RESULT OF THE AFFILIATE REPORT FOR THE YEAR OF 
2020 
In accordance with Article 199 of the Turkish Commercial Code numbered 6102, which entered into force on 1 
July 2012, Karsan Otomotiv Board of Directors is obliged to prepare a report on the relations of the company 
with the controlling shareholder and affiliates of the controlling shareholder in the previous operating year and 
include the conclusion section of this report in the annual report. Necessary explanations about Karsan Otomotiv’s 
transactions with the related parties are available in note No. 5 of the financial report.
It was concluded in the Report dated March 9, 2022, prepared by the Board of Directors of Karsan Otomotiv, that 
“In all transactions of Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş. with the controlling shareholder and the affiliates of 
the controlling shareholder in 2021, an appropriate counter action was provided in each transaction according to 
the conditions and circumstances known when the transaction was taken or the measure was taken or avoided 
and that there was no measures taken or avoided that may harm the company and that there were no actions or 
measures that require compensation within this framework.” silll  
Within the framework of the article 10, titled Common and Continuous Transactions, of the CMB Corporate 
Governance Communiqué (II-17.1);
• • A report was prepared by the Bord of Directors since it was anticipated that ratio of sales transactions, 

planned to be performed between our Company and Karsan İç ve Dış Ticaret A.Ş., all shares of which were 
owned by our Company, to the revenue amount, included in the financial statements for 2020, as the last 
annual financial statement publicly disclosed, in 2021, and the ration of the sales transactions, planned to 
be performed between Karsan İç ve Dış Ticaret A.Ş., all shares of which were owned by our Company, and 
Karsan Europe Srl, all shares of which were owned by our Company, to the revenue amount, included in the 
financial statements for 2020, in 2021, would reach a ratio more than 10% and the conclusion section of the 
report was published on the Public Disclosure Platform on December 30, 2021.

If it is predicted that the transactions to be performed in 2022 will reach the rates within the scope of the 
aforementioned communiqué, the report will be prepared and announced on the Public Disclosure Platform 
within the framework of the legislation. 
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VIII. OTHER ISSUES - INFORMATION TO SHAREHOLDERS
The Company, on January 6, 2022, has filed a revocation suit against the Public Procurement Authority decision 
for the bus tender opened by Kocaeli Metropolitan Municipality Transportation Office, and the decision has 
been made to reject the cancellation case, had announced on the Public Disclosure Platform in detail that the 
decision will be taken on the necessary means, also, on February 9, 2021, that upon the decision of Public 
Procurement Authority has applied to legal means against the decision of Kocaeli Metropolitan Municipality, 
that we have been also informed about the decision of suspension of execution of the decision on our suit 
against the Public Procurement Authority decision on the decision of Kocaeli Metropolitan Municipality 
dated February 9, 2021; that the decision was then partially accepted and the relevant part of the Public 
Procurement Authority has been decided to be canceled; in this context, that a review should be made by 
Public Procurement Authority for the part of the Public Procurement Authority decision that was canceled, 
that our rejection was denied in the review by Public Procurement Authority, and that the legal means against 
the decision in question will be applied. It has been announced by State Council, upon the decision to reject the 
first lawsuit at the beginning of the process on the Public Disclosure Platform, the cancellation of the decision 
of the court of first instance regarding the lawsuit filed by the Company and the cancellation of the lawsuit 
subject matter (the Public Procurement Authority decision mentioned in our Public Disclosure Platform on 
1.2.).
The Company has announced on KAP that,
On January 12, 2022, MESS (which the Company is a member of) reported that the agreement, which was 
the Group Collective Bargaining Agreement Report, was signed between the Turkish Metal Industrialists’ 
Union (MESS), the employer union in the metal business, and the Turkish Metal Union, covering the period 
between 01.09.2021 and 31.08.2023.
In summary, in the agreement;
- 10 percent increase in hourly wages for the first 6 months; 3.70 TRY/hour fixed raise will be applied after.
- It has been decided to increase wages by 30 percent for the second six months (in case the period inflation 

is higher, the difference will be added to the wage increase rate), and for the third and fourth six months, 
at the rate of CPI.

- It was announced that all social benefits were increased by 35 percent for the first year, in addition to the 
Eid al-Adha aid with an annual gross average of 236 TRY and at the rate of CPI for the second year.

The company submitted a bid to the tender opened by the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 
(EBRD) for Mersin Metropolitan Municipality on January 28, 2022, which includes the supply of 100 CNG 
fueled buses (70 solo, 30 articulated) and 2-year maintenance of the vehicles. It has been announced to the 
Public Disclosure Platform that the tender authority, where the bids will be evaluated by the EBRD and Mersin 
Metropolitan Municipality, to be evaluated by various criteria such as work experience, technical competence 
and cost, and that our Company has won the tender, and that the objection process regarding the tender 
continued. The tender was finalized and the Company was invited to sign the contract. In addition, a business 
increase regarding the said tender, addition of 14 solo type CNG buses, 4 articulated type CNG buses and 
2-year maintenance of these vehicles to the current contract with a cost of approximately 46.005.279 TRY 
(based on the exchange rate dated 22.12.2021) was announced with KAP.
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IX. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE REPORT
a. Corporate Governance Compliance Statement
With the Capital Markets Board’s (SPK) decision dated 10.01.2019 and numbered 2/49, the format to be taken 
as basis by the companies responsible for preparing the Corporate Governance Principles Compliance Report 
has been redefined within the scope of the Corporate Governance Communiqué numbered II-17.1 of the CMB. 
The Corporate Governance Compliance Report for the period of 2021 was prepared as “Corporate Governance 
Compliance Report (URF)” and “Corporate Governance Information Form (KYBF)” according to the aforementioned 
format and published on the Public Disclosure Platform. The notifications in question can be accessed from the 
links https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/1008936  and https://www.kap.org.tr/tr/Bildirim/1008935
Our company has complied with the mandatory principles of the CMB Corporate Governance Principles, maximum 
care has been paid to comply with the non-compulsory principles and efforts are continuing for compliance. 
Among the Corporate Governance Principles that are not mandatory as per the regulation, the main principles 
that have not yet been fully complied with are as follows. The principles that have not been implemented yet have 
not caused any conflict of interest between stakeholders.

• Regarding the principle numbered 1.5.2; minority rights have not been granted by the articles of association 
to those who have less than one-twentieth of the capital and rights parallel to the general practice in the 
Turkish Commercial Code have been provided.

• Regarding the principle numbered 4.2.8; the loss that may be caused by the faults of the members of the 
Board of Directors during their duties is insured and the insured sum is less than 25% of the Company’s 
capital.

• Regarding the principle numbered 4.3.9; a policy has not yet been determined to achieve these goals with 
a target rate and time of no less than 25% for the ratio of female members to take part on the Board of 
Directors. However, the composition of the board of directors is reviewed annually. This matter is taken into 
account in the determination process. Currently, there is one female member on the company’s board of 
directors.

• Regarding the principle numbered 4.4.5; the manner of holding the Board of Directors meetings is specified in 
the Company’s articles of association and has not been issued in a written form with an in-house regulation. 

• Regarding the principle numbered 4.4.7; due to the significant contribution of the sector-specific experiences 
of the members of the board of directors to our company, they are not restricted from taking other positions 
outside the company.

• Regarding the principle numbered 4.5.5; some of our board members are assigned to more than one committee 
considering the requirements that the chairmen of the committees be independent members, all members 
of the audit committee must be independent members, the chief executive officer / general manager cannot 
take part in committees and the knowledge and experience of our board members. 

• Regarding the principle numbered 4.6.5; the remuneration and all other benefits provided to the members of 
the Board of Directors and managers with administrative responsibilities are disclosed to the public through 
the annual report. Payments made are collectively disclosed to the public in line with the general practice.

b. Relations with Shareholders
i. Activities of Investor Relations Department 
In our company, the Investor Relations Department carries out its activities directly based to the Deputy General 
Manager of Financial Affairs and Finance. Necessary reports are submitted to the board of directors regarding 
the activities carried out. 
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The Investor Relations Department carries out activity to provide accurate, timely and consistent information 
about the Company to existing and potential investors; to increase the reputation and credibility of the 
Company; to reduce the capital cost of the Company in compliance with the Corporate Governance Principles 
and to ensure two-way communication between the Board of Directors and capital market participants. 
The Department promptly responds to the questions and information requests of the shareholders, with the 
exception of confidential and trade secret information, by working in coordination with the relevant units 
within the company. In this context, a total of 207 questions were received from individual investors by e-mail 
and telephone in 2021, and these questions were answered in writing or orally, taking into account the 
“principle of equality in information”.  During the period, our company held 4 online meetings with analysts 
and institutional investors and a total of 40 sector representatives participated in these meetings. In addition, 
2 physical meetings and 1 online meetings were held with analysts, and 10 interviews/correspondence were 
held with institutional investors and analysts.
The Company Disclosure Policy is based on the principles of equal treatment in exercise of all capital market 
participants to exercise their rights to obtain and review information and making explanations simultaneously 
and with the same content. The company makes an urgent public disclosure on the Public Disclosure Platform 
about developments that may affect the exercise of shareholders’ rights and shares information within the 
scope of the content disclosed to the public. Information and explanations are available up to date on the 
Company website for investors’ information. 

Investor Relations Unit Contact Information:
Phone Number  : +90 224 484 21 80
Fax No     : +90 224 484 21 69
E-mail      : yatirimciiliskileri@karsan.com.tr

ii. General Assembly Meetings
The announcement for the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting for 2020 has been made before minimum 3 
weeks from the meeting date, within the legal time limit. The meeting date, place and agenda are announced 
in the Turkish Trade Registry Gazette, MKK’s Electronic General Assembly System (EGKS), KAP and the 
Company’s website (www.karsan.com.tr). Along with the announcement of the General Assembly meeting, in 
addition to the notifications and explanations required to be made by the Company as per the legislation, the 
General Assembly Information Document, prepared in accordance with 1.3.1, one of the mandatory articles of 
Corporate Governance Principles, was published on the PDP, website of the Company and Electronic General 
Assembly System of MKK.
Our Ordinary General Assembly meeting was held on May 27, 2021 at the Company head office located 
at Hasanağa Organize Sanayi Bölgesi, Sanayi Caddesi 16225 Nilüfer / BURSA, in accordance with the 
applicable legislation, articles of association and other internal regulations and the General Assembly, which 
could be electronically participated via EGKS in addition to physical participation, was held with a quorum of 
66.29%.

Investor Relations Department        Title  License Type
    

   

Investor Relations 
Manager, 
Corporate 
Governance 
Committee 
Member and Legal 
Coordinator

Capital Market Activities Level 3 License 
(License no: 214089); Corporate Governance 
Rating License (License no: 701018); Derivative 
Instruments License  (License no: 309889); 
Credit Rating License (License no: 600838); 
Real Estate Valuation License (License no: 
411064)

İbrahim Onur
Baysal
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c. Structure and Activities of the Board of Directors

The CVs of the Board Members and the CEO and the external duties of the Board Members are explained in 
ANNEX / 1, with the distinction between group and non-group. In addition, the independence statements of 
our Independent Board Members are included in ANNEX / 2.
In accordance with the provisions of the Corporate Governance Communiqué, the duties of the Nomination 
Committee are carried out by the Corporate Governance Committee. Nevzat Tüfekçioğlu, Müfit Ataseven and 
Ayşe Belma Öztürkkal were nominated by the Corporate Governance Committee as candidate Independent 
Board Members and the report prepared in this line, regarding whether the candidates meet the independence 
criteria, was submitted to the Board of Directors on 27.04.2021. Mufit Ataseven and Ayşe Belma Öztürkkal 
were announced as the candidate Independent Board Members pursuant to the Board resolution No. 
2021/15, dated 27.04.2021 on the PDP together with the announcement of the general assembly meeting 
for submissiom to the General Assembly and curriculum vitaes of the candidate members were published 
through the General Assembly Information document. Ordinary General Meeting of our Company held on 
27.05.2021
Mufit Ataseven and Ayşe Belma Öztürkka were elected as the members of the Board of Directors. However, 
Mr. Ayşe Belma Öztürkkal resigned from the board of directors on 19.11.2021 at her own will.     
The Board of Directors met 14 times in 2021 and a total of 34 resolutions were adopted at these meetings. 
The members participated in the meetings to a large extent. Participation and invitation to the meeting are 
made essentially when the businesses of the company require and the Board of Directors convenes. 

Board Members    Position - Executive / Non-executive / Independent Member
İnan Kıraç    Chairperson of the Board - Non-Executive
Giancarlo Boschetti    Deputy Chairperson of the Board of Directors - Non-Executive
Okan Baş    Board of Directors Managing Director - Executive
Nevzat Tüfekçioğlu    Board Member - Independent 
Müfit Ataseven     Board Member - Independent 
Mehmet Altan Sungar    Board Member - Non-Executive
Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok    Board Member - Non-Executive
Muhsin Mengütürk    Board Member - Non-Executive

d. Number, Structure and Independence of Committees Established on the Board of Directors
 
Members of the Audit Committee  Duty on the Committee - Qualifications (Executive / Non-Executive / Independent Member)
Nevzat Tüfekçioğlu   Committee Chairperson - Independent Member
Müfit Ataseven    Committee Member - Independent Member

Members of Corporate Governance Committee Duty on the Committee - Qualifications (Executive / Non-Executive / Independent Member)
Müfit Ataseven    Committee Chairperson - Independent Member
Muhsin Mengütürk   Committee Member - Non-Executive
İbrahim Onur Baysal (*)   Committee Member - Executive Member

(*) Within the framework of Article 11 of the Corporate Governance Communiqué No. SPK II-17.1, the Investor Relations Department 
Director has been appointed to the Corporate Governance Committee.

Members of Early Risk Detection Committee Duty on the Committee - Qualifications (Executive / Non-Executive / Independent Member)
Nevzat Tüfekçioğlu    Committee Chairperson - Independent Member
Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok   Committee Member - Non-Executive
Mehmet Altan Sungar   Committee Member - Non-Executive
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The company has reviewed its ESG poli-
cies and established the necessary policies 
within the scope of the Sustainability Project 
that it started in 2021. In this context, the 
Company has publicly disclosed its “Quality 
Policy”, “Climate and Environmental Policy”, 
“Occupational Health and Safety Policy”, 
“Information Security Policy”, “Human Re-
sources Policy”, “Gender Equality Policy”, 
“Zero Tolerance to Violence Policy”, “Ener-
gy Policy”, “Ethical Code of Conduct”, “An-
ti-Bribery and Corruption Policy” on the PDP 
and on the Company’s website by linking it 
to the decision of the Board of Directors.
On the other hand, within the scope of cor-
porate governance compliance activities, 
the “Disclosure Policy”, Stakeholders Policy 
“,” Remuneration Policy “,” Profit Distribution 
Policy “,” Donation and Aid Policy “,” Employ-
ee Compensation Policy” have also been 
made available to the public on the cor-
porate website. Among these policies, the 
“Profit Distribution Policy” and “Donation 
and Aid Policy” have been put into force by 
approval of the General Assembly and the 
“Disclosure Policy”, “Remuneration Policy”, 
“Stakeholders Policy”, “Employee Compen-
sation Policy” have been put into effect with 
the knowledge of the General Assembly.

https://www.kap.org.
tr/tr/Bildirim/987551

https://www.karsan.
com/tr/kurumsal/kar-
sanhakkinda/
politikalarimiz

https://www.karsan.
com/tr/kurumsal/kar-
sanhakkinda/
politikalarimiz

The Board of Directors determines 
ESG priority issues, risks and op-
portunities and creates ESG pol-
icies accordingly. In terms of the 
effective implementation of these 
policies; partnership internal direc-
tives, business procedures etc. can 
be prepared. The Board of Directors 
adopts resolutions for these policies 
and discloses them to the public.

A1. STRATEGY, POLICY  
AND OBJECTIVES

A. GENERAL PRINCIPLES

The principles of duty and activity related to the Board Committees have been published on the Public 
Disclosure Platform and in the “Investor Relations” page of  www.karsan.com.tr.
During the period, the Audit Committee continued its activities within the framework of CMB legislation 
regulations and the Principles of Duty and Activity such as the election of the independent audit body, public 
disclosure of financial statements, fund usage report for use of the fund obtained from capital increase and 
prepared 6 reports during the period. During the period, the Corporate Governance Committee continued its 
activities within the framework of the CMB legislation regulations and Principles of Duty and Activity such as 
the preparation of the Corporate Governance Compliance Report, the oversight of the Activities of the Investor 
Relations Department, the election of Independent Board Candidate Members within the framework of the 
Nomination Committee function and the activities of the Remuneration Committee within the framework of 
the Remuneration Committee function and prepared 8 reports. During the period, the Risk Early Detection 
Committee continued its activities within the framework of CMB legislation regulations and the Principles of 
Duty and Activity and prepared 6 reports.
Due to the obligation of committee chairmen to be independent members of the board of directors, Mr. Nevzat 
Tüfekçioğlu chaired the Audit Committee and the Early Detection of Risk Committee, while Mr. Müfit Ataseven 
chaired the Corporate Governance Committee.

X. SUSTAINABILITY PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE FRAMEWORK

Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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The Company made its Sustainability Re-
port for 2020 public in June 2021. In this 
context, the company has created ESG poli-
cies, followed up risks and opportunities and 
determined partnership strategies. How-
ever, the company has not yet announced 
its short and long-term goals to the public, 
and it is planned to set short and long-term 
goals within the sustainability activities to 
be carried out in 2022.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 16)

The Company has identified the commit-
tees/units responsible for the conduct of its 
policies and disclosed them to the public in 
the Sustainability Report. 
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 12)

The company has not yet created and dis-
closed to the public the implementation 
and action plans created in line with short 
and long-term goals. Within the scope of 
Sustainability activities to be carried out in 
2022, implementation and action plans are 
planned to be prepared and disclosed to the 
public.

Along with sustainability activities, KPIs 
are explained comparatively on a yearly 
basis. Since local and international sector 
data are not verifiable, KPIs cannot be com-
pared with sector data. If verifiable data are 
reached, KPIs will be compared with sector 
data.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 56)

The company incorporated the Sustaina-
bility Management System into its organ-
ization in 2021. In addition, the Company 
has announced its Environment and Energy 
investments and remedial innovation activi-
ties in its Sustainability Report for 2020. 
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 36)

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

-

-

https: //www.kar-
san.com/Download/
files/KARSAN%20
S U R D U R U L E B I -
LIRLIK%20RAPO-
RU%202020.pdf

https: //www.kar-
san.com/Download/
files/KARSAN%20
S U R D U R U L E B I -
LIRLIK%20RAPO-
RU%202020.pdf

It determines the Partnership Strat-
egy appropriate to the ESG poli-
cies, risks and opportunities It de-
termines and publicly discloses its 
short and long-term goals in line 
with the partnership strategy and 
ESG policies.

It determines the committees / units 
responsible for the implementation 
of ESG policies and makes them 
public. The responsible committee 
/ unit reports the activities carried 
out within the scope of the policies 
to the Board of Directors at least 
once a year and in any case within 
the maximum periods specified for 
the public disclosure of the annual 
reports in the relevant regulations of 
the Board.

It prepares implementation and 
action plans in line with the deter-
mined short and long term goals 
and makes them public.

It determines and discloses the ESG 
Key Performance Indicators (KPI) 
per years on a comparative basis. It 
provides KPIs with local and inter-
national sector comparisons in the 
presence of verifiable data.

It discloses the innovation activities 
that improve the sustainability per-
formance for business processes or 
products and services.

A2. IMPLEMENTATION / MONITORING

Partially 
Yes.

Yes

No 

Yes

Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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The Company has created a Corporate So-
cial Responsibility page with the 2019 Dig-
ital Annual Report, and in this section, the 
Company has shared its understanding of 
environment, climate change, occupational 
health and safety and social responsibility 
with its stakeholders. In addition, the Com-
pany publicly announced the Sustainability 
Report prepared for the first time in 2021 on 
the PDP and its website.
(2020 Annual Report, pages 60-71)
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 1-64)

The company presents important infor-
mation in terms of understanding its posi-
tion, performance and development to the 
stakeholders on a quarterly basis through 
the annual report and financial statement 
notes. In addition, the Company presenta-
tion, prepared quarterly to meet the needs 
of stakeholders through special event dis-
closures made on the Public Disclosure 
Platform within the framework of the Dis-
closure Policy, is made available to the pub-
lic via the corporate website (www.karsan.
com.tr). In addition, the Company publicly 
announced the Sustainability Report pre-
pared for the first time in 2021 on the PDP 
and its website.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 1-64)

The company pays utmost attention to 
transparency and reliability. An objective 
approach is pursued in the disclosures and 
reports with the responsibility of being a 
public company. In addition, the Company 
publicly announced the Sustainability Re-
port prepared for the first time in 2021 on 
the KAP and its website.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 1-64)

In 2021, the company announced which 
of the UN 2030 Sustainable Development 
Goals are associated with.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 11)

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/fi-
les/2020%20YILI%20
FAALIYET%20RAPO-
RU.pdf

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

https://www.karsan.
com/tr/yatirimci-ilis-
kileri/kurumsal-yone-
tim/ortaklik-yapisi-ya-
tirimci-iliskileri

https: //www.kar-
san.com/Download/
files/KARSAN%20
S U R D U R U L E B I -
LIRLIK%20RAPO-
RU%202020.pdf

https: //www.kar-
san.com/Download/
files/KARSAN%20
S U R D U R U L E B I -
LIRLIK%20RAPO-
RU%202020.pdf

It reports its sustainability perfor-
mance, goals and actions at least 
once a year and makes it public. It 
discloses the information on sus-
tainability activities within the scope 
of the annual report. 

It is essential to share information 
that is important for stakeholders 
in understanding the position, per-
formance and development of the 
partnership in a direct and concise 
manner. It can also explain detailed 
information and data on the corpo-
rate website and prepare separate 
reports that directly meet the needs 
of different stakeholders. 

It pays utmost attention to trans-
parency and reliability It objectively 
explains all kinds of developments 
about material issues in disclosures 
and reports within the scope of the 
balanced approach.

It provides information about which 
of the United Nations (UN) 2030 
Sustainable Development Goals its 
activities are related to.

A3. REPORTING

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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Important lawsuits, if any, are disclosed in 
the “Information on Lawsuits Filed Against 
the Company That May Affect the Com-
pany’s Financial Status and Activities and 
Their Possible Consequences” in the Annual 
Report of the Company. There are no law-
suits filed and/or concluded against envi-
ronmental, social and corporate governance 
issues during the period.
(2020 Annual Report, page 82)

No. 
The company has not yet made a public 
statement about its sustainability perfor-
mance measurements, and the issue will 
be evaluated within the scope of the 2022 
Sustainability Project.

The company has ISO 14001 standard 
since 2004. In 2018, it completed the ISO 
14001: 2015 transition period. In this con-
text, the policies that determine the bound-
aries of the Environmental Management 
System have been established. In addition, 
environmental risk and opportunity analyz-
es are performed regularly and actions are 
taken according to the identified risks and 
opportunities. Activities are carried out on 
all items of the standard. In 2021, the com-
pany integrated ISO 14001 and ISO 45001 
Management systems. In addition, ISO 
50001 Energy Management System was 
established and certified in 2021. For this 
reason, the Company aims to keep the ener-
gy dimensions of its environmental impacts 
under control and to continuously improve 
them.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 35-40)

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/fi-
les/2020%20YILI%20
FAALIYET%20RAPO-
RU.pdf

-

https: //www.kar-
san.com/Download/
files/KARSAN%20
S U R D U R U L E B I -
LIRLIK%20RAPO-
RU%202020.pdf

It makes a disclosure regarding 
the lawsuits filed and / or finalized 
against the Company regarding en-
vironmental, social and corporate 
governance issues.

If verified by independent third par-
ties (independent sustainability as-
surance providers), it discloses its 
sustainability performance meas-
urements to the public and endeav-
ors to increase such verification pro-
cesses.

It discloses the policies and prac-
tices, action plans, environmental 
management systems (known with 
the ISO 14001 standard) and pro-
grams in the field of environmental 
management.

A4. VERIFICATION

B. ENVIRONMENTAL PRINCIPLES

Yes

No

Partially 
Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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The company complies with environmen-
tal laws and other relevant regulations 
and discloses them to the public through 
the Annual Report. Within the scope of 
Environmental Legislation; it has the EIA 
Positive Certificate for Automotive Facto-
ry dated 09.06.1998 and numbered 362-
4459, Environmental Permit on Air Emission 
dated 18.04.2018 and numbered 3584, 
Industrial Waste Management Plan within 
the scope of Waste Management Regula-
tion, Emission Measurement Report dat-
ed 11.09.2020 within the scope of SKKHK 
Regulation, Wastewater Connection Permit 
dated 06.08.2019 within the scope of Wa-
ter Pollution and Control Regulation. The 
EIA certificate obtained is valid indefinitely 
unless the capacity is increased and the En-
vironmental Permit is valid until 18.04.2023, 
the Waste Management Plan is valid until 
2023 and the Air Emission Measurement 
Report is valid until 11.09.2022.
(2020 Annual Report, pages 87)

The company published its first Sustainabili-
ty Report in July 2021. All Karsan production 
processes are included in the report. When 
examined as environmental processes, 
Hazardous/Non-Hazardous waste man-
agement processes, energy management 
processes, greenhouse gas and other emis-
sion processes are included in the report. Al-
though the reporting period is 2020, Karsan 
included its data for the last 5 years in the 
report in order to measure and monitor. Re-
porting data were their own data and GRI 
approval was obtained, but the data were 
not verified by independent organizations.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 2)

The company has publicly announced in its 
Sustainability Report for 2020 the highest 
level of responsibility, relevant committees 
and duties in the partnership on environ-
ment and climate change. 
(Sustainability Report, page 12)

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/fi-
les/2020%20YILI%20
FAALIYET%20RAPO-
RU.pdf

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

It complies with environmental laws 
and other relevant regulations and 
discloses them.

It discloses the limitation, reporting 
period, reporting date, data acqui-
sition process and reporting condi-
tions of the environmental report to 
be included in the report to be pre-
pared within the scope of the Sus-
tainability Principles.

It discloses the highest level respon-
sible person, relevant committees 
and their duties in the partnership 
on the issue of environment and cli-
mate change.

Yes

Yes

Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK



106

The Board of Directors 
Activity Report For 2021

Annual Report 2021

The company sets Kaizen targets in line 
with its continuous improvement efforts 
to support its sustainable development. In 
this context, the Company has announced 
the incentives it offers for the management 
of environmental issues, including the real-
ization of the targets in the Sustainability 
Report for 2020 and the Activity Report for 
2020. A Kaizen award system has been es-
tablished throughout the company in order 
to support the Kaizen process activities of 
the employees and employees who were 
successful in Kaizen activities were reward-
ed. Within the scope of these studies, a 
total of 1,433 Kaizen studies were carried 
out in 2021, 15 of which were Major, 436 
were Standard, and 982 were Before-Af-
ter Kaizens. It has been converted to kaizen 
and the process has been completed. With-
in the scope of the studies, 75 employees 
were awarded with gift certificates for the 
best Kaizen, 258 employees were awarded 
as Kaizen, and 187 employees were recog-
nized with instant awards such as agendas 
and plaques.
(2020 Annual Report, pages 101)
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 21)

Although not disclosed to the public, envi-
ronmental risks have been integrated into 
the system and environmental risks closing 
performances are reflected to the unit per-
formances. In addition, environmental and 
energy losses are recorded in the waste 
and loss analysis portal within the scope of 
WCM. The minimization of the loss is tar-
geted by assigning an annual project and 
responsible person for the determined loss-
es.

The company shared its sustainability per-
formance and improvement activities for its 
products and services with the public with 
the Sustainability Report for 2020 published 
in 2021.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 28)

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/fi-
les/2020%20YILI%20
FAALIYET%20RAPO-
RU.pdf

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

-

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

It discloses the incentives it offers for 
the management of environmental 
issues, including the achievement of 
objectives.

It discloses how environmental 
problems are integrated into busi-
ness goals and strategies.

It discloses the sustainability perfor-
mances for business processes or 
products and services and activities 
to improve such performance.

Yes

No

Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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Although not disclosed to the public, within 
the scope of WCM Environment and Energy 
pillar (title), the Company’s relationship with 
the environment is systematically improved, 
starting from compliance with legal require-
ments, it is aimed to minimize the adverse 
impact of the company on the environ-
ment with the goal of zero waste.  In addi-
tion, within the scope of the Subcontractor 
Management System, the environmental 
trainings and environmental activities of the 
suppliers are followed and the ISO 14001 
and Environmental Permit activities of the 
supplier companies are questioned. Karsan 
plans to commission the Green/Responsible 
Supply system in 2022 and aims to improve 
its existing processes.

In its Activity Report for 2020, the Company 
announced that it is a member of the OSD 
Environment Committee, a member of the 
BTSO Environment and Climate Committee, 
a vice president of the OSD Energy Efficien-
cy Committee, and that it has memberships 
in the appropriate disposal of battery and 
battery wastes with TAPDER and AKÜDER.  
In addition, Karsan representatives also took 
part in the OSD Sustainability Committee in 
2021 and contributed to the writing of the 
first Sustainability Report issued by OSD.
(2020 Annual Report, pages 102)

In 2021, Karsan determined Greenhouse 
gas emissions as Scope 1, Scope 2 and 
Scope 3 (as pilot). In this context, green-
house gas emissions tend to decrease in all 
3 types of scope. Within the scope of sus-
tainability activities, Karsan aims to contin-
uously follow these processes since 2021.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 33, 39, 
40)

-

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/fi-
les/2020%20YILI%20
FAALIYET%20RAPO-
RU.pdf

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

It discloses how it manages environ-
mental issues along the partnership 
value chain and how it integrates 
suppliers and customers into its 
strategies, not just in terms of direct 
operations.

It discloses whether it is involved in 
policy-making processes on envi-
ronmental issues (sectoral, regional, 
national and international); its coop-
eration with the associations, relat-
ed organizations and non-govern-
mental organizations of which it is a 
member on the subject of environ-
ment and the duties it has assumed, 
if any, and the activities it supports.

In the light of environmental in-
dicators (Greenhouse gas emis-
sions (Scope-1 (Direct), Scope-2 
(Energy indirect), Scope-3 (Oth-
er indirect) ), air quality, energy 
management, water and waste-
water management, waste man-
agement, biodiversity impacts), it 
periodically reports comparable 
information on its environmental 
impacts.

No

Yes

Yes

1 Scope 1 Direct Greenhouse Gas Emission  

Greenhouse gas emission from greenhouse gas sources owned or controlled by an organization.

• Stationary incineration (boiler, furnace, turbine, heater, incinerator, engine etc.)

• Mobile incineration (automobile, truck, ship, aeroplane, etc.)

• Process emission (CO2 from calcination in cement production, catalytic cracking in petrochemical industry)

• CO2 originating from the process, PFC in aluminum melting (such as perfluorocarbon emission)

• Leakage emissions (e.g. from equipment connections, wastewater treatment plant, cooling towers, gas processing plants)

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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1 (more) Scope 2 Energy indirect greenhouse gas emission 
Greenhouse gas emission produced during the generation of electricity, heat or steam consumed by an organization through 
outsourcing
Scope 3 Other indirect greenhouse gas emission 
Apart from energy indirect greenhouse gas emission, greenhouse gas emission arising from greenhouse gas sources owned 
or controlled by other organizations as a result of an organization’s activities

Karsan has calculated greenhouse gas 
emissions by obtaining consultancy services 
from independent organizations as Scope 1, 
Scope 2 and Scope 3. The prepared report 
has been prepared in the light of ISO 14064 
management system. ISO 14064 accredi-
tation is also available for the organization 
providing consultancy services. In addition, 
GRI approval was obtained for the data in-
cluded in the Sustainability Report for 2020.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 33, 61, 
62)

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

It discloses the standard, protocol, 
methodology and base year de-
tails used to collect and calculate its 
data.

Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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The company started to publish its environ-
mental indicators in its Sustainability Report 
for 2020, which was published in 2021.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 37, 38, 
39, 40)

The company has not yet made public the 
targets it has set to reduce environmental 
impacts. Target work is planned to be car-
ried out in the coming periods.

The company has not yet publicly an-
nounced its strategy and actions to com-
bat the climate crisis. In the coming periods, 
the strategy of combating the climate crisis 
and public disclosure of its actions will be 
re-evaluated.

In the Company Sustainability Report, it 
describes the procedures to prevent or 
minimize the potential negative effects of 
the products it offers during the production 
phase. In addition, the Company carried 
out a pilot-scale Scope 3 study to achieve 
a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions of 
third parties and mentioned its results in the 
sustainability report.
Karsan aims to initiate responsible procure-
ment activities within the scope of sustaina-
bility activities in 2022.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 37)

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

-

-

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

It discloses the status of the environ-
mental indicators for the reporting 
year (increase or decrease) in com-
parison with previous years.

It sets short and long-term goals to 
reduce their environmental impacts 
and discloses these goals. It is rec-
ommended that these goals be set 
on the basis of Science as recom-
mended by the United Nations Cli-
mate Change Parties Conference. 
If there is progress in the reporting 
year according to the targets set be-
fore, it provides information on the 
subject.

It discloses the strategy and actions 
to combat the climate crisis.

It discloses the programs or proce-
dures for preventing or minimizing 
the potential adverse impact of the 
products and / or services it offers; it 
discloses the actions of third parties 
to reduce greenhouse gas emission 
volumes.

 

Yes

No

No

Partially 
Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
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COMPLIANCE 
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The company aims to minimize the envi-
ronmental impacts by assigning projects for 
both WCM and ISO Environmental and En-
ergy management system activities. In ad-
dition, the company has announced these 
actions and projects in the 2020 Sustain-
ability Report with environmental benefits/
gains and cost savings.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 33, 39, 
40)

In its activity report for 2020, the company 
announced that solar energy investment 
opportunities for self energy need have 
started feasibility activities..
(2020 Annual Report, pages 103)

In the reporting year, the amount of energy 
production is 0 (zero) and the energy con-
sumption data is explained in the Sustain-
ability Report.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 37)

The Company has presented the Direct 
(Scope – 1) and indirect (Scope – 2) ener-
gy consumption data comparatively in the 
Sustainability Report.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 37)

The company does not have renewable en-
ergy generation and consumption. There-
fore, it does not have any disclosure about 
the subject.

The Company established and certified the 
ISO 50001 Energy Management System in 
March 2021. In addition, Karsan reduces 
energy consumption and related green-
house gas emissions by carrying out energy 
efficiency projects. Project details, energy 
consumption and emission consumption 
information are shared in the 2020 Sustain-
ability Report.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 38)

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/fi-
les/2020%20YILI%20
FAALIYET%20RAPO-
RU.pdf

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

-

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

It discloses the actions taken to re-
duce its environmental impacts, the 
total number of projects and initia-
tives carried out by it and the envi-
ronmental benefits / interests and 
cost savings provided by them.

It conducts activities for increasing 
the use of renewable energy, 
transition to zero or low carbon 
electricity and discloses these 
activities..

It provides information on electricity, 
heat, steam and cooling generated 
and consumed in the reporting year

It reports the total energy consump-
tion data (excluding raw materials) 
and discloses the energy consump-
tion as Scope-1 and Scope-2.

It discloses the renewable energy 
production and usage data.

It makes energy efficiency projects 
and discloses the amount of 
energy consumption and emission 
reduction thanks to these activities.

Yes

Partially 
Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
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COMPLIANCE 
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In its Sustainability Report for 2020, the 
Company reported the amounts, resources 
and procedures of water withdrawn, used, 
recycled and discharged from the ground 
or above ground. However, considering the 
year 2021, the use of groundwater of the 
Company is 45.737 m3. The amount of wa-
ter recovered and reused in 2021 is 0 (zero) 
and all of the water used is passed through 
the Wastewater Treatment Plant and dis-
charged to the Wastewater Treatment 
Plant of the OIZ Directorate.
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 39)

The company is not included in the carbon 
pricing system and does not have any dis-
closure on the subject.

The company has not received any carbon 
credits. Therefore, it does not have any dis-
closure about the subject.

Carbon pricing is not applied in the compa-
ny. Therefore, it does not have any disclo-
sure about the subject.

Although the company does not disclose 
the environmental performance data to the 
public, it reports the environmental perfor-
mance data to the Ministry of Environment, 
Urbanization and Climate Change every 
year and the energy performance data to 
the Ministry of Energy and Natural Resourc-
es every year. It also sends Environmental 
and Energy performance data on an an-
nual basis to the Automotive Manufactur-
ers Association. However, these data are 
not shared with the public except for the 
members of the Environment and Energy 
committee. However, in 2021, Karsan an-
nounced all sustainability indicators, main-
ly greenhouse gas emission data, within 
the scope of the Carbon Disclosure Project 
(CDP) and in the Borsa Istanbul Sustaina-
bility index.

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

-

-

-

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
CDP_Report_v0.pdf

It reports the amounts, sources and 
procedures of water withdrawn, 
used, recycled and discharged from 
underground or above ground (Total 
water withdrawal by source, water 
sources affected by water with-
drawal; percentage and total vol-
ume of recycled and reused water, 
etc.).

It discloses whether the operations 
or activities are included in any car-
bon pricing system (Emission Trad-
ing System, Cap & Trade or Carbon 
Tax).

It discloses the carbon credit infor-
mation accumulated or purchased 
during the reporting period.

It discloses the details if carbon pric-
ing is applied within the partnership.

It discloses all compulsory and vol-
untary platforms where it discloses 
environmental information.

Yes

No

No

No

Partially 
Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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The Human Resources Policy disclosed 
to the public by the company undertakes 
to comply with the applicable national le-
gal regulations, the standards published 
by the International Workers Organization 
(ILO), The Universal Declaration of Human 
Rights, the United Nations conventions, to 
ensure the continuity of this compliance 
and to continuously improve the practices. 
With this, the Company signed the proto-
col together with the International Labor 
Organization (ILO) on “the development of 
equality between men and women and in-
creasing women’s employment in 2019”, in 
partnership with the UN Global Compact 
(UN Global Compact) and the UN Gender 
Equality and Women’s Empowerment Unit 
(UN Women) in 2020 “Women’s Empower-
ment Principles”, and adopted the “Gender 
Equality Policy” and “Zero Tolerance to Vi-
olence Policy” in the last quarter of 2020. In 
December 2021, the necessary applications 
to become a “UN Global Compact Signato-
ry” have been completed and acceptance is 
awaited.

The company’s current Human Resourc-
es Policy is designed to include the issues 
of fair labor, improving working standards, 
women’s employment and inclusion. There-
fore, the Company provides equal opportu-
nities in recruitment processes.

https://www.kap.org.
tr/tr/Bildirim/987551

https://www.karsan.
com/tr/kurumsal/kar-
san-hakkinda/politi-
kalarimiz

https://www.kap.org.
tr/tr/Bildirim/987551

https://www.karsan.
com/tr/kurumsal/kar-
san-hakkinda/politi-
kalarimiz

It establishes a Corporate Human 
Rights and Employee Rights Policy 
in which full compliance with the 
Universal Declaration of Human 
Rights, ILO Conventions ratified by 
Turkey and the legal framework 
and legislation governing human 
rights and working life in Turkey is 
committed. It discloses the policy in 
question and the roles and respon-
sibilities associated with implemen-
tation of the policy.

It provides equal opportunity in re-
cruitment processes. Taking into 
account the effects of supply and 
value chain, it includes the issues of 
fair workforce, improving working 
standards, women’s employment 
and inclusion (such as non-discrim-
ination based on women, men, re-
ligious beliefs, language, race, eth-
nicity, age, disability, refugees, etc.) 
in its policies.

C1. HUMAN RIGHTS AND EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

C. SOCIAL PRINCIPLES

Yes

Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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The company has been a supporter of 
gender equality under a protocol signed 
with the International Labour Organization 
(ILO), being the United Nations’ specialized 
body for the labor world, aimed at improv-
ing social gender equality and increasing 
women’s employment. The activities carried 
out in this scope are the examples of the 
measures taken to respect the rights of cer-
tain economic, environmental and socially 
sensitive sectors. However, it does not dis-
close the measures taken along the value 
chain regarding the observance of certain 
economic, environmental, socially sensitive 
segments (low-income people, women, etc.) 
or minority rights/equal opportunities.

The company includes compliance with the 
regulations against child labor and regula-
tions on discrimination, inequality, human 
rights violations, and preventive and correc-
tive practices against forced labor, as stated 
in the “Karsan Code of Contact”, “Human 
Resources Policy” and “Gender Equality 
Policy”. However, it does not report devel-
opments on these issues.
Fundamental human rights issues such as 
the prevention of forced or compulsory la-
bor and child labor, which are not subject 
to gender equality and discrimination, are 
also considered throughout our activities 
as per our company policies, and we expect 
our suppliers to exhibit similar behaviors in 
these matters. (2020 Sustainability Report, 
page 47)

-

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/files/
KARSAN%20SUR-
DURULEBILIRLIK%20
RAPORU%202020.
pdf

It discloses the measures taken 
along the value chain regarding the 
observance of certain economic, en-
vironmental, socially sensitive seg-
ments (low-income people, women, 
etc.) or minority rights/equal oppor-
tunities.

It reports discrimination, inequality, 
human rights violations, develop-
ments in preventive and corrective 
practices against forced labor. It 
discloses the regulations for not em-
ploying child workers.

Partially 
Yes

Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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Although it is not made public, the Company 
operates the mechanisms of the Ethics Com-
mittee and Disciplinary Board in relation to 
the resolution of employee complaints and 
disputes. However, a satisfaction survey is 
conducted every two years to measure em-
ployee satisfaction. It is planned to establish 
a Corporate Human Rights and Employee 
Rights Policy in the coming period.

The Company has a procedure established 
under the Personal Data Protection Law in 
order to protect personal data and protect 
data privacy and pays maximum attention 
to protect personal data within the scope 
of this procedure. In addition, the Company 
publicly discloses the Personal Data Pro-
cessing Disclosure Text through its corpo-
rate website.

The Company has established and made 
public its occupational health and safety 
policy. In addition, in the Sustainability Re-
port for 2020, the Company announced to 
the public the measures and accident sta-
tistics taken to protect against occupational 
accidents and to protect health.

The Company has made its Code of Ethical 
Conduct public on PDP and on its website.

The company discloses its social responsi-
bility projects through its annual report pub-
lished on its website.
(2020 Annual Report, pages 60-71)

The Company expects information meet-
ings and training programs for employees 
about ESG policies and practices as com-
pulsory.

-

https://www.karsan.
com/tr/sozlesmeler/ki-
sisel-verilerin-korun-
masi

https://www.kap.org.
tr/tr/Bildirim/987551

https://www.karsan.
com/tr/kurumsal/kar-
san-hakkinda/politi-
kalarimiz

https://www.kap.org.
tr/tr/Bildirim/987551

https://www.karsan.
com/tr/kurumsal/kar-
san-hakkinda/politi-
kalarimiz

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/fi-
les/2020%20YILI%20
FAALIYET%20RAPO-
RU.pdf

-

It discloses the policies regarding 
investment in employees (training, 
development policies), compen-
sation, recognized benefits, right 
to unionization, work/life balance 
solutions and talent management. 
It determines dispute resolution pro-
cesses by establishing mechanisms 
for resolving employee complaints 
and disputes. It regularly discloses 
the activities carried out to ensure 
employee satisfaction.

It establishes and publicly announc-
es personal data protection and 
data security policies.

It establishes occupational health 
and safety policies and makes them 
public. It discloses the measures 
taken to protect against occupa-
tional accidents and health and ac-
cident statistics.

It establishes an ethics policy  
(including business, working ethics, 
compliance processes, advertising 
and marketing ethics, explicit infor-
mation, etc.) and makes it public.

It discloses its activities in social 
investment, social responsibility, 
financial inclusion and access to fi-
nance.

It organizes information meetings 
and training programs for employ-
ees about ESM policies and practic-
es.

Partially 
Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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A sustainability priority setting study was 
conducted for the company and the priori-
ties were determined according to the opin-
ions and suggestions of all stakeholders by 
including external stakeholders in the study.

Although the Company conducts stake-
holder communication continuously and 
transparently, it does not publicly disclose 
the communication purpose, subject mat-
ter, frequency or developments made in the 
sustainability activities.

The Company prepared the Sustainability 
Report for 2020 and all the data used in 
the report according to the GRI standard 
and obtained GRI approvals. In addition, 
as a result of the CDP-Carbon Disclosure 
Project Climate Change Reporting, which 
it participated in for the first time this year, 
the Company obtained the B-rateand was 
evaluated as “the company that deals with 
the climate change problem at the Manage-
ment Level” with coordinated actions.
2021 Climate Change CDP Report (Page 
1-65)
(2020 Sustainability Report, page 1-64)

The Company has established the Code of 
Ethics policy and included the principles of 
Customer Satisfaction in this policy. In this 
context, the Company produces smarter, 
more reliable and environmentally friendly 
vehicles for its customers. The best prod-
ucts and services specific to our customers 
are produced depending on the demands. 
It cares about responding to our custom-
ers’ suggestions and complaints fairly and 
quickly.

-

-

https://www.karsan.
com/tr/surdurulebilir-
lik/cdp-raporu

https://www.karsan.
com/tr/surdurulebilir-
lik/surdurulebilirlik-ra-
poru

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/fi-
les/Karsan_Etik%20
Kurallar%20Politika-
si_2021.pdf

It carries out its activities in the field 
of sustainability taking into account 
the needs and priorities of all stake-
holders (employees, customers, 
suppliers and service providers, 
public institutions, shareholders, so-
ciety and non-governmental organ-
izations, etc.).

It conducts stakeholder communi-
cation continuously and transpar-
ently; discloses which stakeholders 
are communicated by it, for what 
purpose, what subject and how of-
ten and the developments in sus-
tainability activities.

It publicly discloses the internation-
al reporting standards adopted by 
it (Carbon Transparency Project 
(CDP), Global Reporting Initiative 
(GRI), International Integrated Re-
porting Council (IIRC), Sustainabil-
ity Accounting Standards Board 
(SASB), Climate Related Financial 
Disclosures Task Force (TCFD) etc.).

It regulates and publicly announces 
a customer satisfaction policy re-
garding the management and reso-
lution of customer complaints.

C2. STAKEHOLDERS, INTERNATIONAL STANDARDS AND INITIATIVES

C. SOCIAL PRINCIPLES

Yes

Partially 
Yes

Yes

Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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In 2019, the Company signed the protocol 
with the International Labour Organiza-
tion (ILO) on the improvement of equality 
between men and women and increasing 
women’s employment, the ‘Principles of 
Women’s Empowerment’ created in part-
nership with the UN Global Compact and 
the UN Social Gender Equality and Women’s 
Empowerment Unit (UN Women) in 2020 
and adopted the ‘Social Gender Equality 
Policy’ and the ‘Zero Tolerance to Violence 
Policy’ in the last quarter of 2020.  With 
these activities, the Company aims to be-
come a member of international standards 
and initiatives and to contribute to the activ-
ities and these activities are announced to 
the public through the sustainability report, 
annual report, media and website.
(2020 Annual Report, pages 39; 54-55; 60-
64; 68-69)

In the last quarter of 2021, the company 
started to work for the Borsa Istanbul Sus-
tainability Index. In the coming period, it will 
continue to make concrete efforts to enter 
the index in question.

The company has complied with the man-
datory principles of the CMB Corporate 
Governance Principles, maximum attention 
has been paid to comply with the non-com-
pulsory principles and efforts are continuing 
for compliance. The Company’s Corporate 
Governance Principles Compliance Report 
is detailed in the appendix of the Annual 
Report.
(2020 Annual Report, pages 95-108)

The Company has assigned sustainability 
responsibilities to the Corporate Govern-
ance Committee within the scope of 2021 
Sustainability activities. 
(Sustainability Report, page 12)

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/fi-
les/2020%20YILI%20
FAALIYET%20RAPO-
RU.pdf

-

https://www.karsan.
com/Download/fi-
les/2020%20YILI%20
FAALIYET%20RAPO-
RU.pdf

https://www.karsan.
com/tr/surdurulebilir-
lik/surdurulebilirlik-ra-
poru

It publicly discloses the international 
organizations or principles of which 
it is a signatory or member (Equato-
rial Principles, United Nations Envi-
ronment Program Finance Initiative 
(UNEP-FI), United Nations Global 
Principles (UNGC), United Nations 
Responsible Investment Principles 
(UNPRI) etc.), international princi-
ples adopted by it (such as the In-
ternational Capital Market Associa-
tion (ICMA) Green/Sustainable Bond 
Principles).

It makes concrete effort to take part 
in Borsa İstanbul Sustainability In-
dex and international sustainability 
indexes (Dow Jones Sustainability 
Index, FTSE4Good, MSCI CSR In-
dexes, etc.).

It makes maximum efforts to comply 
with all Corporate Governance prin-
ciples in addition to the Corporate 
Governance principles that must be 
complied with within the scope of 
the Capital Markets Board Corpo-
rate Governance Communiqué No. 
II-17.1.

It considers the issue of sustainabil-
ity, the environmental impact of its 
activities and its principles when de-
termining its corporate governance 
strategy.

Yes

Partially 
Yes

Yes

Yes

D. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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The Company takes the necessary meas-
ures to comply with the principles regarding 
the stakeholders and to strengthen commu-
nication with the stakeholders. The Stake-
holders Policy prepared for this purpose and 
presented to the knowledge of the partners 
at the Ordinary General Assembly regard-
ing the activities of 2014 can be found on 
the Company’s website. As of 2021, the 
opinions of the stakeholders were consult-
ed in order to determine the measures and 
strategies in the field of sustainability.

The company contributes to the communi-
ty and the local economy through its Sus-
tainable Social Responsibility projects. The 
company supported projects such as the 
installation of electric vehicles laboratory 
and organized awareness events related 
to special days such as Environment Day, 
Handicapped Day, Autism Week. In addi-
tion, efforts have been initiated to increase 
sustainability awareness within the scope 
of the Sustainability Project. The company 
aims to raise awareness about the issue of 
sustainability and its importance through its 
activities.

In line with the “Social Gender Equality” 
purpose, which is one of the “Sustainable 
Development Goals” enacted within the 
scope of the United Nations Development 
Programme, activities are carried out with 
the International Labour Organization (ILO) 
and our main partner Kıraça Holding to en-
sure sustainable development in the econ-
omy and social life and to enable women 
to actively participate in all areas of life 
with its projects and practices that will set 
a precedent for all sectors for women’s em-
ployment and social gender equality. In line 
with this objective, in 2019, the Company 
signed the protocol with the International 
Labour Organization (ILO) on the improve-
ment of equality between men and wom-
en and increasing women’s employment, 
the ‘Principles of Women’s Empowerment’ 
created in partnership with the UN Global 
Compact and the UN Social Gender Equal-
ity and Women’s Empowerment Unit (UN 
Women) in 2020 and adopted the ‘Social 
Gender Equality Policy’ and the ‘Zero Toler-
ance to Violence Policy’ in the last quarter 
of 2020.  With these activities, the company 
aims to become a member of international 
standards and initiatives and to contribute 
to the studies. The applications required to 
become a UN Global Compact signatory in 
December 2021 have been completed and 
are expected to be accepted.

-

-

-

It takes the necessary measures to 
comply with the principles regard-
ing the stakeholders and strengthen 
communication with the stakehold-
ers as specified in the Corporate 
Governance Principles. It consults 
the opinions of the stakeholders 
in determining the measures and 
strategies in the field of sustainabil-
ity.

It tries to raise awareness regarding 
the issue of sustainability and its im-
portance through the social respon-
sibility projects, awareness activities 
and trainings.

It makes effort to become a member 
of international standards and initi-
atives on sustainability and to con-
tribute to the activities.

Yes

Yes

Yes

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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The Company has publicly disclosed its 
policy towards the principle of tax honesty 
regarding the fight against Bribery and Cor-
ruption in the PDP and on its website.

https://www.kap.org.
tr/tr/Bildirim/987551

https://www.karsan.
com/tr/kurumsal/kar-
san-hakkinda/politi-
kalarimiz

It discloses its policies and programs 
for the fight against bribery and cor-
ruption and the principle of tax in-
tegrity.

Yes 

XI. CONCLUSION
The financial statements, explanatory notes and ratios regarding the results of our activities in 2021 
are also presented for your review in other sections of our report.

Esteemed Shareholders,
We hereby submit the Financial Statements to your approval with good wishes for our company and 
country in the forthcoming years and we assure you of our highest consideration.

Respectfully,
9 March 2022
 

İnan KIRAÇ
Chairperson of the Board

SUSTAINABILITY 
PRINCIPLES

COMPLIANCE 
STATUS NOTE LINK
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      Annex/1 - Resumes of Board Members and General Manager
İnan Kıraç – Chairperson of the Board
İnan Kıraç started his career as a sales officer at Ormak A.Ş. affiliated to Koç Group in 1961. In 1966, he was 
appointed as the general manager of the Otoyol, which is the manufacturer of Fiat trucks and midibuses. In 
1970, he became the general manager of Tofaş Oto Ticaret A.Ş., the marketing and distribution company of 
Fiat brand cars produced in Turkey. First, he was appointed as the vice president of Koç Holding responsible 
for Tofaş, and then as the president of the automotive group of Koç Holding A.Ş.. Serving as the Chairperson 
(CEO) of Koç Holding A.Ş. until his retirement in 1998, Kıraç witnessed every moment of the development of 
the Turkish automotive industry, worked as a professional manager in every detail and signed many giant 
factories.

Giancarlo Boschetti – Vice Chairperson of the Board
Giancarlo Boschetti, who studied mechanical engineering and economics, started to work in the Fiat Group 
in 1964. After serving under the Fiat Group for nearly 40 years, Boschetti served as the global CEO of Iveco 
S.p.A. from 1991 to 2001, and as the global CEO of Fiat Auto S.p.A. from 2002 to 2003. Giancarlo Boschetti 
continues to work as a board member in many international companies.

Okan Baş – Executive Board Member / CEO
Mr. Baş, who completed his bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering at Boğaziçi University and 
his master’s degree in Mechanical Engineering at Clemson University (USA), started his working life as a 
Mechanical Engineer in the Engineering Support Department at TOFAŞ Bursa Factory in 1987 and assumed 
different duties within TOFAŞ until June 2016. 
Between 1991-2002, he worked as Workshop Production Chief, Engine Production Unit Manager, Body 
Production Unit Manager, Assembly Production Unit Manager and Doblo Product Manager at TOFAŞ Bursa 
Factory, and between 2002-2016, he worked as After Sales Director, Mini Cargo Project Officer, After Sales 
Parts Director, Fiat Business Unit Director, Aegea Project and Business Development Director at TOFAŞ 
Central Office Istanbul.
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Nevzat Tüfekçioğlu  – Independent Board Member
After graduating from Ankara University, Faculty of Political Sciences, Department of Economics and Finance, 
Nevzat Tüfekçioğlu was appointed as Deputy Account Specialist of the Ministry of Finance in 1963 and 
Account Specialist of the Ministry of Finance in 1966. He left his public office in 1974 and served as Deputy 
Coordinator, Coordinator, Vice President and Head of Audit and Financial Group in Koç Holding Financial 
Group, respectively, and retired in 2001. Tüfekçioğlu was the Auditor of Koç Holding A.Ş. between 2001-
2006, the Member of the Board of Directors of Evyap A.Ş. between 2005-2006 and the member of the Board 
of Directors of Kıraça Holding A.Ş. between 2013-2017. He is currently a member of the Board of Directors of 
Koç Tüketici Finansmanı A.Ş. and a member of the Board of Directors of Entek Elektrik Üretim A.Ş.

Mehmet Altan Sungar - Member of the Board 
While Mehmet Altan Sungar was a student at the Academy of Economic and Commercial Sciences in 1963, 
he started to work as an intern at Royal Lastikler Tevzi A.Ş., one of the Koç Holding companies. In addition to 
the accounting department in the same company, he worked in the establishment of the dealer organization 
as the assistant regional manager in the marketing department and regional manager in various regions of 
Turkey. 
Sungar, who took part in the establishment phase of the company, served as Marketing Manager, Vice General 
Manager and Deputy General Manager in the same company. From 1985 to 2001, he worked as General 
Manager and Board Member at Istanbul Oto A.Ş., one of the Tofaş Group companies. During the same period, 
he was a member of the automotive professional committee of the Istanbul Chamber of Commerce and 
served as an expert in the courts. Sungar, who served as General Manager and Board Member at Karsat 
A.Ş. between 2001 and 2004, served as a partner and consultant at TURAVEL (Tourism, Education and 
Consultancy) between 2004 and 2012.

Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok – Member of the Board
Fatma Füsun Akkal Bozok completed her academic education with a master’s degree from Boğaziçi 
University, Faculty of Administrative Sciences and a doctorate from Istanbul University, Faculty of Business 
Administration. After her graduation, she started her business life in 1980 within the body of Arthur Andersen 
Audit Company. She joined the Koç Group in 1983 and first worked as Audit Specialist and Assistant 
Coordinator in the Audit and Financial Group department within the Holding. She continued her duty as 
Audit and Financial Group Coordinator, as appointed in 1992, for 11 years. Between 2003-2006, she served 
as the Director of the Finance Group. She also serves as an Independent Board Member in Akiş REIC, 
Independent Board Member in Bizim Wholesale Stores Inc., Independent Board Member in Ford Otomotiv 
Sanayi, Independent Board Member in Gözde Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. and Independent 
Board Member in Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş.
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Muhsin Mengütürk – Member of the Board
Prof. Dr. Muhsin Mengütürk graduated from Duke University Faculty of Engineering (Durham, North Carolina) 
with master’s and doctorate degrees in the USA. After his graduation, he began his career in 1974 at the 
Westinghouse Research Center (Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania) as the U.S. Government’s Leader of the Turbine 
Erosion Division for the Renewable Energy Project. Mengütürk returned to Turkey in 1976 and was appointed 
as Assistant Professor and Associate Professor at Boğaziçi University Engineering Faculty, respectively. 
Between 1988 and 1992, he was appointed as the Founding Deputy General Manager of Türk Eximbank. 
Prof. Dr. Mengütürk served as the Founding General Manager of Bayındır Hayat Sigorta between 1992 and 
1995 and the Chairperson of the Capital Markets Board between 1997 and 2000. After completing his term 
at the CMB, he worked as the Chairperson of the Board of Directors at Güneş Hayat Sigorta, Vakıf Emeklilik, 
Ankara Insurance and Ankara Pension companies and as a Board Member at Ata Holding between 2001 
and 2006. Dr. Mengütürk served as a Member of the Board of Directors at Doğuş Holding between 2006 - 
2018. Mengütürk is also a member of the Board of Directors of the Global Relations Forum (GrF).

Müfit Ataseven - Independent Board Member
After graduating from Ankara University, Faculty of Political Sciences, Department of Business Administration, 
Müfit Ataseven first obtained a DEA-Doctoral Qualification degree at the University of Paris IX Dauphine 
University, then did a State Doctorate study on Automotive Industry in Turkey, and participated in the 
Fontainebleau INSEAD specialization program. Ataseven worked in the Department of Investments and 
Subsidiaries of OYAK General Directorate between 1982-1988. He served as a Manager and a member 
of the Board of Directors and Auditors at Oyak-Renault, Mais, Omsan, Tukaş, Entaş, Adana Cement, Oyak 
Menkul Değerler companies. Atasaven later served as the special representative of the French Commercial 
Directorate (DCF), the “Dealer Profile” project manager of the Franchise Organization, the Central Marketing 
Directorate - Marketing Pricing Directorate, Le Havre Branch Directorate, the President of International 
Operations (Doi) at Renault SA between 1988 and 1997. Ataseven, who served as the Deputy Commercial 
General Manager of Renault Mais between 1997 and 2003 and the General Manager of TOFAŞ Commercial 
between 2003 and 2007, also served as the General Coordinator of OYDER, the General Directorate of 
Citroen Baylas, the Member of the Board of Directors at Baylas and Baytur, the Member of the Executive 
Board of DEİK Turkish French Business Council, the Member of ODD Board of Directors and the Chairperson 
of the Council.  He has worked as a lecturer at Ataseven Galatasaray University and is currently working as 
a Strategic Partner in the Manager Development Unit of Sabancı University, a part-time lecturer at Bilkent 
University, and a Manager in MEFA Consultancy and Interactifs Turkey, which he founded in 2009.
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Chairperson of the Board of Directors of Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi Mamulleri 
Pazarlama A.Ş.
Chairperson of the Board of Directors of Kök Ziraat Turizm Sanayi Ticaret A.Ş. (*)
Kıraça Holding. A.Ş. Chairperson of the Board
Karland Otomotiv Ürünleri San. ve Tic. A.Ş. Chairperson of the Board
Chairperson of the Board of Directors of Kök Ulaşım Taşımacılık A.Ş. (*)
Chairperson of the Board of Directors of Kök Teknoloji A.Ş. (*)
Suna and İnan Kıraç Foundation Chairperson (*) 

Diasorin S.p.A. Board Member (*)
Finde S.p.A. Board Member (*)

Member of the Board of Directors of the Global Relations Forum (GİF) (*)

Sabancı University Manager Development Unit Strategic Partner (*)
Bilkent University Lecturer (*)
MEFA Danışmanlık ve Interactifs Turkey Manager (*)

(*) Duties taken in companies other than Kıraça Group

Chairperson of the Board of Directors of Karsan Europe Srl
Karsan İç ve Dış Ticaret A.Ş. Chairperson of the Board of Directors
Karsan USA LLC Company Manager

Koç Tüketici Finansmanı A.Ş. Board Member, 
Entek Elektrik Üretimi A.Ş Board Member

-

Akiş GYO Independent Board Member (*)
Bizim Toptan Mağazaları A.Ş. Independent Board Member (*)
Ford Otomotiv Sanayi Independent Board Member (*)
Gözde Girişim Sermayesi Yatırım Ortaklığı A.Ş. Independent Board Member (*)
Tat Gıda Sanayi A.Ş. Independent Board Member (*)

İnan KIRAÇ
Chairperson of the Board

Giancarlo BOSCHETTI  
Vice Chairperson of the 
Board

Okan BAŞ  
(Board of Directors 
Managing Member)

Nevzat Tüfekçioğlu 
(Independent Board 
Member)

Mehmet Altan SUNGAR
(Board Member)

Fatma Füsun AKKAL 
BOZOK
(Board Member)
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Annex/2 – Independent Members of the Board of Directors Independence Statements

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş.
DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF THE CANDIDATE FOR BOARD MEMBER

- I confirm that among Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş. (the Company), the Board of Directors of the 
Company, or the partnerships in which it has significant influence, the partners who hold the management 
control of the Company or have a significant influence on the Company and the legal entities over which these 
partners have management control, myself, my spouse, my relatives by blood up to the second degree and 
my wife; I do not have an employment relationship in a managerial position who would assume important 
duties and responsibilities in the last five years, and I do not have more than 5% of the capital or voting rights 
or privileged shares, together or alone, or that no significant commercial relationship has been established 
with these entities.,

- I have not worked, in the last five years, in the companies from which the Company has purchased or sold 
significant services or products, within the framework of the agreements made, especially the Companies 
that carry out the audit (including tax audit, legal audit, internal audit), rating and consultancy of the 
Company, services or products have been purchased as a partner (5% or more), during the period of the sale, 
in a managerial position to undertake important duties and responsibilities, or as a member of the board of 
directors.

- Since I am an independent board member, I have the vocational training, knowledge and experience to fulfill 
the duties as required.

- As of the date of my nomination, I have not worked full-time in public institutions and organizations (except 
for university faculty membership in accordance with the applicable legislation) during my term of office if I 
am elected,

- According to the Income Tax Law (Income Tax Law) dated 31/12/1960 and numbered 193, I am deemed to 
have settled in Turkey,

- I can make positive contributions to the activities of the company, I can protect my impartiality in conflicts 
of interest between the company and the shareholders, I can decide freely by considering the rights of the 
stakeholders, I have strong ethical standards, professional reputation and experience,

- I will devote time to the Company’s works to the extent that I can follow the operation of the Company’s 
activities and fully fulfill the requirements of the duties I undertake,

- I have not been a member of the Board of Directors of the Company for more than six years in the last ten 
years.

- I have not served as an independent member of the board of directors in more than three companies in which 
the company or the partnership holding the management control of the company had management control, 
and in more than five companies traded in the stock exchange in total.,

- I have not been registered and announced on behalf of the legal entity elected as a member of the board of 
directors.,

- I will immediately inform the Board of Directors of the Company and resign from my position if a situation 
arises that takes away my independence.

I hereby accept and declare the above conditions. 

Nevzat TÜFEKÇİOĞLU
26.04.2021

1 The provisions of TFRS 10 are used in determining whether there is control, and TAS 28 provisions are used in determining whether there is a 
significant effect or not.
2 If the partnerships within the scope of this paragraph are inactive in the last 3 accounting periods, there will be no violation of the independence 
criteria. Within the scope of this paragraph, for an independent member candidate or any of the partnerships, if the ratio of the turnover/before-
tax profit amount obtained from the significant commercial relationship to the total turnover/profit before-tax from the same type of business is 
20% or more, it is considered that the independence is impaired.
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KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş.
DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF THE CANDIDATE FOR BOARD MEMBER

- I confirm that among Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş. (The Company), the Board of 
Directors of the Company, or the partnerships in which it has significant influence, the partners 
who hold the management control of the Company or have a significant influence on the 
Company and the legal entities over which these partners have management control, myself, my 
spouse, my relatives by blood up to the second degree and my wife; I do not have an employment 
relationship in a managerial position who would assume important duties and responsibilities 
in the last five years, and I do not have more than 5% of the capital or voting rights or privileged 
shares, together or alone, or that no significant commercial relationship has been established 
with these entities.,

- I have not worked, in the last five years, in the companies from which the Company has purchased 
or sold significant services or products, within the framework of the agreements made, especially 
the Companies that carry out the audit (including tax audit, legal audit, internal audit), rating and 
consultancy of the Company, services or products have been purchased as a partner (5% or 
more), during the period of the sale, in a managerial position to undertake important duties and 
responsibilities, or as a member of the board of directors.

- Since I am an independent board member, I have the vocational training, knowledge and 
experience to fulfill the duties as required,

- As of the date of my nomination, I have not worked full-time in public institutions and organizations 
(except for university faculty membership in accordance with the applicable legislation) during 
my term of office if I am elected,

1 The provisions of TFRS 10 are used in determining whether there is control, and TAS 28 provisions are used in determining 
whether there is a significant effect or not.
2 If the partnerships within the scope of this paragraph are inactive in the last 3 accounting periods, there will be no violation of 
the independence criteria. Within the scope of this paragraph, for an independent member candidate or any of the partnerships, if 
the ratio of the turnover/before-tax profit amount obtained from the significant commercial relationship to the total turnover/profit 
before-tax from the same type of business is 20% or more, it is considered that the independence is impaired.

The Board of Directors 
Activity Report For 2021

Annual Report 2021
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- According to the Income Tax Law (Income Tax Law) dated 31/12/1960 and numbered 193, I am deemed 
to have settled in Turkey,

- I can make positive contributions to the activities of the company, I can protect my impartiality in conflicts 
of interest between the company and the shareholders, I can decide freely by considering the rights of the 
stakeholders, I have strong ethical standards, professional reputation and experience,

- I will devote time to the Company’s works to the extent that I can follow the operation of the Company’s 
activities and fully fulfill the requirements of the duties I undertake,

- I have not been a member of the Board of Directors of the Company for more than six years in the last ten 
years.

- I have not served as an independent member of the board of directors in more than three companies in 
which the company or the partnership holding the management control of the company had management 
control, and in more than five companies traded in the stock exchange in total.,

- I have not been registered and announced on behalf of the legal entity elected as a member of the board 
of directors.,

- I will immediately inform the Board of Directors of the Company and resign from my position if a situation 
arises that takes away my independence.

I hereby accept and declare the above conditions.
   

Müfit ATASEVEN
 26.04.2021
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KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A. Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION OF THE REPORT AND THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ORIGINALLY ISSUED IN TURKISH)

Annual Report 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Annual Report 2021

To the General Assembly of Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş.
A) Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
1) Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş 
(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (TFRS).

2) Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with standards on auditing as issued by Capital Markets 
Board and the Standards on Independent Auditing (“SIA”) which is a part of Turkish Auditing 
Standards published by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Independent Auditors (“Code of Ethics”) published 
by the POA, together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

3) Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited by guarantee (“DTTL”), its network of member 
firms, and their related entities. DTTL and each of its member firms are legally separate and independent entities. DTTL (also referred to as 
“Deloitte Global”) does not provide services to clients. Please see www.deloitte.com/ about to learn more about our global network of member 
firms.

© 2022. For information, contact Deloitte Turkey (member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited).
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Details of the audit procedures that we have applied for 
Warranty Provisions are as follows:
Audit procedures include testing of detailed studies of the 
calculation method applied by the Group and the accounting 
process, the accuracy of the data used in the calculations 
and the conformity between the past year expectancies and 
the actual expenses incurred, the control of contracts related 
to such instruments, the guarantee periods and provision 
maturities varying according to vehicle models, and the 
assessment of the accuracy of management’s estimates and 
assumptions.
It was controlled that warranty expenses realized in the 
current year are accounted accurately in the correct period 
and in the correct amount in the statement of profit or loss. 
In addition, the provisions that were realized and reversed 
during the period were tested by comparing the related 
documents via sampling method.
In addition, the Note “Provisions, Contingent Assets and 
Liabilities” has been evaluated in accordance with Turkish 
Accounting Standards 37.

Our audit procedures for the capitalization of development 
costs consist of an assessment of the Group’s accounting 
policies for capitalization, project costs subject to 
capitalization, examination of future prospects for the projects 
and investigation the impairment of assets processes.
In accordance with our audit procedures, prospective 
profitability study for the projects subject to capitalization 
were taken from the Group management and then realization 
of prior period evaluations and future estimates of the 
management have been controlled by us. It was discussed 
with the engineering and project managers on project life. 
Period expenses have been tested by sampling and the 
recoverability of the capitalized costs of the related projects 
has been assessed.
In addition, the adequacy of the disclosures in the Note 
“Intangible Assets” has been evaluated  within the scope of 
TFRS.

As of 31 December 2021, the Group has TL 85,805 (31 
December 2020: TL 61,006) provision for warranty in its 
consolidated financial statements.
The Group provides warranty service for vehicles that 
are sold for a period of time following the date of sale, 
depending on the model of the vehicle. The Group 
estimates the probability of return for each vehicle, repair 
and maintenance costs and expenses incurred in the 
previous periods, and reflects the warranty provision 
amount in the consolidated financial tables.
These warranty provisions have been identified as the 
key audit matter in the consolidated financial statements 
because they are based on estimates of the methods 
involved in determining their significance and amounts 
when considered as a whole.
(Explanations on the provisions are presented on Note 2.5 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Note 15.)

The Group has capitalized development expenses 
amounting to TL 262,886 (31 December 2020: TL 
281,881) as of 31 December 2021. The capitalization 
amount is TL 21,594 (2020: TL 99,368) in 2021. The 
related amount has been identified as key audit matter in 
the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 
2021 because of the importance of the projects that are 
subject to development costs and the management’s 
estimates that related projects are likely to provide 
economic benefits in the future.
(Explanations on the capitalized development costs are 
presented on Note 2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies and details are presented on Note 12 Capitalized 
Development Costs.)

Key Audit Matters

Warrant Provision           How the Matter was Addressed in the Audit

Capitalized Development Costs         How the Matter was Addressed in the Audit 

3) Key Audit Matters (cont’d)
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4) Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
The Group management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with TFRS, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process.

5) Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Responsibilities of independent auditors in an independent audit are as follows:
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the standards on auditing issued 
by Capital Markets Board and SIA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with the standards on auditing issued by Capital Markets Board 
and SIA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion (The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control).

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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5) Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)
• • Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• • Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

B) Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with paragraph four of the article 398 of the Turkish Commercial Code No. 6102 (“TCC”), the 
Auditor’s Report on the System and the Committee of Early Detection of Risk has been submitted to the 
Board of Directors of the Company on 9 March 2022.
In accordance with paragraph four of the Article 402 of TCC, nothing has come to our attention that may 
cause us to believe that the Company’s set of accounts and financial statements prepared for the period 
1 January - 31 December 2021 does not comply with TCC and the provisions of the Company’s articles of 
association in relation to financial reporting.
In accordance with paragraph four of the Article 402 of TCC, the Board of Directors provided us all the required 
information and documentation with respect to our audit.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ersin Çağan.
DRT BAĞIMSIZ DENETİM VE SERBEST MUHASEBECİ MALİ MÜŞAVİRLİK A.Ş. 
Member of DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU LIMITED

Ersin Çağan, SMMM
Partner

İstanbul, 9 March 2022
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KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 

Current Period     Prior Period
    31 December    31 December

Notes                     2021                      2020
ASSETS
Current Assets                1,925,327                     1,545,117
      Cash and Cash Equivalents                    36             103,061                                     69,837
      Financial Investments                    30            208,562                                     17,058
      Trade Receivables                                    997,838                                  990,160
          Trade Receivables From Related Parties                    5                    797                                         627
  Trade Receivables From Third Parties                        6                        997,041                                 989,533
      Receivables from Finance Sector Operations                                             -                                    116,321
    Receivables from Financial Sector Operations
    from Third Parties                      7                        -                                     116,321
      Other Receivables                      8                            103,250                                        7,181
    Other Receivables From Related Parties                                   10,994                                              -
    Other Receivables From Third Parties                                   92,256                                        7,181
      Derivative Instruments                     29             26,720                                      81,934
      Inventories                         9              314,181                                     177,761
      Prepaid Expenses                       10               22,162                                      18,560
      Assets Related to Current Period Tax                     27                  1,102                                         1,067
      Other Current Assets                      18              148,451                                       65,238
 
Non-current Assets                            1,811,939                                 1,171,830
      Financial Investments                     30           145,056                                    120,690
      Trade Receivables                                  227,157                                -
            Trade Receivables From Third Parties                     6             227,157                                               -
      Derivative Instruments                     29            133,599                                      81,934
      Plant, Property and Equipment                      11           764,063                                   530,595
      Right-of-use Assets                      13             20,760                                      12,645
      Intangible Assets                       12              357,711                                    297,190
            Goodwill                                       10,645                                     10,645
            Other Intangible Assets                                                     347,066                                    286,545
      Prepaid Expenses                       10               66,221                                          169
      Deferred Tax Asset                      27                                97,334                                   53,302
      Other Non-current Assets                      18                                       38                                    75,305
TOTAL ASSETS                  3,737,266                                2,716,947
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Current Period          Prior Period
       31 December    31 December

Notes                    2021                      2020
LIABILITIES

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)

Short-Term Liabilities                     2,137,461                     1,104,709
     Short Term Borrowings             30      1,002,800        417,262
     Short-Term Portions of Long-Term Borrowings           30         465,239        145,984
     Short-Term Lease Liabilities               13             11,965               22,642
     Trade Payables                          479,224                      307,640
          Trade Payables to Related Parties                5                    9,362             10,349
          Trade Payables to Third Parties                      6             469,862      297,291
     Payables Related to Employee Benefits               17                 10,017                           7,863
     Deferred Income                10                22,848                               4,974
     Current Tax Liabilities              27                     624                                   683
     Short-Term Provisions                           99,764                          60,205
 Short-Term Provisions                             
 Related to Employee Benefits                                   17                  6,884                                4,371 
 Other Short-Term Provisions                                  15                92,880                            55,474
     Other Short-Term Liabilities               18             44,980                          11,129
   

Long-Term Liabilities                       605,912                       884,072
     Long-Term Borrowings             30          502,567                    805,070
     Long-Term Lease Liabilities              13            20,379               15,879
     Long-Term Provisions                            82,132                           63,123
          Long-Term Provisions                             
 Related to Employee Benefits                                   17               61,575                               40,147
 Other Long-Term Provisions                                  15              20,557                            22,976
     Deferred Income                10                834                                 -

EQUITY                         993,893  728,166

Equity Attributable to Owners of the Company                      989,738  733,396
        Paid-in Capital                19           900,000                       900,000
        Adjustments to Share Capital              19               22,586                         22,586
        Additional Equity Contribution to Equity Due To Business Combinations                       5,305                             5,305 
        Share Premiums/Discounts                            6,779                             6,779 
        Other Accumulated Comprehensive Income or Expenses                      
          That Will Not Be Reclassified Subsequently to Profit or Loss                      391,723                       225,928
         Gains on Revaluation and Remeasurement             398,827    233,970         
         Losses on Remeasurement of                   
            Defined Benefit Plans                               (7,104)    (8,042)
        Other Comprehensive Income or Expenses                      
 That Will be Reclassified Subsequently to Profit or Loss                    (42,958)  (34,612)
 Foreign Currency Translation Differences                             (3,410)    (4,564)
 Change Resulting from the Fair Value Measurement of          
 Financial Investments               26           (39,548)                       (30,048)
        Restricted Reserves Appropriated from Profit              19                   1,128                         1,128
        Prior Years’ Losses                          (393,718)                     (414,039)
       Net Profit for The Year                               98,893                        20,321
Non-Controlling Interests                       4,155     (5,230)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY              3,737,266                     2,716,947

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 
          

Current Period           Prior Period
       1 January-                 1 January-

  Notes  31 December 2021  31 December 2020

     Revenue        20    2,069,462            1,560,367
     Cost of Sales (-)      20    (1,526,105)           (1,141,915)
Gross Profit from Business Activities          543,357                   418,452
     Gross Profit from Finance Sector Activities    20        30,778                 55,586
GROSS PROFIT                574,135               474,038
     Administrative Expenses (-)      21       (117,293)              (71,954)
     Marketing Expenses (-)     21      (126,635)            (76,453)
     Research and Development Expenses (-)   21       (5,798)                (10,258)
     Other Income from Operating Activities   22        461,878               241,786
     Other Expenses from Operating Activities (-)   22       (5,788)              (32,075)
OPERATING PROFIT           780,499               525,084
     Income from Investing Activities    23          10,667                   1,952
     Expenses from Investing Activities (-)     23        (13,665)                           -
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE EXPENSES        777,501                       527,036
     Finance Expenses (-)      25    (723,934)                     (470,454)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX              53,567                 56,582
Tax Income / (Expense)                54,711                         (35,862)
     Period Tax Expense       27         (7,373)                          (1,644)
     Deferred Tax Expense      27         62,084                         (34,218)
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR            108,278                         20,720
     Non-Controlling Interests                 9,385                               399
     Owners of the Company              98,893                           20,321
Earnings Per Share (kr) (Per Share)    28          0,110                           0,023
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSES):
Items That Will Not to be Reclassified Subsuquently to Profit or Loss       165,795                           80,017
     Gain on Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment   11          183,174                 83,496 
     Tax Effect of Gain on Revaluation of Property, 
     Plant and Equipment      27        (18,317)                  (3,459)
     Loss on Remeasurement of Defined Benefit Plans   17            1,173                                  (25)
     Tax Effect of Loss on Remeasurement of 
     Defined Benefit Plans       27            (235)                                  5
     5Items That Will be Reclassified Subsuquently to Profit or Loss          (8,346)                            6,686
     Gains from Fair Value Measurement of 
     Financial Investments       26          (10,000)                       12,747
     Tax Effect of Gains from Fair Value 
     Measurement of Financial Investments                   500                                   -
     Foreign Currency Translation Differences   26             1,154                 (6,061)
Other Comprehensive Income/(Expense)           157,449                  86,703
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME                        265,727                        107,423
Total Comprehensive Income Attributable To:                        265,727                107,423
Non-Controlling Interests                  9,385          399
Owners of the Company              256,342                 107,024
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KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)

Balance as of 1 January 2020

(Beginning of the Period)  900,000   22,586         5,305  6,779        153,913  (8,022)      1,497        (42,795)    1,045   (431,961)      18,025   626,372    (5,629)                   620,743

Transfers                  -              -                   -                   -                        20               -              -                        -         83          17,922    (18,025)               -              -              - 

Total Comprehensive Incom /(Expense)               -              -                  -                -          80,037          (20)     (6,061)              12,747            -                   -        20,321     107,024          399  107,423

Balance as of 31 December 2020

(End of the Period)   900,000   22,586        5,305   6,779        233,970   (8,042)     (4,564)         (30,048)   1,128   (414,039)      20,321   733,396   (5,230)                    728,166

Balance as of 1 January 2021

(Beginning of the Period)   900,000   22,586       5,305   6,779         233,970   (8,042)       4,564          (30,048)    1,128   (414,039)    20,321   733,396   (5,230)                      728,166

Transfers                  -             -                -                   -                     -              -               -                        -           -        20,231  (20,321)               -               -                - 

Total Comprehensive Income /(Expense)               -               -               -                  -          164,857       938          1,154            9,500             -                   -      98,893  256,342       9,385                    265,727

Balance as of 31 December 2021

(End of the Period)   900,000   22,586     5,305   6,779        233,970    (7,104)      (3,410)        (39,548)      1,128   (393,718)      20,321   989,738       4,155                     993,893

Paid in
Capital

Capital
Adjustment
Differences

Additional
Equity

Contribution 
to

Business
Combinations

Share
Premiums/
Discounts

Gains/(Loss) on  
Revaluation

and Measurement

Gains/(Loss) on
Remeasurement of

Defined Benefits
Plans

Accumulated Other Comprehensive 
Income and Expenses That Will 

Not Be Reclassified to Profit 
or Loss

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Differences

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balance as of 1 January 2020

(Beginning of the Period)  900,000   22,586         5,305  6,779        153,913  (8,022)      1,497        (42,795)    1,045   (431,961)      18,025   626,372    (5,629)                   620,743

Transfers                  -              -                   -                   -                        20               -              -                        -         83          17,922    (18,025)               -              -              - 

Total Comprehensive Incom /(Expense)               -              -                  -                -          80,037          (20)     (6,061)              12,747            -                   -        20,321     107,024          399  107,423

Balance as of 31 December 2020

(End of the Period)   900,000   22,586        5,305   6,779        233,970   (8,042)     (4,564)         (30,048)   1,128   (414,039)      20,321   733,396   (5,230)                    728,166

Balance as of 1 January 2021

(Beginning of the Period)   900,000   22,586       5,305   6,779         233,970   (8,042)       4,564          (30,048)    1,128   (414,039)    20,321   733,396   (5,230)                      728,166

Transfers                  -             -                -                   -                     -              -               -                        -           -        20,231  (20,321)               -               -                - 

Total Comprehensive Income /(Expense)               -               -               -                  -          164,857       938          1,154            9,500             -                   -      98,893  256,342       9,385                    265,727

Balance as of 31 December 2021

(End of the Period)   900,000   22,586     5,305   6,779        233,970    (7,104)      (3,410)        (39,548)      1,128   (393,718)      20,321   989,738       4,155                     993,893

Accumulated Other Comprehensive 
Income and Expenses That Will Be 

Reclassified to Profit or Loss

Retained Earnings

Losses from
Fair Value

Measurement
of Financial
Investments

Restricted
Reserves

Appropriated
From Profit

Prior Year’s
Losses

Net
Profit/(Loss)
for the Year

Equity
Attributable to

the Parent

Non-
Controlling

Interest
Shareholder’s

equity

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACIVITIES              305,537  434,402
     DProfit for the period                 108,278     20,720
     Adjustments Related To Reconciliation of Net Loss of The Period            740,570                 523,901 
          - Adjustments Related To Depreciation and Amortization Expense               11- 12- 13           73,958      66,538 
          - Adjustments Related To Impairment / Reversal                46,332       12,476
               - Adjustments Related To Impairment on Receivables               6- 21- 22            44,414        5,457
               - Adjustments Related To Impairment on Inventories                         9               1,918     (5,685) 
               - Adjustments Related To Other Impairments       22                     -      12,704
          - Adjustments Related To Provisions                  94,513     62,863
               - Adjustments Related To Provision For Providing Employee Benefits     17           29,073       10,731
               - Adjustments Related To Other Provisions        15           65,440       52,132 
          - Adjustments Related To Interest (Income) and Expenses               181,856    151,546
               - Adjustments Related To Interest Income                   22- 23           (9,089)    (4,156)
               - Adjustments Related To Interest Expense                   22- 25          190,945    155,702 
          - Adjustments Related To Unrealized Foreign Currency Translation Differences           386,638            195,155
          - Adjustments Related To Fair Value Losses        23           13,665              - 
          - Adjustments Related To Tax Expenses       27           (54,711)      35,862 
          - Adjustments Related To Losses/(Gains) On Sale or Disposal of Plant, Property
             and Equipment         23            (1,681)         (539)
Changes in Working Capital             (499,652)                   (74,318)
          - Adjustments Related to Increase in Trade Receivables            (327,190)               (224,829) 
               - Decrease in Trade Receivables From Related Parties                  (170)           635
               - Increase in Trade Receivables From Third Parties           (327,020)                (225,464)
          - Adjustments Related to (Increase)/Decrease in Inventories           (138,338)                     (47,796)
          - Decrease in Other Receivables Related to Operations           (272,681)     130,309 
         - Adjustments Related to (Decrease)/Increase in Trade Payables              171,584                     77,795
               - Decrease in Trade Payables to Related Parties                 (987)     (2,426) 
               - Increase/(Decrease) in Trade Payables to Third Parties               172,571      80,221 
          - Decrease in Other Liabilities Related to Operations                66,973     (9,797)
Cash Generated from Operations               349,196  470,303 
          - Interest Received         22                103        2,743
          - Interest Paid           22            (1,139)        (1,012)
          - Employment Benefits Paid         17          (4,319)     (2,225) 
          - Income Taxes Paid         27           (7,851)    (2,028) 
          - Other Cash Outflows          15          (30,453)  (33,380) 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES             (146,110)                 (40,635) 
          - Proceeds on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets                1,793          1,259
          - Payments for Purcahse of Property, Plant and Equipment        11       (143,897)  (30,559)
          - Payments for Purchase of Intangible Assets        12         (12,992)   (12,623) 
          - Interest Received          23             8,986         1,413
          - Cash Outflows for Acquisition of Shares In Other Entities        30                     -          (125)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES               (128,143)                (361,809) 
          - Cash Inflows from Loans                1,473,989    945,814
         - Cash Outflows for Repayment of Loans              (1,387,811)             (1,132,819)
          - Cash Outflows for Leases from Financial Leasing Transactions             (20,745)   (19,967) 
          - Cash Inflows from Issued Borrowing Instruments           -       95,150
          - Cash Outflows from Issued Borrowing Instruments Payments        -                 (88,000) 
          - Interest Paid                (193,576)                 (161,987)
YNET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
BEFORE THE EFFECT OF FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION                31,284     31,958 
     Foreign Exchange Translation Differences Effect On Cash and Cash Equivalents                1,940   (9,360) 
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS              33,224     22,598
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD     36           69,837     47,239 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD      36          103,061      69,837 

Notes

Audited
Current Period 

1 January- 
31 December 

2021

Audited 
Prior Period 

1 January- 
31 December 

2020
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KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)

1. ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS OF THE GROUP
Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“the Company”) is incorporated in Bursa, Turkey. The address of the 
Company is Hasanağa Organize Sanayi Bölgesi (HOSAB), Sanayi Caddesi, 16225,  Nilüfer-Bursa.
Related group: Kıraça Holding A.Ş.
Registered stock exchange: Borsa İstanbul (BIST) Stars
The Company has been established to build any kind of vehicle assembly and bodywork facilities, participating 
in the already established facilities, importing vehicles for bodywork manufacturing and producing and selling 
any kind of vehicle bodywork in Turkey. The activities of the Company are to produce, import and export 
motor vehicles to automotive brands. Moreover, the Company provides industrial services to the automotive 
main and sub-industry.
The Group’s business segments in continuing operations and reporting details in accordance with geographic 
segments are presented on Note 4.
As of 31 December 2021, the average personnel number of the Group is 1,079 (31 December 2020: 1,073).
The immediate parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group is Kıraça Holding A.Ş.
The details about the Group’s subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are below:

Subsidiaries          Traded stock market    Activity Type
Karsan İç ve Dış Ticaret A.Ş.           -       Sales marketing
Karsan Europe S.R.L.             -       Sales marketing
Karsan USA LLC (*)             -       Sales marketing
Hervouet Corporate Industry (HCI) (**)            -       Sales marketing
Hervouet Corporate Lease (HCL) (**)           -       Sales marketing

(*) Company founded a company on 26 April 2010, based in New York, US, with the trade name Karsan USA 
LLC that is wholly owned by the Karsan Otomotiv  and does not require a capital transfer during foundation 
process, in order to maintain the regular processes with local authorities, regarding the project of taxi model. 
There was no capital transfer to the Company and as the Company is inactive, has not been included in 
consolidated financial statements.

(**) The Company, within the framework of the objective of increasing the competitiveness and efficiency in 
the foreign markets, in order to increase its market share in France and participate in public tenders, acquired 
2,400 shares of TL 4,515 (EUR 700,000) nominal value, with a 50% share in the capital of the French distributor 
Hervouet Corporate Industry. The first capital payment of TL 2,653 (EUR 400,000) was made on 17 June 
2019 and the second capital payment of TL 1,863 (EUR 300,000) was made on 31 July 2019.
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1. ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS OF THE GROUP (cont’d)

Participations                  Traded stock market            Activity Type
Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi Mamulleri        Sale and
 Satış ve Pazarlama A.Ş (“Karsan Pazarlama”)                -                Distributor
                               

Dividend distribution:
Listed companies processes their dividend distributions according to the II-19.1 numbered Capital Markets 
Board (CMB) Communique on Dividends which became effective on or after 1 February 2014.
Shareholders distributes their profits within the frame of dividend distribution policies determined by general 
assembly and according to the related regulation by the approval of general assembly. Within the mentioned 
regulation, minimum rate of distribution is not determined. Companies distribute their profits according to the 
predetermined terms in their articles of incorporation or profit distribution policies.
As a result of the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting on 27 May 2021, it has been decided not to distribute 
dividend. 

Approval of the consolidated financial statements: 
Board of Directors has approved the consolidated financial statements and delegated authority for publishing 
it on 9 March 2022. General Assembly has the authority to modify the consolidated financial statements.

Statement of Compliance in TFRS
The accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with the requirements of Capital Markets 
Board (“CMB”) Communiqué Serial II, No: 14.1 “Basis of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets”, which was 
published in the Official Gazette No:28676 on 13 June 2013. The accompanying financial statements are 
prepared based on the Turkish Financial Reporting Standards and interpretations (“TFRS”) that have been 
put into effect by the Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”) under Article 5 
of the Communiqué.
In addition, the financial statements are presented in accordance with the formats specified in the 
“Announcement About TFRS Taxonomy” published by the POA on 15 April 2019 and the Financial Statement 
Examples and User Guide published by the CMB.
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for derivative financial 
instruments and property, plant equipment that are measured at revalued amounts. Historical cost is generally 
based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
2.1 Basis of Presentation
Currency Used
The individual financial statements of each Group entity are presented in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The results and financial position of each 
entity are expressed in TL, which is the functional currency of the Group, and the presentation currency for the 
consolidated financial statements.

Preparation of financial statements in hyperinflationary economies
In accordance with the communique issued by CMB, for companies that operate in Turkey and prepare their 
financial statements applying Turkish Accounting Standards, it is decided not to apply inflation accounting 
from 1 January 2005 which is published on 17 March 2005 numbered 11/367. Accordingly, as of 1 January 
2005, No:29 “ Financial reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” (“TAS 29”) was not applied.

Comparative Information and Reclassification of Prior Period Consolidated Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared comparatively with the prior period 
in order to give information about financial position and performance. In order to maintain consistency with 
current year consolidated financial statements, comparative information is reclassed and significant changes 
are disclosed if necessary. In the current period, the Group has not made any reclassifications in the prior 
period financial statements.

Going Concern Assumption
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, with the assumption 
that the Group will benefit from its assets and fulfill its obligations in the next year and in the natural course 
of its activities.
As of 31 December 2021, the Group has a prior years loss amounting to TL 294,825 (31 December 2020: 
TL 393,718 loss), including the profit for the current period, and as of the same date, its short-term liabilities 
exceeded its current assets by TL 212,134. As of the end of 2021, the Group’s trade receivables are expected 
to be collected in long terms and some of the borrowings are short-term, resulting in a working capital deficit. 
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has TL 780,499 Operating Profit and net profit for the period 
of TL 108,278. The Group Management expects an increase in the main operating profitability with the scale 
to be formed from the growth in the revenue in the budget and estimation studies for 2022 and anticipates 
that this level will create a cash inflow to close the current working capital deficit. For these reasons, the Group 
management does not foresee a risk to the net working capital regarding the going concern of the entity.

 

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021  
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.1 Basis of Presentation (cont’d)
Basis of Consolidation
The details of the Group’s subsidiaries as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Karsan İç ve Dış Ticaret A.Ş.  Sales and marketing   Turkish Lira 100%    100%
Karsan USA LLC (*)    Sales and marketing   US Dollar   100%    100%
Karsan Europe S.R.L.    Sales and marketing  Euro   100%    100%
Hervouet Corporate Industry (HCI)  Sales and marketing  Euro   50%    50%
Hervouet Corporate Lease (HCL)  Sales and marketing  Euro  50%    50%

(*) As explained in detail in Note 1, it is not included in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2021 and 31 December 2020 by full consolidation method.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee 
unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the 
Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size of holdings of the other vote holders;
• potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current 

ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns 
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to 
control the subsidiary.

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)

Name of company

Place of 
incorporation
and operation

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting power held

by the Group (%)

Functional
currency

31 December 
2021

31 December 
2020
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KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021  
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.1 Basis of Presentation (cont’d)
Basis of Consolidation (cont’d)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over 
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and 
the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any 
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss and is calculated 
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value 
of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities 
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive 
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets 
or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as 
specified/permitted by applicable TFRS). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at 
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under 
TFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate 
or a joint venture.
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KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.1 Basis of Presentation (cont’d)
Investments in Associates

The details of the Group’s investment in associates as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi Mamulleri
Pazarlama A.Ş. (“Karsan Pazarlama”)(*) 

(*) After the capital increase in Karsan Pazarlama Sanayi Mamulleri Pazarlama A.Ş. in January 2021, 
Karsan Otomotiv Sanayii ve Ticaret A.Ş.’s share in the capital and voting rights decreased from 25% 
to 6.43%. As a result, the Group has no significant influence on the Company, so it has been classified 
as “financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income”.
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the 
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control 
or joint control over those policies.
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing 
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require 
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these 
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, 
or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with 
TFRS 5. Under the equity method, an investment in associate or a joint venture is initially recognized 
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the 
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or a joint venture. 
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in 
that associate or a joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part 
of the Group’s net investment in the associate or a joint venture), the Group discontinues recognizing 
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the extent that the Group has 
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or a joint 
venture.
Profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are eliminated in 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint 
venture that are not related to the Group.  
 

Name of company

Place of 
incorporation
and operation

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting power held

by the Group (%)

Functional
currency 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Sales and marketing                 Turkish Lira              6.43                    25
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KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies
Significant changes in accounting policies have been applied retrospectively and prior period consolidated 
financial statements are restated. The Group has not made any changes in its accounting policies in the current 
year due to the effects of the changes in the standards.

2.3 Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
If changes in accounting estimates and errors are for only one period, changes are applied in the current 
year but if the estimated changes affect the following periods, changes are applied both on the current 
and following years prospectively. In the current year, there are not any changes in accounting estimate 
methods of the Group.

2.4 New and Amended Turkish Financial Reporting Standards
a) Amendments that are mandatorily effective from 2021 
Amendments to TFRS 9, TAS 39, TFRS 7, TFRS 4 and TFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2
The amendments in Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 (Amendments to TFRS 9, TAS 39, TFRS 7, 
TFRS 4 and TFRS 16) introduce a practical expedient for modifications required by the reform, clarify that hedge 
accounting is not discontinued solely because of the IBOR reform, and introduce disclosures that allow users to 
understand the nature and extent of risks arising from the IBOR reform to which the entity is exposed to and 
how the entity manages those risks as well as the entity’s progress in transitioning from IBORs to alternative 
benchmark rates, and how the entity is managing this transition.
The amendments to TFRS 9, TAS 39, TFRS 7, TFRS 4 and TFRS 16 are all effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2021. Early application is permitted.
The Group management has evaluated that these changes do not have any impact on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group.

b) New and revised TFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not yet adopted the following standards and amendments and interpretations to the existing 
standards:

TFRS 17      Insurance Contracts

Amendments to TAS 1   Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current

Amendments to TFRS 3   Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to TAS 16   Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to TAS 37   Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to TFRS Standards  Amendments to TFRS 1, TFRS 9 and TAS 41 

2018-2020  

Amendments to TFRS 4    Extension of the Temporary Exemption from Applying TFRS 9

Amendments to TFRS 16   Continuing Concessions in Rent Payments Related to  
     COVID-19 After 30 June 2021

Amendments to TAS 1   Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to TAS 8   Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to TAS 12   Deferred Tax on Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.4 New and Amended Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (cont’d)
b) New and revised TFRSs in issue but not yet effective (cont’d)
TFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
TFRS 17 requires insurance liabilities to be measured at a current fulfillment value and provides a more uniform 
measurement and presentation approach for all insurance contracts. These requirements are designed to 
achieve the goal of a consistent, principle-based accounting for insurance contracts. TFRS 17 supersedes TFRS 
4 Insurance Contracts as of 1 January 2023. 

Amendments to TAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current
The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the requirements by helping companies determine 
whether, in the statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date should 
be classified as current (due or potentially due to be settled within one year) or non-current.
Amendments to TAS 1 are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier 
application is permitted.

Amendments to TFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
The amendments update an outdated reference to the Conceptual Framework in TFRS 3 without significantly 
changing the requirements in the standard.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Early application is 
permitted if an entity also applies all other updated references (published together with the updated Conceptual 
Framework) at the same time or earlier.

Amendments to TFRS 16   Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds Before Intended Use
The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds 
from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognizes the proceeds from selling 
such items, and the cost of producing those items, in profit or loss.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Early application is 
permitted. 

Amendments to TAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the 
contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract can either be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract or an 
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts.
The amendments published today are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Early 
application is permitted.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.4 New and Amended Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (cont’d)
b) New and revised TFRSs in issue but not yet effective (cont’d)
Annual Improvements to TFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle
Amendments to TFRS 1 First Time Adoption of Turkish Financial Reporting Standards 
The amendment permits a subsidiary that applies paragraph D16(a) of TFRS 1 to measure cumulative 
translation differences using the amounts reported by its parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to 
TFRSs.

Amendments to TFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The amendment clarifies which fees an entity includes in assessing whether to derecognize a financial liability. 
An entity includes only fees paid or received between the entity (the borrower) and the lender, including fees 
paid or received by either the entity or the lender on the other’s behalf.

Amendments to TAS 41 Agriculture
The amendment removes the requirement in paragraph 22 of TAS 41 for entities to exclude taxation cash 
flows when measuring the fair value of a biological asset using a present value technique. This will ensure 
consistency with the requirements in TFRS 13.
The amendments to TFRS 1, TFRS 9, and TAS 41 are all effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2022. Early application is permitted.

Amendments to TFRS 4 Extension of the Temporary Exemption from Applying TFRS 9 
The amendment changes the fixed expiry date for the temporary exemption in TFRS 4 Insurance Contracts 
from applying TFRS 9 Financial Instruments, so that entities would be required to apply TFRS 9 for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

Amendments to TFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 
The Public Oversight Accounting and Auditing Standards Authority (“POA”), published in June 2020, published 
Continuing Concessions for COVID-19 Related Lease Payments After 30 June 2021 – Amendments to TFRS 
16, which extends the exemption for lessees to determine whether certain concessions granted due to 
COVID-19 on lease payments due to COVID-19 have changed by one more year.
When the change was first published, the facilitating practice only applied if any reduction in lease payments 
would affect payments that would normally be due on or before 30 June 2021.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.4 New and Amended Turkish Financial Reporting Standards (cont’d)
b) New and revised TFRSs in issue but not yet effective (cont’d)
Amendments to TFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (cont’d)
As lessors continue to offer rental concessions related to COVID-19 to tenants and the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic continues and is significant, POA has extended the period during which the facilitator can be used 
by one year.
This new change will be applied by tenants for annual accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021, 
but early application is permitted.

Amendments to TAS 1 Disclosure of Accouting Policies
The amendments require that an entity discloses its material accounting policies, instead of its significant 
accounting policies. 
Amendments to TAS 1 are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and 
earlier application is permitted.

Amendments to TAS 8  Definition of Accounting Estimates 
With this amendment, the definition of “a change in accounting estimates” has been replaced with the 
definition of “an accounting estimate”, sample and explanatory paragraphs regarding estimates have 
been added, and the differences between application of an estimate prospectively and corrections of errors 
retrospectively have been clarified.
Amendments to TAS 8 are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and 
earlier application is permitted.

Amendments to TAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
This amendments clarify that the initial recognition exemption does not apply to transactions in which equal 
amounts of deductable and taxable temporary differences arise on initial recognition. 
Amendments to TAS 12 are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and 
earlier application is permitted.
The Group evaluates the effects of these standards, amendments and improvements on the consolidated 
financial statements.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial statements 
(reporting entity).
a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that person:
(i)   has control or joint control over the reporting entity;
(ii)   has significant influence over the reporting entity; or 
(iii)   is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting 

entity.

(b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member 
of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv)   One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting entity 

or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring 
employers are also related to the reporting entity.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).
(vii)  A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management 

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting entity and a 
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
Revenue
The Group recognises revenue based on the following five principles:
• Identification of customer contracts 
• Identification of performance obligations 
• Determination of the transaction price in the contracts 
• Allocation of transaction price to the performance obligations
• Recognition of revenue when the performance obligations are satisfied

The Group evaluates each contracted obligation separately and respective obligations, committed to deliver the 
distinct goods or perform services, are determined as separate performance obligations.
The Group determines at contract inception whether the performance obligation is satisfied over time or at 
a point in time for every performance obligation. When the Group transfers control of a good or service over 
time, and therefore satisfies a performance obligation over time, then the revenue is recognised over time by 
measuring the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
When a performance obligation is satisfied by transferring promised goods or services to a customer, the Group 
recognises the revenue as the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to that performance obligation. 
The goods or services are transferred when the control of the goods or services is delivered to the customers.

Following indicators are considered while evaluating the transfer of control of the goods and services:
• presence of the Group’s collection right of the consideration for the goods or services, 
• customer’s ownership of the legal title on goods or services, 
• physical transfer of the goods or services,
• customer’s ownership of significant risks and rewards related to the goods or services, 
• customer’s acceptance of goods or services. 

If the Group expects, at contract inception, that the period between when the Group transfers a promised good 
or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year or less, the 
promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component is not adjusted. On the 
other hand, when the contract effectively constitutes a financing component, the fair value of the consideration 
is determined by discounting all future receipts using an imputed rate of interest. The difference between the fair 
value and the nominal amount of the consideration is recognised on an accrual basis as other operating income.

Vehicle sales within the scope of Hyundai Motor Company (“HMC”) Project
The Group recognizes the revenue related with HMC project to the financial statements as HMC product 
acceptance procedures are completed and vehicles are delivered to HMC or HMC’s related parties. Additionally, 
the Group has the right to demand compensation from HMC in accordance of number of yearly production 
stays under the determined number in the contract. The Group calculates the amount of compensation based 
on the criteria determined in the contract and accounts for as accrued income within the scope of TFRS 15 in 
consolidated financial statements (Note 6).
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Revenue (cont’d)

Sales of Karsan brand vehicles
The Group recognizes the revenue related to its own branded vehicles in the consolidated financial statements 
at the time of sale in accordance with the above-mentioned policy.

Revenue from extended warranty and maintenance service sales
The Group sells warranty and maintenance services for the period starting from the end of the statutory 
periods required by the law for its products. The price of additional commitments is considered as a different 
service that is committed in the contract separately from the products sold. For this reason, the Group is 
accounted for as a separate performance obligation due to extended warranty sales and maintenance 
services.

Bus Sales (Tenders) 
The Group recognizes the revenue from the public tenders (municipality) when the buses are delivered. The 
Group provides the service of repair and maintenance in the following 5 years of the sale. Related to the cost 
of services, provisions for repair and maintenance is accounted for simultaneously with the revenue.

Finance sector operations
Finance sector operations include the financial leasing transactions where the Group is the lessee according 
to the TFRS 16-“Leases”. 
The Group has evaluated the signed contract conditions within “TFRS 4- Determining whether an agreement 
contains lease transaction”. In this scope; 

(a) Fulfilment of the terms of the agreement depends on the investments being financed by the Group. 
(b)  The agreement has transferred the right to use to HMC. 
(c)  The right of control over the products produced by an investment has been fully transferred to HMC. 
(d)  Lease payments to be made for investment is separated from the other payments under the agreement. 

In conclusion, the Group has classified the related investments as financial leasing transactions where all the 
risks belong to HMC. 
Leased assets are tracked in the financial statements as a receivable equal to the net lease investment 
in financial leasing. Income related to leasing is determined to bring a constant periodic return on the net 
investment. Lease payments to reduce the principal and the unearned finance charges are deducted from the 
gross amount of the lease investments (Note 7). Unearned finance income is the difference between gross 
investments in lease rental on the implied interest rate on the present value of gross investment. Implied 
interest rate, at the inception of the lease, the minimum lease payments and guaranteed residual values have 
not been total, the reality is the fair value of the leased asset and the discount rate that equates to the sum of 
the initial cost.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Revenue (cont’d)
Finance sector operations (cont’d)
Rental period projected sales revenues in the financial statements at the beginning of the fair value of the asset, 
or, as calculated in the case of market interest rates, provided it is below this value and to be received by the 
lessor is the present value of the minimum lease payments. The cost of sale recognized at the inception of the 
lease is the cost of the leased asset. The difference between the sales revenue and sales cost is the sales profit.

Dividend and interest income:
Dividend income from investments is recognized when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been 
established (provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of 
income can be measured reliably).
Interest income from a financial asset is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, 
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s 
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of 
fixed and variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventories held by the method most appropriate to the 
particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a weighted average basis. Net realizable value 
represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. 
When the net realizable value of inventory is less than cost, the inventory is written down to the net realizable 
value and the expense is included in statement of profit or loss in the period the write-down or loss occurred. 
When the circumstances that previously caused inventories to be written down below cost no longer exist or 
when there is clear evidence of an increase in net realizable value because of changed economic circumstances, 
the amount of the write-down is reversed. The reversal amount is limited to the amount of the original write-
down.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, 
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value 
at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated 
impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do not 
differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the end of each reporting period. The 
Group has adopted “revaluation model” for land and property, plant and equipment effective from March 2009 
and for buildings from May 2015. The Group has made the latest valuation for the land and buildings on 17 
December 2021.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d)
Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is recognized in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease 
for the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or 
loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the 
revaluation of such land and buildings is recognized in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, 
if any, held in the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.
Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at 
cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees. Such properties are classified to 
the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. 
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are 
ready for their intended use.
Depreciation on revalued buildings is charged to profit or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a 
revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the properties revaluation reserve is 
transferred directly to retained earnings. No transfers from the revaluation fund to retained earnings are made 
unless the asset is derecognised.
Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than freehold land and 
properties under construction, less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method.  
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned 
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the 
lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Leases
The Group as Lessee
The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises 
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the 
lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low 
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 
which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, 
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:
• fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;
•  variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 

commencement date;
•  the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
• the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
•  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate  

the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. The lease 
liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using 
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. The 
Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) 
whenever:
•  the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which 

case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount 
rate
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Leases (cont’d)
The Group as Lessee (cont’d)
• the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under 

a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised 
lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a 
floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

• a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which 
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount 
rate at the effective date of the modification

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.
The right of use assets include the first measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments 
made before or before the lease actually starts, and other direct initial costs. These assets are subsequently 
measured at cost by deducting accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
A provision is recognized in accordance with TAS 37 in cases where the group is exposed to the costs required 
to disassemble and eliminate a lease asset, to restore the area on which the asset is located, or to restore the 
main asset in accordance with the terms and conditions of the lease. These costs are included in the relevant 
right of use assets, unless they are used for stock production.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying 
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that 
the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful 
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.
The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
The Group applies TAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any 
identified impairment loss as described in the ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ policy.
Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability 
and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in ‘Other expenses’ in profit or loss.
As a practical expedient, TFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead 
account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has not 
used this practical expedient.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses (1-20 years).

Computer software
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to 
use the specific software. These costs are amortized over their estimated useful lives (1-20 years).
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognized as an expense 
as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the development of identifiable and unique software products 
controlled by the Group, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, 
are recognized as intangible assets. Costs include the software development employee costs and an appropriate 
portion of relevant overheads.

Internally-generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure
Capitalized development costs for the improvement of vehicles produced consists of expenditure incurred by the 
company. Intangible assets created within the business providing future economic benefits where possible to 
the Group are capitalized at cost.
Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal 
project) is recognized if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
• The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
• The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
• How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
• The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use 

or sell the intangible asset; and
• The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Intangible Assets (cont’d)
The amount initially recognized for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure 
incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.  Where no 
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognized, development expenditure is recognized in profit or 
loss in the period in which it is incurred.
Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired 
separately.

Derecognition of intangible assets
An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use 
or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognized in profit or loss when 
the asset is derecognized.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets Other Than Goodwill
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered 
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order 
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate 
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest 
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Recoverable 
amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of 
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Intangible Assets (cont’d)
The increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to the extent that it eliminates the impairment loss which has been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. Any increase in excess of this amount is treated as a revaluation increase.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale.
When the Group borrows funds specifically for the purpose of the qualifying assets, the amount of borrowing 
costs eligible for capitalization is the actual borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing during the period 
less any investment income on the temporary investment of those borrowings. The capitalization rate is the 
weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the entity that are outstanding 
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.
Borrowing costs amounting to TL 7,718 relating to the loans used have been capitalized in the accounting 
period ending as of 31 December 2021 are capitalized (31 December 2020: TL 3,697). The capitalization 
rate used to calculate the amount of capitalization is 19.78% (2020: 11.76%). All other borrowing costs are 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when 
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial 
liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

Financial assets
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 
basis. 
The Group classifies its financial assets as (a) Business model used for managing financial assets, (b) 
financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost, at fair value through other comprehensive 
income or at fair value through profit or loss based on the characteristics of contractual cash flows. The 
Company reclassifies all financial assets effected from the change in the business model it uses for the 
management of financial assets. The reclassification of financial assets is applied prospectively from the 
reclassification date. In such cases, no adjustment is made to gains, losses (including any gains or losses of 
impairment) or interest previously recognized in the financial statements.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Financial Instruments (cont’d)
Financial assets (cont’d)
Classification of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:
• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 

collect contractual cash flows; and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVTOCI):
• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
Despite the foregoing, the Group may make the following irrevocable election at initial recognition of a financial 
asset; the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in 
other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met.

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method
Interest income on financial assets carried at amortized cost is calculated using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. This income is calculated by applying the effective interest 
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset:
(a) Credit-impaired financial assets when purchased or generated. For such financial assets, the Company 
applies the effective interest rate on the amortized cost of a financial asset based on the loan from the date of 
the recognition in the financial statements.
(b) Non-financial assets that are impaired at the time of acquisition or generation but subsequently become 
a financial asset that has been impaired. For such financial assets, the Company applies the effective interest 
rate to the amortized cost of the asset in the subsequent reporting periods.
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Financial Instruments (cont’d)
Financial assets (cont’d)
Classification of financial assets (cont’d)
(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at 
FVTPL.
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging relationship 
(see hedge accounting policy).

(iii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to 
designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI.

A financial asset is held for trading if:
• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages   

together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
• it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective 

hedging instrument).

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or 
loss is not reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, it is transferred to retained 
earnings.
Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss in accordance with TFRS 
9, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are shown in 
“income from investment activities” in profit or loss.
The Group designated all investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading as at FVTOCI on initial 
recognition (Note 30). 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Financial Instruments (cont’d)
Financial assets (cont’d)
Foreign exchange gains and losses
The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically,
• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 

exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss;
• for debt instruments measured at FVTOCI that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 

exchange differences on the amortised cost of the debt instrument are recognised in profit or loss. Other 
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income;

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss; and

• for equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments that are 
measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade receivables and contract assets, as well 
as financial guarantee contracts. No impairment loss is recognised for investments in equity instruments. The 
amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 
recognition of the respective financial instrument.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Financial Instruments (cont’d)
Financial assets (cont’d)
Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)
The Group utilizes a simplified approach for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables that does 
not have significant financing component and calculates the allowance for impairment against the lifetime ECL 
of the related financial assets.
For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an 
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of 
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described 
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount 
at the reporting date.
The expected credit loss of financial assets is the initial effective interest rate (or credit-impairment when 
purchased or created) of the difference between all of the Group’s contractually realized cash flows and all of 
the cash flows that the Group expects to collect (all cash deficits). It is the present value calculated over the loan-
adjusted effective interest rate for financial assets.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another entity. 
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on 
derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on derecognition of 
an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit 
or loss, but is transferred directly to retained earnings.

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021  
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)



163

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Financial Instruments (cont’d)
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL on initial recognition. On initial recognition of liabilities other 
than those that are recognised at FVTPL, transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance 
thereof are also recognised in the fair value.
A financial liability is subsequently classified at amortized cost except:
(a) Financial liabilities at FVTPL: These liabilities including derivative instruments are subsequently measured 
at fair value.
(b) Financial liabilities arising if the transfer of the financial asset does not meet the conditions of derecognition 
from the financial statements or if the ongoing relationship approach is applied: When the Group continues to 
present an asset based on the ongoing relationship approach, a liability in relation to this is also recognised in 
the financial statements. The transferred asset and the related liability are measured to reflect the rights and 
liabilities that the Company continues to hold. The transferred liability is measured in the same manner as the 
net book value of the transferred asset.
(c) A contingent consideration recognized in the financial statements by the entity acquired in a business 
combination where TFRS 3 is applied: After initial recognition, the related contingent consideration is measured 
as at FVTPL. 
The entity does not reclassify any financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised 
in profit or loss. 

Derivative financial instruments
Explanations in detail on derivative financial instruments are stated in Note 29.
Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in 
profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which 
event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Financial Intruments (cont’d)
Derivative financial instruments (cont’d)
A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair 
value is recognised as a financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unless the Group 
has both legal right and intention to offset. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current 
liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or 
settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities. 

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk and interest 
rate risk in fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign operations as appropriate. 
Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument 
and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various 
hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents 
whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged 
item attributable to the hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge 
effectiveness requirements:
• there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;
• the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and
• the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item 

that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to 
hedge that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the 
risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the 
hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again. 
The Group designates the full change in the fair value of a forward contract (i.e. including the forward elements) 
as the hedging instrument for all of its hedging relationships involving forward contracts. 
Note 29 and Note 31 set out details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Business Combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The 
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum 
of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to 
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the 
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair 
value, except that:
• Deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are 

recognized and measured in accordance with TAS 12 Income Taxes and TAS 19 Employee Benefits 
respectively;

• Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements 
of the acquiree are measured in accordance with TFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; 
and

• Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with TFRS 5 Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the 
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree 
(if any), the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at 
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another TFRS.
When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities 
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its 
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Business Combinations (cont’d)
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are 
adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments 
are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot 
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify 
as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent consideration is measured to fair value at subsequent 
reporting dates with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.
When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control) and the resulting 
gain or loss, if any, is recognized in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the 
acquisition date that have previously been recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or 
loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or 
liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the 
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognized at that date. 

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of 
the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to 
benefit from the synergies of the combination.
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently 
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of 
each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in profit or loss in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described in Participations note.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Effect of Exchange Changes
Foreign Currency Balances and Transactions
The ind ividual financial statements of each Group entity are presented in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The results and financial position of each 
entity are expressed in TL, which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for 
the consolidated financial statements. 
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than TL (foreign 
currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end 
of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items 
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
Exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

• Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future 
productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets where they are regarded as an adjustment 
to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

• Exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see 
below for hedging accounting policies); and

• Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which 
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur, which form part of the net investment in a foreign 
operation, and which are recognized in the foreign currency translation reserve and recognized in profit 
or loss on disposal of the net investment.

Financial Statements of Associates, Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures Operating in Other Countries

Assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations, are presented in TL considering exchange rates valid 
at the reporting date. Income and expenses are translated by using the average rate calculated for the year 
when the transaction occured, unless significant fluctuation has happened in exchange rates. (In case of 
any significant fluctuation in exchange rates, the transaction is translated by using the exchange rate at the 
transaction date.) The translation difference is accounted under comprehensive income as a component of 
equity. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Earnings Per Share
Earnings per share disclosed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss are determined by dividing net 
earnings by the weighted average number of shares that have been outstanding during the related period. 
In Turkey, companies can increase their share capital by making a pro-rata distribution of shares “bonus shares” 
to existing shareholders from retained earnings on equity items. Such kind of bonus shares are taken into 
consideration in the computation of earnings per share as issued share certificates. Accordingly, the weighted 
average number of shares used in these calculations has been calculated by taking into account the retrospective 
effects of the aforementioned share distributions.

Events After the Reporting Period
Events after the reporting period are those events that occur between the balance sheet date and the date when 
the financial statements are authorized for issue, even if they occur after an announcement related with the profit 
for the year or public disclosure of other selected financial information. 
The Group adjusts the amounts recognized in its financial statements if adjusting events occur after the balance 
sheet date. 

Provisions, Contingent Assets and Liabilities
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
The Group sells warranty commitments for the products it produces, for the periods starting from the end of the 
legal periods required by law. The price of additional repair and maintenance commitments given outside of 
the warranty services is determined separately from the products sold and is considered as a different service 
promised within the contract. Therefore, the Group accounts for the service to be provided due to sales of repair 
and maintenance services as a separate performance obligation (Note 15).

Warranties
Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations are recognized at the date of sale of the relevant 
products, at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the Group’s obligation.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Reporting of Financial Information According to Segments
Segmental reporting, with the reporting to the competent authority to make decisions regarding the Group’s 
activities are organized in order to ensure the uniformity. The authority to make decisions regarding the 
activities of the Group, and part of the decisions about resources to be allocated to the section responsible for 
the evaluation of performance. “Other” under the combined section by section due to be sufficient to meet the 
quantitative thresholds for reportable segments are combined for segment reporting. 
A reportable segment is a business segment or a geographical segment identified based on the foregoing 
definitions for which segment information is required to be disclosed. A business segment is a distinguishable 
component of an enterprise that is engaged in providing an individual product or service or a group of 
related products or services and that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other 
business segments. A geographical segment is a distinguishable component of an enterprise that is engaged 
in providing products or services within a particular economic environment and that is subject to risks and 
returns that are different from those of components operating in other economic environments. 
A business segment or geographical segment should be identified as a reportable segment if a majority of 
its revenue is earned from sales to external customers and if its revenue from sales to external customers 
and from transactions with other segments is 10% or more of the total revenue, external and internal, of all 
segments; or its segment result, whether profit or loss, is 10% or more of the combined result of all segments in 
profit or the combined result of all segments in loss, whichever is the greater in absolute amount; or its assets 
are 10% or more of the total assets of all segments. Management for information on the financial statement 
users about the segment if believed to be useful, industrial or geographical segments that do not meet any of 
the quantitative thresholds can also be considered as a reportable segment and information about them can 
be explained separately (Note 4).

Government Grants and Incentives
Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.
Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, 
government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise 
acquire non-current assets are recognized as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of financial 
position (balance sheet) and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful 
lives of the related assets.
Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the 
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognized in 
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
The benefit of a government loan at a below-market interest rate is treated as a government grant, measured 
as the difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest 
rates. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Income Taxes
Turkish tax legislation does not permit a parent company and its subsidiary to file a consolidated tax return. 
Therefore, provisions for taxes, as reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, have been 
calculated on a separate-entity basis.
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

Current tax 
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as 
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable 
or deductible in other years and it excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax liability or asset is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax rates which are used in the computation of 
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition 
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal 
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and 
interests are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against 
which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable 
future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets 
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting 
date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
Income Taxes (cont’d)
Current and deferred tax for the period
Current and deferred tax are recognized as in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognized 
directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognized in directly in equity. 

Employee Benefits 

Employee Termination Benefits:
Under Turkish law and union agreements, lump sum payments are made to employees retiring or involuntarily 
leaving the Group.  Such payments are considered as being part of defined retirement benefit plan as per TAS 
19 (Revised) Employee Benefits (“TAS 19”).
The employee termination benefit liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position 
represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation. The actuarial gains and losses are recognized 
in other comprehensive income. 

Statement of Cash Flows
In statement of cash flows, cash flows are classified according to operating, investing and financing activities. 

Share Capital and Dividends
Common shares are classified as equity. Dividends on common shares are recognized in equity by deducting 
the dividend amount from accumulated profits in the period in which they are approved and declared.

2.6  Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2.5, management 
has made the following judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt with below):

(a) Judgements in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations
Management takes into account the detailed conditions stated in TFRS 15, in particular the control of goods 
and services, to the customer regarding the fulfillment of the performance obligations and the recording of the 
allocated transaction costs as revenue.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.6  Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (cont’d)
Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies (cont’d)
(b) Useful lives of property,plant and equipment and intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (excluding lands, plant, machinery and equipment) are 
presented at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. Depreciation on property, plant and 
equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual 
values over their estimated useful lives. Useful lives depend on best estimates of management, are reviewed in 
each financial period and necessary corrections are made.

(c) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
of the amount can be made. The Group considers the realizations in the period and period when determining the 
provisionary estimations (Note 15).

(d) Carry forward tax losses
The Group is accounting deferred income tax asset and liabilities for temporary timing differences arise from 
the difference between tax base financial statements and financial statements prepared in accordance with 
TFRS. The Group has deferred income tax assets consist of unused financial losses could reduce from taxable 
income in the future and other reducible temporary differences. The Group considered its future profit projections 
and the maturity dates of the tax losses generated in the current period while recognising deferred income tax 
assets. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such 
determination is made (Note 27).

(e) Provision for doubtful receivable
The Company reserves for doubtful trade receivables that overdue and the possibility of collection is decreased 
according to the experience of past uncollected receivables (Note 6).

(f) Constructions in progress and capitalised development expenses
As of 31 December 2021, the constructions in progress amounting to TL 258,054 (31 December 2020: TL 
196,133) consist of property, plant and equipment and intangible investments related to ongoing projects. 
Following the completion of these projects, they are going to be capitalized and depreciated. In addition, the Group 
has development expenses related to the projects that are capitalized under intangible assets amounting to TL 
262,886 (31 December 2020: TL 281,881). Besides, investments that have no longer economic benefit and are 
part of construction in progress are deducted from assets. Based on best estimates of the Group management, 
it is predicted that the economic benefit from investments will exceed their book value.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.6 Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (cont’d)
Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies (cont’d)
(g) Capitalization of borrowing costs
The Group capitalizes borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the production of qualifying assets. The 
details of the borrowing costs capitalized during the period are disclosed in Note 11.

(h) Impairment of Inventory
Impairment of inventory is determined according to the Group’s accounting policy. It is calculated by evaluating 
non-moving inventory and possible depreciation (Note 9).

(i) Investment Allowance, R&D Allowance and Allowance of Interest of Cash Capital Increase
The Group, upon the assessment in the frame of Corporate Tax Law No. 5520 Article 32/A, deferred tax 
asset amounting TL 100,789 (31 December 2020: TL 51,350) corresponding to TL 536,855 (31 December 
2020: TL 332,317) investment within the scope of government grants and incentives was recognized with the 
anticipation of benefiting from reduced corporate tax in the forthcoming periods (Note 27). In case the amount 
of investment within the scope of government grants and incentives differ from the findings in the current 
period of investment incentives that may affect the Group’s deferred tax assets following the finalization of 
the amount of investments. 

(j) Measurement of expected credit loss
The Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information that is based on assumptions 
about future economic conditions and how these conditions will affect each other while measuring expected 
loss provision. The loss of default is an estimate of default losses. Taking into account the cash flows arising 
from collateral and credit enhancements, it is based on the difference between the receivables that the lender 
expects to collect and the cash flows in contracts. The probability of default is an important input in measuring 
expected credit losses. The probability of default is an estimate of the probability of default in a given time 
period, and the calculation includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions.

(k) Control over HCI
Since the Group has 50% shares of  HCI, HCI is defined as a subsidiary of the Group in Note 3. Based on 
the agreements signed between the Group and other investors, the Group has the power to change and 
appoint members of the board of directors that will enable HCI to manage its activities. Therefore, the Group 
management has found that the Company has the authority to manage the Company’s activities, and 
therefore the Group has control over the HCI.

(l) Impairment of goodwill
In accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.5, the Group subjected the goodwill amount to 
impairment test every year. The recoverable amounts of cash generating units are determined according to 
the value calculations in use. These calculations require estimation.
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KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021  
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)

3. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES AND BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Participations
Details of material participations:
Details of each of the Group’s material participations as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are 
as follows:

(*) After the capital increase in Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi Mamulleri Pazarlama A.Ş. in January 2021, the 
Company’s shareholding rate and voting rights decreased from 25% to 6.43%. As a result, since the Group 
does not have significant influence over the company, it has been accounted for as “financial asset at fair 
value through other comprehensive income” at zero cost in the consolidated financial statements as of 31 
December 2021.
Summarized financial information related to of each of the Group’s material participations is explained below. 
The summarized financial information below represents amounts shown in the participation’s financial 
statements prepared in accordance with TFRS.

Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi Mamulleri Pazarlama A.Ş.
The Company discloses Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi Mamulleri Pazarlama A.Ş., its participation, at zero cost in 
the consolidated financial statements, since the amount of net assets of Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi Mamulleri 
Pazarlama A.Ş. is negative.

Reconciliation of the financial information summarized above with the book value of the participation in the 
consolidated financial statements:

Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi Mamulleri
Pazarlama A.Ş. (“Karsan Pazarlama”) (*)         Sales and marketing                Turkish Lira      6.43          25

Name of company

Place of
incorporation
and operation

Functional
currency 31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Proportion of ownership interest  
and voting power held by the Group (%)

                                                                                                        Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi  
                                                                                                   Mamulleri Pazarlama A.Ş.

        31 December 2020 

Current assets                                        5,412
Non-current assets                             99
Current liabilities                       (491)
Non-current liabilities                      - 
Total                        4,750

Revenue                        1,105
Loss for the period                        (258)
Other comprehensive expense                        - 
Total comprehensive expense                       (258)

        31 December 2020
Net assets of associate                    4,750
Proportion of Group’s ownership interest in associate                     %25
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in associate                         - 

1 January- 
31 December 2020
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3. INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES AND BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (cont’d)
Participations (cont’d)
Details of material participations (cont’d):
Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi Mamulleri Pazarlama A.Ş. (cont’d)
Shares of participation gains / losses that are not reflected in the consolidated financial statements:

(*) The major part of capital advance payment made to Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi Mamulleri Pazarlama 
A.Ş. during the period was made by its main partner Kıraça Holding. For this reason, the net assets of 
the Company were evaluated as negative in terms of Karsan Otomotiv and continued to be disclosed in 
the consolidated financial statements at zero cost.

4. SEGMENT REPORTING
Reporting segment is an industrial or geographical segment where the information must be declared. 
Industrial segments are sections with different characteristics from particular goods or services, or other 
parts of the Group in terms of providing goods or services or the risks and benefits associated with 
each group. Geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular 
economic environment and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic 
environments in terms of risks and benefits.
 

Shares of participation gains/(losses) that are not reflected
in the consolidated financial statements (*)                             1.187

31 December 2020

(*) The “Gross Profit from Finance Sector Activities” amounting to TL 30,778 (2020: TL 55,586) is included in the 
sales recorded as export.

(**) Consists of Georgia, Hungary, Israel, Spain, South Korea, Austria, Hong Kong, Switzerland, Canada and 
Slovakia. (2020: Georgia, Hungary, Israel, Spain, South Korea, Austria, Switzerland and Slovakia.)

Turkey                     1,066,074               458,290
Export registered sales (*)      403,565                 300,863
France           297,821                 223,166
Ukraine            90,103               -
Italy            66,230                448,874
Romania           51,088                109,894
Portugal             41,717         294
Germany            37,910                   13,792
Israel                           10,621               -
Bulgaria              9,936                  20,174
Norway                            8,353              -
Lithuania             7, 022            141
Greece              6,497       8,091
Croatia               1,956              -
Poland                               814       8,536
Other (**)              1,073   23,838
                     2,100,240              1,615,953

1 January- 
31 December 

2021

1 January- 
31 December 

2020
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING (cont’d)
The main field of activity of the Group is the production of automotive and similar vehicles and spare 
parts, and there are four operating segments that contain the information that the Group Management 
evaluates the performance and uses to decide on the resource allocation. These operating segments 
of the Group are Karsan branded products, where reporting is made on commercial vehicles produced 
under its own brand, industrial and spare parts sales are reported on spare parts, tractor cabins and 
catophoresis operations, and other branded sales are reported on commercial vehicles produced for other 
brands. In the regular evaluation of the performance of the segments, the main operating profit or loss 
is taken into account, but the distribution of other expenses and income items from the main activities is 
not made. Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are located in Turkey. In addition, since a periodical 
information about assets and liabilities was not provided to the competent decision-making authority, 
the reporting of assets and liabilities according to segments was not made. The Group management 
examines its financial data over the financial statements prepared in accordance with TFRS

Revenue             2,069,462     607,891            441,883    981,659                38,029
Cost of sales (-)             (1,526,105)                (355,331)        (380,447)               (768,916)               (41,411)
Gross profit/(loss) from
commercial operations               543,357      272,560             61,436                  212,743     3,382
Gross profit from finance
sector operations                30,778                   -           -       30,778           - 

Gross profit/(loss)              574,135       272,560              61,436    243,521     3,382
Marketing expenses (-)             (126,635)                  (97,666)             (17,210)     (11,424)    (335)
General administrative 
expenses (-)                 (117,293)                   (76,017)             (15,140)   (26,492)            -
Research and development
costs (-)                  (5,798)           (2,431)           -       (3,367)            - 
Other income from 
operating activities                 461,878                     107,848              79,435     267,492      7,103
Other expenses from
operating activities (-)                (5,788)                        (1,351)                 (995)      (3,352)       (90)
Operating profit/(loss)              780,499      202,943              107,526    466,734    3,296

1 January -  31 December 2021 Total Other
Karsan Branded 

Products
Industrial and 

Spare Parts
Other Branded 

Sales
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING (cont’d)

5. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, 
have been eliminated during consolidation process and are not disclosed in this note.
The trade receivables from related parties arise mainly from sale transactions their approximate maturity 
is 75 days.
The trade payables to related parties arise mainly from purchase transactions and are due 75 days.
Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below:

Revenue             1,560,367       358,393           268,920                889,846               43,208
Cost of sales (-)              (1,141,915)                  (221,357)          (221,187)              (656,999)            (42,372)
Gross profit/(loss) from
commercial operations               418,452        137,036              47,733   232,847       836
Gross profit from finance
sector operations                55,586                  -            -      55,586            -
 
Gross profit/(loss)              474,038        137,036              47,733   288,433      836
Marketing expenses (-)             (76,453)       (43,493)             (8,992)                (23,968)            - 
General administrative
expenses (-)               (71,954)      (29,693)             (10,861)   (30,994)    (406)
Research and development
costs (-)                (10,258)         (7,758)          -     (2,500)            - 
Other income from
operating activities               241,786          63,516              45,814                  130,740        1,716
Other expenses from
operating activities (-)              (32,075)      (17,728)             (3,623)                 (10,340)                (384)
Operating profit/(loss)              525,084       101,880             70,071                   351,371                 1,762

1 January -  31 December 2021 Total Other
Karsan Branded 

Products
Industrial and 

Spare Parts
Other Branded 

Sales
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Kıraça Holding A.Ş.                    -               10,994       (13)
Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi Mamülleri Pazarlama A.Ş.                 -                       -       (62) 
Karland Otomotiv A.Ş.              797                       -            - 
Sirena Marine Denizcilik ve Ticaret A.Ş.                  -                       -               (8,488)
Kök Ziraat Turizm San. ve Tic. A.Ş.                  -                       -                   (148)
Kırsan Turizm ve Otomotiv San. ve Tic. A.Ş.                 -                       -                  (636)
Kar İnşaat Taahhüt San. ve Tic. A.Ş.                 -                        -                     (15)
                 797            10,994               (9,362)

Kıraça Holding A.Ş.                    -                      -     (699)
Karland Otomotiv A.Ş.               409                    -             - 
Sirena Marine Denizcilik ve Ticaret A.Ş.                 -                      -   (9,331)
Kök Ziraat Turizm San. ve Tic. A.Ş.                  -                      -        (97)
Kırsan Turizm ve Otomotiv San. ve Tic. A.Ş.                -                      -       (35)
Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi Mamülleri Pazarlama A.Ş.             218                     -             - 
Kar İnşaat Taahhüt San. ve Tic. A.Ş.                  -                      -         (14)
Other                     -                      -       (173)
                 627                     -              (10,349)

Receivables
Current

Trade

Trade

Non-Trade

Non-Trade

Receivables
Current

Balances with related parties

Balances with related parties

31 December 2020

31 December 2021

      Payables 
Current

Trade

      Payables 
Current

Trade
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(1) Kaynak Sigorta Acenteliği A.Ş. is not disclosed anymore as related party as of 11 May 2020.

Kıraça Holding A.Ş.    (13,425)            -          -              -                  -      -           - 
Kırsan Turizm ve Otomotiv 
San.ve Tic. A.Ş.      (2,805)            -          -              -              (34)     -             - 
Karland Otomotiv A.Ş.               -         (72)   2,535             -       -      -     (282)
Kök Ziraat Turizm San. 
ve Tic. A.Ş.         (810)            -          -              -                   -     (4,280)            - 
Kar İnşaat Taahhüt San. 
ve Tic. A.Ş.            (18)            -          -              -                   -                -             - 
Sirena Marine Denizcilik 
ve Ticaret A.Ş.                 -              (17,433)        4             -                (4)     -                   - 
Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi 
Mamülleri Pazarlama A.Ş.               -             -     158             -      -      -          (7)
       (17,061)             (17,505)              2,697             -               (38)   (4,280)          (289)

Kıraça Holding A.Ş.       (8,112)            -          -              -             (34)     -         (8) 
Kırsan Turizm ve Otomotiv 
San.ve Tic. A.Ş.         (924)            -          -              -                   -       -             -
Karland Otomotiv A.Ş.               -        (924)   1,710             -       -      -      (257)
Kök Ziraat Turizm San. 
ve Tic. A.Ş.         (778)            -          -              -               (75)    (3,142)            - 
Kar İnşaat Taahhüt San. 
ve Tic. A.Ş.            (12)            -          -              -                   -                -             - 
Kaynak Sigorta Acenteliği A.Ş. (1)    (1,493)            -          -              -                   -                -             - 
Sirena Marine Denizcilik 
ve Ticaret A.Ş.                 -              (15,228)        7             -             (395)     -                   - 
Karsan Otomotiv Sanayi 
Mamülleri Pazarlama A.Ş.               -             -     235             -      -      -          (7)
       (11,319)             (16,152)               1,952             -             (504)   (3,142)           (272)

Transactions with  
Related Parties

Transactions with  
Related Parties

1 January-31 December 2021

1 January-31 December 2020

Service 
Received

Service 
Received

Rent 
Expense

Rent 
Expense

Other  
Income/ 

(Expenses)

Other  
Income/ 

(Expenses)

Purchases

Purchases

Sales

Sales

Interest 
Received

Interest 
Received

Interest 
Given

Interest 
Given

5. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (cont’d)
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5. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (cont’d)
The Group gets the information technology, human resource, financing and other consulting services 
from Kıraça Holding.
The Group procures some parts such as interior trim etc. and tools and equipments for these parts from 
Sirena Marine due to produce of minibus, midibuses and bus.
The Group pays monthly rent to Kök Ziraat A.Ş. for İstanbul office. Other expenses of Istanbul office are 
related to security, natural gas, repair and maintenance, cleaning and other common administrative 
expenses that are invoiced monthly by Kök Ziraat A.Ş. In addition, the factory building in Bursa Organized 
Industrial Zone was rented from Kök Ziraat A.Ş.

Compensation of key management personnel:
The Company’s key management team consists of the members of the Board of Directors, the Executive 
Committee and the Company’s general manager and assistants. Benefits provided to senior executives 
include wages, premiums, health insurance and transportation. The benefits provided to senior executives 
during the period are as follows:

6. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES
a) Trade Receivables:
The details of the Group’s trade receivables as of balance sheet date are as follows:

(*) Income accruals consist of compensation income which have been accrued for the Group’s project.

Salaries and other short term benefits            6,291       4,171
                6,291                   4,171

Trade receivables                    1,030,185              740,039
Notes receivable              11,751                   9,023
Trade receivables from related parties (Note 5)            797           627
Income accruals (*)           12,589               253,631
Allowance for doubtful receivables (-)      (43,839)                  (7,201)
Loss allowance (-)        (13,645)                (5,959)
           997,838               990,160

1 January- 31  
December 2021

31 December 2021Current trade receivables

1 January- 31  
December 2020

31 December 2020

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021  
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)
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6. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (cont’d)

The Group always measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The 
expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default 
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that 
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. 
In the current period, there are no significant change in the estimates and assumptions of the management.
The standard maturity of the Group is between 30 days and 60 days (31 December 2020: 30 days and 60 
days). 
Allowances for doubtful receivables are recognized against financial assets based on estimated irrecoverable 
amounts determined by reference to past default experience of the counterparty. Accrued exchange rate 
differences for the foreign currency doubtful receivables get involved to the provisions, related balance has 
been reflected to the foreign exchange gain and loss accounts.
Movements on the Group’s allowance of for doubtful receivables are as follows:

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary 
course of business. Trade receivables are classified as short term trade receivables which are generally with 
a maturity of 30 - 60 days and trade receivables from municipalities with a short term maturity. The group 
holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures 
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Explanations about the nature and level of risks related to trade and other receivables are provided 
in Note 31.

Restated opening balance as of January 1        (5,959)                 (5,012)
Period charge (Note 21)          (7,686)                   (947)
Closing balance         (13,645)                  (5,959)

Trade receivables          227,157                           -
               227,157                                -

Opening balance         (7,201)                  (2,656)
Provision for the year (Note 21)                    (36,728)                   (4,510)
Foreing currency translation difference           (90)                         (35)
Closing balance                     (43,839)                    (7,201)

1 January- 31  
December 2021

 31 December
2021

1 January- 31  
December 2021

Movement of al lowance for expected loss

Non-current trade receivables

Movement of allowance for doubtful receivables

1 January- 31  
December 2020

 31 December
2020

1 January- 31  
December 2020
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Trade payables                  (469,862)              (297,291)
Trade payables to related parties (Note 5)                    (9,362)                (10,349)
                    (479,224)              (307,640)

Short-term financial lease receivables (*)                -                   116,321 
                     -                 116,321

Long-term financial lease receivables (*)                 -                             - 
                      -                             -  
Total lease receivables                   -                     116.321

2021                  -          -        -          123,147          (6,826)            116,321
                -          -        -          123,147          (6,826)            116,321

31 December 2021

 31 December 2021

 31 December 2021

Minimum 
Lease 

receivables

Minimum 
Lease 

receivablesInterest Interest
Total  
asset

Total  
asset

Short term trade payables 31 December 2020

 31 December 2020

 31 December 2020

6. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (cont’d)
b) Trade Payables:
The details of the Group’s trade payables as of balance sheet date are as follows:

The average payment maturity regarding to trade payables of the Group is 90-120 days (31 December 2020: 
90-120 days). 
The Group has financial risk management policies to guarantee the repayment of its debts within its credit 
terms. 

7. RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES FROM FINANCE SECTOR OPERATIONS

(*)  Investments related to the contract signed with HMC, considering the terms of contracts concerning the 
financial leasing transaction within the scope of TFRS 4, are considered as financial lease receivables 
as a result of the evaluation. There are EUR 12,913 financial lease receivables as of 31 December 2020. 
The interest rate on the said receivable is 6%. As of 31 December 2021, the relevant project has been 
terminated and all financial leasing receivables have been invoiced.

Payment schedule of receivables from financial leasing transactions is as follows:
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8. OTHER RECEIVABLES

9. INVENTORIES

For the period 1 January - 31 December 2021, the cost of goods sold of the Group is amounting to TL 1,265,204 
(1 January - 31 December 2020: TL 905,299) related to the raw materials expense.
The Group has determined unused inventories for various periods in the current year. Therefore, provision for 
impairment of inventories has been allocated amounting to TL 5,369 (31 December 2020: TL 3,451).

Deposits and guarantees given        37,475                    1,579
Other receivables from third parties       54,781                   5,602
Other receivables from related parties (Note 5)      10,994                            -
          103,250        7,181

Raw materials          156,531                109,561
Work in progress          41,836                                11,956
Finished goods          32,254                23,029
Trade goods          56,542                                            32,104 
Goods in transit          32,387                    4,562
Allowance for impairment on inventory (-)      (5,369)                  (3,451) 
            314,181                         177,761

31 December
2021

31 December
2021

Other Current Receivables
31 December

2020

31 December
2020

Opening balance          (3,451)                  (9,136) 
Period charge            (1,918)                                -  
Provisions released                    -                   5,685

Closing balance          (5,369)                  (3,451)

1 January-
31 December

2021 Movement of al lowance for impairment on inventory

1 January-
31 December

2020
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Order advances given for inventory purchases        14,616                  13,545
Prepaid expenses            7,546                    5,015
              22,162                 18,560

Order advances for fixed asset purchases        65,742             -
Prepaid expenses               479         169
               66,221                      169

31 December
2021

31 December
2021

Short-Term Prepaid Expenses

Long-Term Prepaid Expenses

31 December 
2020

31 December
2020

10. PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME
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Order advances received          21,039                    4,814
Deferred income             1,809                       160
            22,848                   4,974

Deferred income               834              -
                 834             -

31 December
2021

31 December 
2021

Short-Term Deferred Income

Long-Term Deferred Income

31 December 
2020

31 December
2020

10. PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME (cont’d)
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Cost Value

Opening balance as of 1 January 2021        140,880            16,410                  116,653            267,976   9,223              35,514           437                    196,133                    783,326

Additions                       -                      8             -                 6,813      740                  709         2,530                    150,073                     160,693

Revaluation fund           121,660                      -     61,543                        -            -                        -                 -               -                     183,203

Disposals                       -                       -             -                    (45)      (131)                    (2)               -               -         (178)

Transfers from constructions in progress                    -                       -           42                   5,761           -                   210            342                    (93,152)                   (86,797)

Foreign currency translation differences                    -                       -      4,244                2,918        25                    43               -                      -       7,230

Closing balance as of 31 December 2021      262,540             16,418                  182,482           283,423   9,857             36,474         3,129                  253,054                  1,047,377

Accumulated Depreciation

Opening balance as of 1 January 2021                    -            (9,135)                 (17,760)        (194,223)                  (1,367)           (29,821)         (325)              -                  (252,631)

Charge of the year                      -               (566)                 (14,506)             (11,531)   (1,817)                     (1,997)           (82)              -                    (30,499)

Disposals                        -                       -             -                      13         51                      2                -               -                            66

Foreign currency translation differences                    -                       -      (222)                 (22)        (2)                   (4)                -                -                                (250)

Closing balance as of 31 December 2021                    -             (9,701)               (32,488)       (205,763)                  (3,135)           (31,820)         (407)              -                    (283,314)

Carrying value as of 31 December 2021      262,540              6,717                 149,994             77,660   6,722              4,564         2,722                  253,054                    764,063

Land Land 
Improvements Buildings

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

TL 21,459 (2020: TL 18,967) of period amortization have been charged in ‘cost of goods sold (Note: 20), TL 
2,499 (2020: TL 550) to marketing expenses (Note: 21), TL 2,430 (2020: TL 2,378) to general administrative 
expenses (Note: 21), TL 33 (2020: TL 17) to research and development expenses (Note: 21) and TL 4,078 
(2020: TL 2,863) to investment costs.

Borrowing costs of TL 12,718 (31 December 2020: TL 3,697) related to property, plant and equipment 
purchases in 2021 have been capitalized and the related amount has been netted off in “Cash Outflows from 
Property, Plant and Equipment Purchases” in the cash flow statement.

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021  
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)
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Cost Value

Opening balance as of 1 January 2021        140,880            16,410                  116,653            267,976   9,223              35,514           437                    196,133                    783,326

Additions                       -                      8             -                 6,813      740                  709         2,530                    150,073                     160,693

Revaluation fund           121,660                      -     61,543                        -            -                        -                 -               -                     183,203

Disposals                       -                       -             -                    (45)      (131)                    (2)               -               -         (178)

Transfers from constructions in progress                    -                       -           42                   5,761           -                   210            342                    (93,152)                   (86,797)

Foreign currency translation differences                    -                       -      4,244                2,918        25                    43               -                      -       7,230

Closing balance as of 31 December 2021      262,540             16,418                  182,482           283,423   9,857             36,474         3,129                  253,054                  1,047,377

Accumulated Depreciation

Opening balance as of 1 January 2021                    -            (9,135)                 (17,760)        (194,223)                  (1,367)           (29,821)         (325)              -                  (252,631)

Charge of the year                      -               (566)                 (14,506)             (11,531)   (1,817)                     (1,997)           (82)              -                    (30,499)

Disposals                        -                       -             -                      13         51                      2                -               -                            66

Foreign currency translation differences                    -                       -      (222)                 (22)        (2)                   (4)                -                -                                (250)

Closing balance as of 31 December 2021                    -             (9,701)               (32,488)       (205,763)                  (3,135)           (31,820)         (407)              -                    (283,314)

Carrying value as of 31 December 2021      262,540              6,717                 149,994             77,660   6,722              4,564         2,722                  253,054                    764,063

Plant,
Machinery and

Equipment Vehicles
Furniture

and Fixtures
Leasehold

Improvements
Construction

in Progress (*) Total
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Cost Value

Opening balance as of 1 January 2020           89,541            16,410                 89,980            263,851    1,977             35,554           437                   205,273                    696,023

Additions                        -                        -          30               3,540    7,968                  178                -                       94,667                    106,383

Revaluation fund              51,339                       -                    32,157                       -                            -                       -                -                              -                     83,496

Disposals                        -                      -                            -                 (192)                     (742)                (246)                -                               -                         (1,180)

Provision for impairment (*)                      -                      -                            -                       -                            -                       -                -                   (12,704)                   (12,704)

Transfers from constructions in progress                     -                      -             -                    404          10                     14                -                      (91,103)                    (90,675)

Foreign currency translation differences                     -                      -      1,486                   373          10                     14               -                               -                          1,183

Closing balance as of 31 December 2020         140,880            16,410                116,653             267,976    9,223              35,514            437                    196,133                    783,226

Accumulated Depreciation

Opening balance as of 1 January 2020                     -           (8,569)                (8,702)          (181,902)                  (1,195)            (27,739)         (288)                                   -                        (228,395)

Charge of the year                       -              (566)                 (8,968)            (12,440)                    (435)             (2,329)          (37)                                   -                          (24,775)

Disposals                        -                      -           -                    132                       264                   251                 -                               -         647

Foreign currency translation differences                     -                      -      (90)                    (13)         (1)                     (4)                 -                               -                            (108)

Closing balance as of 31 December 2020                       -           (9,135)                (17,760)         (194,223)                 (1,367)           (29,821)        (325)                               -                    (252,631)

Carrying value as of 31 December 2020          140,880              7,275                  98,893              73,753    7,856                 5,693            112                   196,133                     530,595

Land

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021  
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)

(*) The Company expensed the project costs, which were capitalized in the amount of TL 12,704, in 2020 as 
a result of the evaluation made on the recoverability of the related
projects (Note: 22).

Land 
Improvements Buildings
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Cost Value

Opening balance as of 1 January 2020           89,541            16,410                 89,980            263,851    1,977             35,554           437                   205,273                    696,023

Additions                        -                        -          30               3,540    7,968                  178                -                       94,667                    106,383

Revaluation fund              51,339                       -                    32,157                       -                            -                       -                -                              -                     83,496

Disposals                        -                      -                            -                 (192)                     (742)                (246)                -                               -                         (1,180)

Provision for impairment (*)                      -                      -                            -                       -                            -                       -                -                   (12,704)                   (12,704)

Transfers from constructions in progress                     -                      -             -                    404          10                     14                -                      (91,103)                    (90,675)

Foreign currency translation differences                     -                      -      1,486                   373          10                     14               -                               -                          1,183

Closing balance as of 31 December 2020         140,880            16,410                116,653             267,976    9,223              35,514            437                    196,133                    783,226

Accumulated Depreciation

Opening balance as of 1 January 2020                     -           (8,569)                (8,702)          (181,902)                  (1,195)            (27,739)         (288)                                   -                        (228,395)

Charge of the year                       -              (566)                 (8,968)            (12,440)                    (435)             (2,329)          (37)                                   -                          (24,775)

Disposals                        -                      -           -                    132                       264                   251                 -                               -         647

Foreign currency translation differences                     -                      -      (90)                    (13)         (1)                     (4)                 -                               -                            (108)

Closing balance as of 31 December 2020                       -           (9,135)                (17,760)         (194,223)                 (1,367)           (29,821)        (325)                               -                    (252,631)

Carrying value as of 31 December 2020          140,880              7,275                  98,893              73,753    7,856                 5,693            112                   196,133                     530,595

Plant,
Machinery and

Equipment Vehicles
Furniture

and Fixtures
Leasehold

Improvements
Construction

in Progress (*) Total
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)
The following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

Fair value measurement of the Group’s freehold land and buildings
The Group’s freehold land and buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the 
date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment 
losses. The fair value measurements of the Group’s freehold land and buildings as of 31 December 2021 were 
performed by TSKB Gayrimenkul Değerleme A.Ş. (“TSKB”), independent valuers not related to the Group. 
TSKB, which is authorized by Capital Markets Board and they have appropriate qualifications and recent 
experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant locations.
The fair value of the lands owned has been determined according to the market comparison approach.
The fair value of the freehold land was determined based on the market comparable approach that reflects 
recent transaction prices for similar properties. 
As of 31 December 2021, freehold land and buildings owned by the Group and the fair value hierarchy for 
related assets are shown in the following table:

Land improvements                    5- 25 years
Buildings                     7- 50 years
Plant, machinery and equipment                   1- 25 years
Vehicles                       4- 5 years
Furniture and fixtures                    3- 20 years
Leasehold improvements                     5 yıl years

Useful Life

Akçalar ve Nilüfer
Land       262,540              -         262,540             - 
Building        149,994               -         149,994             - 

Akçalar ve Nilüfer
Land        140,880               -         140,880             - 
Building          98,893              -           98,894             - 

 Level 2 
TL

  Level 2 
TL

Fair value as of
reporting date

Fair value as of
reporting date

Level 1
TL

Level 1
TL

 31 December
2021

 31 December
2020

 Level 3
TL

 Level 3
TL

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021  
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)
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Opening balance as of 1 January 2021      20,355      446,223              466,578
Additions            2,104          10,888                 12,992
Transfers from constructions in progress        76,091         10,706                 86,797
Foreign currency translation differences        3,905                161                      4,066
Closing balance as of 31 December 2021     102,455       467,978             570,433

Accumulated Depreciation

Opening balance as of 1 January 2021     (15,692)       (164,342)              (180,033)
Charge of the year         (2,584)        (40,750)                    (43,334)
Closing balance as of 31 December 2021       (18,276)     (205,092)            (223,367)

Carrying value as of 31 December 2021        84,179         262,886              347,066

Capitalized 
development 

costsRightsCost Value  Total

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)
Fair value measurement of the Group’s freehold land and buildings (cont’d)
The Group’s freehold land and buildings were revaluated by independent experts on 17 December 2021. 
Revaluations were performed based on current market conditions. Revaluations fund which have been offset 
deferred tax are presented in the other comprehensive income statement.
If land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows: 

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Freehold land            37,386                  37,386
Building             24,669                  27,519
Net book value           62,055                   64,905
 

Net book value of property, plant and equipment
acquired through financial leasing
Vehicles               5,988          7,517 
Machinery and equipment             1,070         1,691
Furniture and fixtures                 147          247
                7,205     9,455

31 December
2021

31 December
2021

31 December
2020

31 December
2020

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021  
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d)

Other intangible assets include internally generated capitalized software development costs and other internally 
generated costs that meet the definition of an intangible asset.
TL 37,740 (2020: TL 33,096) of the amortization expenses is to the cost of goods sold (Note: 20), TL 1,922 
(2020: TL 6,131) to research and development expenses (Note: 21), TL 920 (2020: TL 691 TL) to marketing 
expenses (Note: 21) and TL 2,752 (2020: TL 3,019) to general administrative expenses (Note: 21).

Goodwill
The Entity, within the framework of the objective of increasing the competitiveness and efficiency in the foreign 
markets, in order to increase its market share in France and participate in public tenders, acquired 2,400 shares 
with a nominal value of TL 4,515 (EUR 700,000) to have a 50% share in the capital of Hervouet Corporate 
Industry, its resident distributor in France. The first capital payment of TL 2,653 (EUR 400,000) was made on 
17 June 2019 and the second capital payment of TL 1,863 (EUR 300,000) was made on 31 July 2019. Goodwill 
arising from the acquisition amounting to TL 10,645 continued to be shown in the consolidated financial 
statements as of 31 December 2021. 

Opening balance as of 1 January 2020         15,170      347,242              362,412
Additions             3,862           8,761    12,623
Disposal             (242)          (449)                   (691)
Transfers from constructions in progress              68        90,607                90,675
Foreign currency translation differences          1,497                62                  1,559
Closing balance as of 31 December 2020       20,355      446,223              446,578

Accumulated Depreciation
Opening balance as of 1 January 2020                 (12,444)      (125,157)               (137,601)
Charge of the year         (3,281)      (39,656)             (42,937)
Disposal                 33                471        505
Closing balance as of 31 December 2020     (15,692)      (164,342)              (180,033)

Carrying value as of 31 December 2020          4,663          281,881                286,545

Capitalized 
development 

costsRightsCost Value  Total

Cost
Opening balance                10,645  10,645
 
Additional amount from business combinations during the period                     -                         -
Closing balance                 10,645   10,645

2021 2020

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d)
The following useful lifes are used in the calculation of amortization:

Leases include machinery and equipment related to production line. The Group’s obligations under finance 
leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets. At the date of contract, interest rates on financial 
leasing transactions are fixed for the entire lease term. The contractual effective interest rate is approximately 
0.25% per year (2020: 0.25%).

13. LEASES

Capitalized development costs                  2- 15 years
Rights                        1- 15 years

Useful Life

Lease Liabilities
Short-Term Financial Lease Liabilities                   2,502                 17,477
Short-Term Lease Liabilities Arising From Right of Use Assets                9,463                    5,165
                        11,965                 22,642

Long Term Financial Lease Liabilities                    2,782                   5,298
Long-Term Lease Liabilities Arising From Right of Use Assets                17,597                  10,581
                      20,379                    15,879 

2021                                -                  22,642
2022                        11,965                   5,146
2023                        8,024            5,757
2024                        5,953                   3,218
2025                        6,403        1,757
Prospectively                     32,344                   38,520

31 December
2021

31 December
2021Maturity analysis:

31 December
2020

31 December
2020

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
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13. LEASES (cont’d)
b) Leases (Right-of-use assets, as lessor):
The Group rents buildings, facilities and vehicles. Average lease term is 3 to 5 years (2020: 3 to 5 years).

Cost
1 January 2021          14,035           1,393   15,429
Additions           12,318                    -    12,318
Disposals                   -     -            - 
31 December 2021         26,353            1,393                 27,747

Accumulated Depreciation
1 January 2021           (1,479)          (1,305)                 (2,784)
Current depreciation           (4,115)               (88)                 (4,203)
Disposals
31 December 2021         (5,594)           (1,393)                 (6,987)
Carrying Amount          20,759                    -                  20,760

 
Cost
1 January 2020              365           1,393                  1,759
Additions          13,670                   -                 13,670
Disposals                   -                   -                      - 
31 December 2020         14,035            1,393          15,429
Accumulated Depreciation
1 January 2020              (73)            (1,022)                  (1,095) 
Current depreciation        (1,406)             (283)                  (1,689)
Disposals                   -          -               - 
31 December 2020         (1,479)           (1,305)                 (2,784)
Carrying Amount          12,556     88   12,645

Vehicles

Taşıtlar

Buildings

Binalar

Right of use assets

Right of use assets

 Total

 Toplam
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15. PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

14. GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND INCENTIVES
The application made by the Company to obtain the “R&D Center” certificate within the scope of the Law No. 
5746 on Supporting Research, Development and Design Activities was evaluated by the Ministry of Industry 
and Technology and the R&D center certificate was given to the Company as of 22 July 2019.
The “Investment Incentive Certificate” application made to the Ministry of Industry and Technology, General 
Directorate of Incentive Implementation and Foreign Capital, in order to link the investment planned by the 
Company within the scope of product diversification, to the Investment Incentive Certificate was approved on 
6 October 2021. The investment amount attached to the Incentive Certificate No. 528260 is TL 214,818,692.
The support elements for the 1st Region provided for the investment evaluated within the scope of “Regional 
Incentive Practices” are as follows:
• Insurance Premium Employer’s Share
• Tax Reduction
• Customs Duty Exemption
• VAT Exemption
• Interest Support

Guarantee expense provisions (i)       65,248                  38,030
Labor contract provision (iv)           8,197                            -
Sales discount provisions (ii)         2,060                     1,843
Legal provision (iii)           1,700                      1,700
Other            15,675                     13,901
           92,880                   55,474

Non-current provisions
Guarantee expense provisions (i)       20,557                   22,976
           20,557                   22,976

31 December
2021

31 December
2021

Current provisions
31 December

2020

31 December 
2020
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(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)
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15. PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (con’d)
(i) The Group provides warranty service for vehicles which sold under guarantee commitment are made. 

The guarantee period varies depending on the vehicle models.
(ii) It represents the Group’s price difference reductions applied to dealers.
(iii) It represents the Group’s provisions reserved for various litigation risks.
(iv) It consists of the 2021 salary differences of the Collective Bargaining Agreement, which expired as of 

September 2021 but signed in 2022.
The movements of provision for warranty expenses within the period are as follows:

The movements of provisions for sales discounts within the period are as follows:

Balance at 1 January                    61,006            46,798
Additional provisions (Note 21)                    51,571             44,230
Payments                    (23,826)            (21,867)
Provisions released (Note 21)                   (2,946)              (8,155)
Balance at 31 December                    85,805             61,006

Balance at 1 January           1,843                  464
Additional provisions (Note 20)        6,844               8,740
Payments                                (6,627)                         (7,361)
Balance at 31 December         2,060                1,843

 2021

 2021 

 2020

 2020
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16. COMMITMENTS
Guarantees-Pledge-Mortgage (“GPM”)
The Group’s guarantees/pledge/mortgage position as of  31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as 
follows: 
 

The ratio of other given GPM’s by the Group to equity is 0 % as of 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 0%).
As of 31 December 2021, it is comprised of guarantee letters given to Custom offices, tax offices and other 
public institutions amounting to TL 55,926, US Dollar 4,191, RON 9,911, HUF 4,000 and EUR 59,750 letters of 
credit amounting to EUR 2,493 which was opened to buy raw materials, but hadn’t been actually imported; 
and mortgages amounting to TL 120,000 and EUR 22,000 given for the long-term loans.

A. GPMs given for 
Company’s own
 legal personality
               -Guarantee        1,031,895          55,834                3,204          59,750              9,911                 4,000
                -Mortgage        452,506        120,000                     -            22,000                    -               - 
     -Bill of guarantee                    -                     -                      -                       -                     -               - 
      -Letters of credit           37,685                    -                      -               2,493                    -               - 
B. GPMs given on behalf 
of fully consolidated 
companies
               - Guarantee                    -                   17                     -                       -                     -             -  

     -Pledge                    -                     -       -                       -                     -              - 
                -Mortgage                    -                     -       -                       -                     -               - 
C. GPMs given in the normal 
course of business activities on
behalf of third parties 
                 -Guarantee            13,174                    -                 987                      -                     -               - 
       -Pledge     -                     -                     -                       -                     -               - 
                  -Mortgage     -                     -                      -                       -                     -               - 
D. Total amount of other GPMs
i. Total amount of GPMs given
on behalf of the parent
                  - Guarantee     -                     -                       -                       -                     -               - 
        -Pledge     -                     -                        -                       -                     -               - 
                   -Mortgage      -                     -                        -                       -                     -               - 
ii. Total amount of GPMs given
to on behalf of other Group
companies which are not in scope of B and C
                  - Guarantee      -                     -                      -                       -                     -               - 
        -Pledge     -                     -                      -                       -                     -               - 
                   -Mortgage      -                     -                      -                       -                     -               - 
iii. Total amount of GPMs given on behalf of third parties
which are not in scope of C
                  - Guarantee      -                     -                      -                       -                     -               - 
        -Pledge                   -                     -                      -                       -                     -                   - 
                   -Mortgage     -                     -                      -                       -                     -                         - 
Total         1,535,260                  175,851               4,191          84,243              9,911                 4,000

HUFRONEuroUS DollarTurkish LiraTL equivalent31 December 2021
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A. GPMs given for 
Company’s own legal
personality
               -Guarantee          833,166           70,514                 1,910           82,033              5,274 
                -Mortgage            318,174        120,000                     -            22,000                    -  
     -Bill of guarantee                     -                     -                      -                       -                     -  
     -Letters of credit              21,154                    -                      -               2,348                    -  
B. GPMs given on behalf of fully
consolidated companies
                -Guarantee                 331                 331                     -                       -                     -  
      -Pledge                     -                     -       -                       -                     -  
                -Mortgage                     -                     -       -                       -                     -  
C. GPMs given in the normal course of
business activities on behalf of third parties
                -Guarantee             7,900                    -                1,016                    49                     -  
      -Pledge      -                     -                     -                       -                     -  
                 -Mortgage      -                     -                      -                       -                     -  
D. Total amount of other GPMs
i. Total amount of GPMs given
on behalf of the parent
                -Guarantee       -                     -                       -                       -                     -   
      -Pledge      -                     -                        -                       -                     -   
                 -Mortgage       -                     -                        -                       -                     -  
ii. Total amount of GPMs given to on
behalf of other Group companies which are
not in scope of B and C
                -Guarantee       -                     -                      -                       -                     -  
      -Pledge      -                     -                      -                       -                     -  
                 -Mortgage       -                     -                      -                       -                     -   
iii. Total amount of GPMs given on behalf
of third parties which are not in scope of C
                -Guarantee       -                     -                      -                       -                     -  
      -Pledge                     -                     -                      -                       -                     -   
                 -Mortgage      -                     -                      -                       -                     -  
Total         1,180,725                  190,845              2,926        106,430              5,274     

RONEuroUS DollarTurkish LiraTL equivalent31 December 2020
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Letters and cheques of guarantees received           81,243                    59,251
Direct debiting system              21,293                  82,485
                            102,536                141,736

31 December
2021 

31 December
2020

16. COMMITMENTS (cont’d)
Guarantees-Pledge-Mortgage (“GPM”) (cont’d)
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Social security premiums payable                         8,123                   6,725
Payables to personnel                          1,894                     1,138
                              10,017                   7,863

Unused vacation provision (*)                        6,884                     4,731
                     6,884                             4,731 

31 December
2021

31 December
2021

 

 

31 December
2020

31 December
2020

17. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Payables related to employee benefits

Short-term provisions for employee benefits

(*) The Group has paid TL 478 (2020: TL 101) related to unused vacations within the year.

Long-term provisions for employee benefits
Provision for employee termination benefits liability:
Under Turkish Labor Law, the Group is required to pay termination benefits to each employee who has 
completed certain years of service and whose employment is terminated without due cause, who is called up 
for military service, dies or retires after completing 25 years of service and reaches the retirement age (58 for 
women and 60 for men). 
Employee termination benefit consists of one month’s salary limited to a maximum of full TL 8,284.51 (31 
December 2020: full TL 7,117,17).
Employee termination benefit liability is not subject to any kind of funding legally. Provision for retirement pay 
liability is calculated by estimating the present value of probable liability amount arising due to retirement of 
employees. TAS 19 Employee Benefits stipulates the development of company’s liabilities by using actuarial 
valuation methods under defined benefit plans. In this direction, actuarial assumptions used in calculation of 
total liabilities are described as follows:
The principal assumption is that the maximum liability for each year of service will increase parallel with 
inflation. Thus, the discount rate applied represents the expected real rate after adjusting for the anticipated 
effects of future inflation. Consequently, in the accompanying financial statements as at 31 December 2021, 
the provision has been calculated by estimating the present value of the future probable obligation of the 
Company arising from the retirement of the employees. Provisions at the relevant balance sheet dates have 
been calculated using the real discount rate, which is approximately 4.45%, based on the assumptions of 
an annual inflation rate of 16.8% and an interest rate of 22% (31 December 2020: 4.7%). Optional dismissal 
rates are also taken into account as 1.97% for those who work for 0-19 years and 0% for those who work for 
19 years or more. The maximum amount of 10,848.59, which is effective as of 1 January 2022, has been taken 
into account in the calculation of the severance pay provision of the Group (1 January 2021: full TL 7,638.96).
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17. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (cont’d)
Long-term provisions for employee benefits (cont’d)
Provision for employee termination benefits liability (cont’d):
The principal assumptions used in the calculation of retirement pay liability are discount rate and anticipated 
turnover rate.
• If the discount rate would have been 1% higher while all other variables were held constant, provision for 

employee termination benefits would decrease by TL 5,749. 
• If the discount rate would have been 1% lower while all other variables were held constant, provision for 

employee termination benefits would increase by TL 6,114. 
• If the anticipated turnover rate would have been 1% lower while all other variables were held constant, 

provision for employee termination benefits would increase by TL 1,501. 
• If the anticipated turnover rate would have been 1% higher while all other variables were held constant, 

provision for employee termination benefits would decrease by TL 956.

18. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Provision as of 1 January          40,147                  33,200
Service cost           24,555     7,495
Interest cost              1,887       1,551
Employee termination benefits paid        (3,841)    (2,124)
Actuarial (gain)/loss           (1,173)           25
Provision as of 31 December         61,575                    40,147

Deferred VAT          136,944                 63,973
Other current assets            11,507      1,265
                          148,451                 65,238

Deposits and guarantees given                 38             51
Deferred VAT                     -                   75,254
                     38                                73,305

Taxes and funds payables          32,818                     11,027
Other current liabilities            12,162                               102
             44,980                   11,129

1 January- 
31 December 2021

31 December
2021

31 December
2021

31 December
2021

1 January- 
31 December 2020

31 December
2020

31 December
2020

31 December
2020

Other Current Assets

Other Non-Current Assets

Other Current Liabilities
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Kıraça Holding A.Ş.          63.46      571,119           63.46                  571,119
Publicly traded part         34.58    311,092            34.58                 311,092
Other               1.97      17,789               1.97                  17,789
Nominal capital               100             900,000               100            900,000
Inflation adjustment          22,586    22,586
Adjusted capital         922,586                 922,586

31 December
2021% %Shareholders

31 December
2020

19. SHARE, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS
a) Paid in Capital / Reciprocal Interests
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the paid-in capital held is as follows:

As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s share capital consists of 6,558,338,851 Group A shares and 
83,441,661,149 Group B shares with par value full TL 0.01 for both share groups. All issued shares are fully 
paid. 
According to Article 8 of Articles of Association, Group (A) shareholders are privileged to introduce five 
members out of seven for selection to the board of directors as long as board of directors is consisted of seven 
members; six members out of nine as long as board of directors is consisted of nine members.

b) Restricted Reserves Appropriated from Profit

According to the Turkish Commercial Law, reserves 5% of the historical statutory profit as first legal reserve, 
until the total reserve reaches 20% of the paid-in share capital. The other legal reserve is appropriated at the 
rate of 10% per annum of all cash dividend distributions after the payment of dividends to the shareholders 
at a rate of 5%. According to Turkish Commercial Law, general legal reserves can only be used if it does not 
exceed the capital or issued capital for close the losses, continue the business when business is not going well 
or end the unemployment and to take suitable precautions to reduce the results of unemployment.

Legal reserves                           1,128        1,128
                 1,128        1,128

31 December
2021 

31 Deceber
2020
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19. SHARE, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS (cont’d)
b) Restricted Reserves Appropriated from Profit (cont’d)
As of 31 December 2021, the extraordinary reserves of the Group included in its retained earnings is TL 
5,275 (31 December 2020: TL 5,275).
Dividend Distribution:
Listed companies processes their dividend distributions according to the II-19.1 numbered CMB Communique 
on Dividend, which became effective on or after 1 February 2014.
Shareholders distribute their dividends within the frame of dividend distribution policies determined by 
general assembly and according to the related regulations by the approval of general assembly. Within the 
mentioned regulation, minimum rate of distribution is not determined. Companies distribute their dividends 
according to the predetermined terms in their articles of incorporation or dividend distribution policies.
As a result of the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting on 27 May 2021, it has been decided not to distribute 
dividend. As there is no distributable profit, dividend payments are not planned for the current year.

20. REVENUE AND COST OF SALES

(*) TL 6,844 (2020: TL 8,740) of the sales discounts consist of provision for sales expenses (Note: 15).
The Group derives its revenue from the transfer of goods and services over time and at a point in time in 
the following major product lines. This is consistent with the revenue information that is disclosed for each 
reportable segment under TFRS 8 (Note 4):

As of the year ending 2021, the management expects the transaction price allocated to performance 
obligations not fulfilled to be recorded as revenue of TL 1,890 in the next reporting period.

Domestic sales                     1,363,359               869,086
Export sales         743,564                700,331
Other income             4,589                  10,563
Sales returns (-)          (33,122)                (8,748)
Sales discounts (-) (*)          (8,928)                (10,865)
                          2,069,462              1,560,367

Karsan Branded Products        607,891               369,191
Industrial and Spare Parts       441,883               268,920
Other Branded Sales         981,659                 889,846
      Other branded vehicle sales        977,063               881,498
      After sales services            4,594                    8,348
Other             38,029                 32,410
Total                     2,069,462               1,560,367

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2020

 

1 January -  
31 December 2020a) Sales
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Raw materials                 (1,265,204)             (905,299) 
Cost of labour expense                     (94,103)              (58,544) 
Production overheads                      (71,194)               (54,805)
Amortization expenses (Note 11-12)                   (59,199)               (52,063)
Change in work-in-progress inventories                  (29,880)                 (6,274)
Change in finished goods inventories                       9,225                    12,160
Cost of merchandises sold                    (58,100)              (56,972) 
Cost of services rendered                    (15,492)              (25,803)
Change in impairment of inventory (Note 9)                     (1,918)                   5,685 
                    (1,526,105)             (1,141,915) 

Gross profit from finance sector operations (*)                   30,778                   55,586
            30,778                  55,586

Marketing expenses (-)                   (126,635)              (76,453)
Administrative expenses (-)                    (117,293)               (71,954)
Research and development expenses (-)                     (5,798)                (10,258)
                      (249,726)              (158,665)

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2020

1 January -  
31 December 2020

1 January -  
31 December 2020

b) Cost of Sales

c) Income from finance sector operations

20. REVENUE AND COST OF SALES (cont’d)

21. GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES, MARKETING EXPENSES, 
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

(*) Represents accrued rental income from financial leasing contracts.
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21. GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES, MARKETING EXPENSES, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
EXPENSES (cont’d)
a) Details of Marketing Expenses

Guarantee expenses (Note:15)      (48,625)              (36,075) 
Personnel expenses       (23,979)               (16,037)
Advertising expenses         (10,183)                 (4,775)
License Expenses           (7,188)                           -
Transportation and insurance expenses       (4,800)                 (2,442) 
Rent expenses          (4,305)                 (2,500) 
Depreciation and amortization expenses (Note:11-12)      (3,419)                    (1,241) 
Subcontract work expenses         (2,593)                   (1,174)
Dealer and authorised service meeting expenses       (1,464)                    (802) 
Transportation and travel expenses         (4,918)                  (1,328) 
Other            (15,161)                  (10,079)
                      (126,635)              (76,453) 

Allowances for doubtful receivables (Note:6)    (36,728)                   (4,510) 
Personnel expenses        (27,291)               (23,565)
Holding service expenses      (10,996)                  (7,704)
Depreciation and amortization expenses (Note 11-12)      (5,182)                 (5,397) 
Consulting expenses                       (8,172)                 (12,302) 
Allowance for expected credit loss (Note:6)      (7,686)                     (947) 
Depreciation expenses on right of use assets (Note 13)     (4,203)                   (1,689)
Subcontract work expenses         (3,450)                  (3,012)
Licenses and patents          (2,301)                          (1,961) 
Other           (11,284)                   (10,867)
          (117,293)                  (71,954)

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2020

1 January -  
31 December 2020

b) Details of General Administrative Expenses
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Outsourced benefits and services         (2,407)                 (2,573)
Depreciation and amortization expenses (Note:11-12)       (1,955)    (6,148)
Personnel expenses            (1,135)                (1,400)
Other                (301)         (137)
               (5,798)                (10,258)

Foreign exchange income from operations     429,757                 228,825
Maturity difference income on trade receivables             103       2,743
Other             32,018                    10,218
            461,878                 241,786

Term difference expense from trading activities         (1,139)                   (1,012)
Debt expense                      -                (15,854)
Impairment expense related to projects (*) (Note 11)                 -                (12,704)
Other            (4,649)                 (2,205)
             (5,788)               (32,075)

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2020

1 January -  
31 December 2020

1 January -  
31 December 2020

21. GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES, MARKETING EXPENSES, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
EXPENSES (cont’d)
c) Details of Research and Development Expenses

22. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
The details of other income from operating activities for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as 
follows:

The details of other expense from operating activities for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as
follows:

(*) The Company expensed the project costs, which were capitalized in the amount of TL 12,704, in 2020 as 
a result of the evaluation made on the recoverability of the related projects.
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23. INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
The details of other income from investing activities for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as
follows:

The details of other expense from investing activities for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are 
as follows:

(*) As a result of the determination of the current market value of Maas Global OY, which is the Group’s 
“financial asset at fair value through profit or loss”, an impairment of 5.81% of the Group’s share, amounting 
to TL 13,665, has been accounted for under Expenses from Investing Activities.

Time deposit interest income           8,986        1,413
Gain on sale of fixed assets             1,681                       539
              10,667                      1,952

Net loss from financial assets at       (13,665)                          -
fair value through profit or loss (*)     (13,665)                            -

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2020

1 January -  
31 December 2020
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Net foreign exchange losses                  (522,731)              (319,374) 
Interest expense                    (160,241)                (111,659)
Factoring expenses                    (29,565)                 (27,176)
Other                        (11,397)                 (12,245) 
                     (723,934)             (470,454)

Raw material usage               (1,265,204)            (905,299) 
Direct labour expenses                    (94,103)               (58,544)
Production overheads                     (71,194)                             (54,805)
Deprecation and amortization expenses (Note:11-12)               (69,756)                             (64,849) 
Production overheads                     (58,100)               (56,973)
Personnel expenses                   (52,405)               (41,003)
Allowances for doubtful receivables (Note 6)                 (36,728)                 (4,510) 
Guarantee expenses                   (48,625)                              (36,075) 
Cost of services rendered                   (15,492)                              (25,802) 
Holding service expenses                   (10,996)                 (7,704) 
Advertising expenses                     (10,183)                               (4,775) 
Subcontract work expenses                    (8,450)                    (6,758) 
Consulting expenses                       (8,172)                (12,302)
Allowance for expected credit loss (Note 6)                   (7,686)                   (946) 
Rent expenses                       (5,059)                  (3,920)
Transportation and insurance expenses                   (4,800)                              (2,442)
Depreciation expenses on right of use assets (Note 13)                  (4,203)                   (1,689) 
Change in impairment of inventory                      (1,918)                    5,685
Dealer and authorised service meeting expenses                      1,464                    (802) 
Change in work-in-progress inventories                     29,880                   (6,275) 
Change in finished goods inventories                           9,226                      12,161 
Other                      (40,399)                 (22,953)
                    (1,775,831)            (1,300,580) 

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2020

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2020

24. EXPENSES BY NATURE

25. FINANCE EXPENSES
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26. ANALYSIS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ITEMS

Plant, property and equipment revaluation fund:

Loss on remeasurement of defined benefit plans: 

Plant, property and equipment revaluation reserve                  398,827                 233,970
Loss on remeasurement of defined benefit plans                   (7,104)                                (8,042)
Foreign currency translation reserve                    (3,410)                    (4,564)
Change Resulting from the Fair Value Measurement of
Financial Investments                    (39,548)                (30,048)
                        348,765                 191,316

Balance at the beginning of the year      233,970                153,913
Increase arising on
revaluation of property, plant and equipment     164,857                 80,037 
Transferred to previous years’ losses                 -                          20
Balance at the end of the year      398,827                  233,970

Balance at the beginning of the year       (8,042)                 (8,022)
Loss recognized on period             938                      (20)
Balance at the end of the year        (7,104)                 (8,042)

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2020

1 January -  
31 December 2020

1 January -  
31 December 2020

The Law numbered 7061 on Amendment of Certain Taxes and Laws and Other Acts was published on 
the Official Gazette dated 5 December 2017 and numbered 30261. Article 5 entitled “Exceptions” of the 
Corporate Tax Law has been amended in Article 89 of the Law. In accordance with (a) clause in the first 
paragraph of the Article, the exemption of 75% applied to gains from the sales of lands and buildings held 
by the entities for two full years has been reduced to rate of 50%. This regulation has been effective from 5 
December 2017.
The properties revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of land and buildings. When revalued land or 
buildings are sold, the portion of the properties revaluation reserve that relates to that asset is transferred 
directly to retained earnings. 
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Foreign currency translation fund:

Fair value measurement of financial investments:

    Balance at the beginning of the year       (4,564)      1,498
    Conversion difference on period         (1,154)                (6,062)
    Balance at the end of the year         (3,410)                  (4,564)

    Balance at the beginning of the year                  (30,048)               (42,795)  
    Change Resulting from the Fair Value Measurement of
    Financial Investments                         9,500                   12,747
    Balance at the end of the year                   (39,548)               (30,048)

Prepaid other taxes and funds             1,102       1,067
Current tax liabilities             (624)                     (683)
                  478         384

Current Assets Related to Current Tax

Current tax asset/(liability):
Current corporate tax provision         (7,373)                 (1,644)
Less: prepaid taxes and funds             7,851     2,028
                  478         384

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2020

1 January -  
31 December 2020

1 January -  
31 December 2020

1 January -  
31 December 2020

26. ANALYSIS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ITEMS (cont’d)

27. INCOME TAXES (INCLUDING DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES)
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27. INCOME TAXES (INCLUDING DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES) (cont’d)
Income tax recognized in profit or loss:

Current tax expense          (7,373)                 (1,644)
Deferred tax expense                       62,084                   (34,218)
Total tax expense           54,711                 (35,862)

1 January -  
31 December 2021Tax expense comprises:

Tax effects of other comprehensive income are as follows:

1 January -  
31 December 2020

Actuarial gains and loss on post employment benefit obligations        1,173           (235)        938
Change Resulting from the Fair Value Measurement of
  Financial Investments      (10,000)            500               (9,500)
Change in revaluation reserve of non-current assets     183,174        (18,317)              164,857
Change in currency translation reserves           1,154     -                     1,154
Other comprehensive income / (expense) on period    175,501        (18,052)              157,449

Actuarial gains and loss on post employment benefit obligations         (25)                  5       (20)
Change Resulting from the Fair Value Measurement of
    Financial Investments       (12,747)      -                   12,747
Change in revaluation reserve of plant, non-current assets     83,496           (3,459)                  80,037
Change in currency translation reserves       (6,061)       -                  (6,061)
Other comprehensive income / (expense) on period     90,157          (3,454)                 (86,703)

Tax expense/
income

Tax expense/
income

Before tax 
amount

Before tax 
amount

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2020

Net of tax 
amount

Net of tax 
amount

Corporate Tax
The Group is subject to Turkish corporate taxes. Provision is made in the accompanying financial statements 
for the estimated charge based on the Group’s results for the years and periods. Turkish tax legislation does not 
permit a parent company and its subsidiary to file a consolidated tax return. Therefore, provisions for taxes, as 
reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, have been calculated on a separate-entity 
basis.
Corporate tax is applied on taxable corporate income, which is calculated from the statutory accounting profit 
by adding back non-deductible expenses, and by deducting dividends received from resident companies, 
other exempt income (previous year losses, if any, and investment discounts used if preferred) and investment 
incentives utilized.
The corporate tax rate applied in Turkey in 2021 is 25% (it will be 23% for the year 2022, 20% in the following 
periods) (2020: 22%).
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27. INCOME TAXES (INCLUDING DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES) (cont’d)
The Law numbered 7061 on Amendment of Certain Taxes and Laws and Other Acts was published on 
the Official Gazette dated 5 December 2017 and numbered 30261. Article 5 entitled “Exceptions” of the 
Corporate Tax Law has been amended in Article 89 of the Law. In accordance with (a) clause in the first 
paragraph of the Article, the exemption of 75% applied to gains from the sales of lands and buildings held 
by the entities for two full years has been reduced to rate of 50%. This regulation has been effective from 
5 December 2017.
In accordance with the decision on the amendment of the decision of the Council of Ministers on Government 
Grants and Incentives No. 2017/9917 published in the Official Gazette dated 22 February 2017 and 
numbered 29987, within the scope of decision numbered 2012/3305 and investment incentive certificates 
issued for manufacturing sector (“US-97 Code: 15-37”), for the investment expenditures between 1 
January2017 and 31 December 2017. Tax reduction that can be utilized for large–scale investments, 
investments made in the scope regional practices, primary investments and strategic investments shall 
be applied as 100% of the corporate tax or rate of contribution to investments for each region shall get 
15 points additionally income tax reduction in all regions by adding 15 points to the contribution rate of 
investment which is effective in each region and 100% of the investment contribution amount which will 
be performed in the earnings from other activities of the investor in investment period without any action 
on the incentive certificate.

Deferred Tax
The Group recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon temporary differences arising between 
its financial statements as reported for TFRS purposes and its statutory tax financial statements. These 
differences usually result in the recognition of revenue and expenses in different reporting periods for TFRS 
and tax purposes and they are given below.
The tax rate used in the calculation of deferred tax assets and liabilities is 23% over the temporary timing 
differences expected to reverse in 2022 (2020: 22%), and 20% over the temporary timing differences 
expected to reverse after 2022 (2020: 22%)
In Turkey, the companies cannot declare a consolidated tax return, therefore subsidiaries that have deferred 
tax assets position were not netted off against subsidiaries that have deferred tax liabilities position and 
disclosed separately.
The Group, as a result of the assessment as well as prediction of benefiting from subsequent periods of 
reduced corporate tax in the frame of Corporate Tax Law No. 5520. Article 32/A, has accounted deferred tax 
assets amounting to TL 536,855 (31 December 2020: TL 332.317) corporate tax deduction of  TL100,789 
(31 December 2020: TL 51,350) was calculated in its consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 
2021.
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27. INCOME TAXES (INCLUDING DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES) (cont’d)
Deferred Tax (cont’d)

The Group has accumulated tax losses amounting to TL 48,598 as of 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 
TL 565,694). The Group management deducted the financial profit of 495,572 TL for 2021 from the previous 
years’ losses. Within the framework of the five-year projections made by the Group management regarding 
whether it will be possible to obtain taxable profit before the accumulated tax losses expire or not, deferred 
tax assets amounting to TL 9,720 (31 December 2020: TL 71,775) are reflected in the financial statements for 
the deferred tax losses amounting to TL 48,598 (31 December 2020: 358,875 TL), which are likely to be used.
The expiration dates of unused accumulated losses over which deferred tax assets calculated are as follows:

Carry forward tax losses            9,720     71,775 
Revaluation and amortisation difference for
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets                 (33,621)               (23,066) 
Investment incentives (Note:14)        45,448                 30,985 
Income accruals          (2,895)                (51,780) 
Derivative instruments       (23,377)                (32,773)
Provision for guarantee expenses         22,255                   13,763 
Provision for employment termination benefits         12,315                    8,029 
Deferred tax assets from capital in cash increase         33,017                 20,365 
Inventory adjustments             3,751                                  2,742 
Bond adjustments              1,342                      494 
Legal provision                374                        374 
Provision for unused vacation and salaries           1,583                   1,946
Provision for sales discounts              474                                       369 
Trade receivables adjustments         22,967                    3,927
Other                7,981                     6,152
             97,334                 53,302

31 December  
2021Deferred tax assets / (liabilities):

31 December 
2020

Expiring in 2021                     -                 206,819
Expiring in 2022                                   -                 120,534
Expiring in 2023                        40,856                  216,856
Expiring in 2024                             1,148                    2,296
Expiring in 2025                           6,594                   19,189
                          48,598                565,694

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020
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Restated opening balance as of 1 January       53,302                 90,974
Charged to profit or loss                      62,084                (34,218)
Charged to equity        (18,052)                (3,454)
Closing balance as of 31 December       97,334                 53,302

 
2021Movement of deferred tax assets / (liabilities):

Tax reconciliation:

2020

The average number of available shares during the year                90,000,000,000                90,000,000,000
Net income of shareholders (thousand TL)                     98,893                  20,321
Income per share (kr) (per share)                           0,110                   0,023

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2020

27. INCOME TAXES (INCLUDING DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES) (cont’d)
Deferred Tax (cont’d)
Movement of deferred tax assets / (liabilities) for year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:

28. EARNINGS / (LOSS) PER SHARE
A summary of the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the year ended in 31 December 2021 
and 2020 and the basic earnings per 1 kr share calculation is as follows (assumed that cash increases do not 
include any bonus share):

Total charge for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows: 

Income / (loss) before tax          53,567                       56,582
Income tax rate of 25% (2020: 22%)       (13,392)                (12,448)
Tax effect
   - tax exemption and non-deductible expenses      (85,100)                 (12,961)
   - statutory tax amount deducted from previous years’ losses       61,838                            -
   - unused tax losses not recognized
   as a deferred tax asset                    -                (21,364)
   - deferred tax effect calculated from investment allowance       14,463                 (16,297)
   - cash capital increase tax allowance effect          12,652                              -
   - tax rate change             56,503                 (5,526)
   - other                7,747                       140
Income/(expense) tax expense recognised in profit or loss           54,711                    (35,862)

1 January -  
31 December 2021

1 January -  
31 December 2020
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29. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Group provides hedging against the foreign exchange risk on the balance sheet by borrowing in the 
same currency against the foreign currency risks arising from the foreign currency sales that are highly 
probable to be realized in the future within the scope of the agreements it has made and the corporate 
budget. In this context, repayments of foreign currency borrowings that are subject to hedge accounting and 
determined as hedging instrument are made with the cash flows of sales in foreign currency determined 
as hedged item within the scope of hedge accounting. Within the scope of the currency risk management 
strategy it has determined, the Group applies hedging accounting for the purpose of hedging the currency 
risk component of the highly probable forecast transaction cash flow risk, and accounted for the foreign 
exchange rate fluctuations that have occurred on the hedging instrument but have not yet occurred, under 
derivative instruments.
At the end of the reporting period, the total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange 
contracts to which the Group is committed are as follows:

As of 31 December 2021, the Group does not have foreign currency derivatives (2020: None). As of 
31 December 2021, That amount of liability is valuated based on quoted market prices for equivalent 
instruments at the balance sheet date.

Current          26,720                          -          81,934             - 
Forward contracts                  -                           -                     -              - 
Money trading options                  -                           -                     -              - 
Fair value hedge contracts        26,720                          -          81,934             - 

Non-current        133,599                         -           81,934             - 
Forward contracts                  -                           -                     -              - 
Money trading options                  -                           -                    -              - 
Fair value hedge contracts      133,599                          -           81,934             - 
          160,319                          -          163,868             -

Liabilities

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

LiabilitiesAssets Assets 

Fair value hedge accounting contracts       472,492                 276,216
                        -                             -  
           472,492                 276,216

31 December  
2021

31 December  
2020
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(*) These short-term financial investments consist of bank balances which are restricted within the framework 
of contracts for fair value hedging.

Long-Term Financial Investments

Blocked bank deposits (*)       208,562     17,058
           208,562     17,058

31 December  
2021

31 December  
2020

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Financial Assets
Short-Term Financial Investments

Financial assets at fair value
   through other comprehensive income
Industria Italiana Autobus S.p.A. (IIA) (*)           28.59%         86,743        28.59%               48,712
Financial assets at fair value
   through profit or loss
Maas Global OY (**)                5.81%           58,313          8.04%    71,978
             145,056                  120,690

31 December 
      2021  

31 December 
2020Share Ratio % Share Ratio %

The details of the Group’s financial investments at fair value through profit or loss/other comprehensive income 
are as follows:

(*) As of 12 December 2018, the Company participated in the capital of Industria Italiana Autobus (“IIA”), 
which produced the Menarinibus brand vehicles, with a price of TL 21,883 (EUR 3,629,642) and its share of 
partnership increased from 5% to 70%. On the other hand, in the IIA General Assembly held on 29 January 
2019, as a result of the Italian state institution INVITALIA S.P.A. used proportionally the right to increase 
capital, the Company’s share in IIA decreased to 28.59%. The Company participated in the capital increase 
made in 2019 at the price of EUR 8,295,024 and increased the total investment amount in the capital of IIA 
from EUR 5,129,642 (TL 26,927) to EUR 11,924,666 (TL 78,635). The Company has recently increased the 
total investment amount to 78,760 TL with the capital payment of 125 TL (EUR 19,000) made on 24 February 
2020. In September 2021, the investment share amounting to TL 48,031 (Euro 4,683,160) has been set off 
from the Company’s trade receivables, and the total investment amount reached TL 96,743.
The impairment amounting to TL 10,000, resulting from the valuation of the said investment over discounted 
cash flow projections, has been accounted for under “Change from Fair Value Measurement of Financial 
Investments” in equity in the consolidated statement of financial position dated 31 December 2021, net off 
tax effect (Note 26).
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Financial Assets (cont’d)
Short-Term Financial Investments (cont’d)
Although the Group owns 28.59% of the capital of Industria Italiana Autobus (“IIA”), the main activity 
of which is bus production, distribution and marketing, in the assessment made by the Group 
management within the scope of TAS-28, the Group’s control power over the said company. It has 
been concluded that it does not have a control power or significant effect and is shown as a financial 
investment in the consolidated financial statements. Other shareholders of IIA are affiliates of Italian 
public institutions.
(**) As a result of the determination of the current market value of Maas Global OY, which is the 
Group’s “financial asset at fair value through profit or loss”, the Group’s 5,81% share is impaired by TL 
13,665 accounted under Expenses from Investing Activities. 

Financial Liabilities
Details of the financial debts which are disclosed at amortized value are as follows:

Short Term Bank Loans                      829,432                  414,196
Short Term Portion of Long Term Bank Loans                   465,239                 273,311
Bonds, Principal Debt, Installments and Interest          55,241                           -
Factoring Liabilities            118,127                   3,066
                      1,468,039                689,573
Long Term Bank Loans        456,822                706,712
Long Term Issued Debt Instruments        45,745    98,358 
          502,567                 805,070
                     1,970,606               1,494,643

Turkish Lira         24.64%   457,690    113,192
Euro             3.31%   836,981              343,630
                       1,294,671               456,822

Turkish Lira          19.62%   257,607                  76,414
Euro             2.72%   410,900                 630,298
                        686,507                706,712

31 December  
2021

Current

Current

Weighted average 
effective interest rate

Weighted average 
effective interest rate

Financial Borrowings

Bank Loans:

Currency Type

Para Birimi

31 December 
2020

Non-current

Non-current

31 December 2021

31 December 2020
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
Financial Liabilities (cont’d)
The borrowings are repayable as follows:

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash 
and non–cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or 
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from 
financing activities.

Fair value of long term borrowings are as follows:

To be paid within 1 year                    1,294,671                 686,507
To be paid between 1-2 years                     220,262                576,851 
To be paid between 2-3 years                        82,158                60,593
To be paid between 3-4 years                      68,980                    21,387 
To be paid between 4-5 years                       54,319                20,364
To be paid in 5+ years                         31,103                    27,517
                       1,751,493             1,393,219 

Long-term bank loans        456,822                706,712
Total loans         456,822                706,712 

31 December  
2021

31 December  
2021

31 December 
2020

31 December  
2020

Bank loans      1,339,992             (222,459)        580,733             1,751,493
Lease liabilities            38,521               (20,745)          14,568                 32,344
Other financial liabilities         101,424                (115,061)             2,628                219,113
         1,533,164             (128,143)        597,929              2,002,950

Bank loans     1,339,992             (232,342)       336,569            1,339,219
Lease liabilities          42,546                (19,967)           15,942               38,521
Other financial liabilities         129,541               (58,500)         30,383              101,424
        1,512,079              (361,809)       382,894           1,533,164

Financing
cash flows

31 December 
2021

Non-cash changes

Non-cash changes

1 January 2021

Currency 
transaction 
difference 

and interest 
accrual

Financing
cash flows

31 December 
20201 January 2020

Currency transaction 
difference and 

interest accrual
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Short-term portion of issued bonds         55,241              -
Long-term portion of issued bonds        45,745                 98,358 
           100,986                      98,358

31 December  
2021

31 December  
2020

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
Financial Liabilities (cont’d)
Issued Debt Instruments:

On 7 May 2020, the Company obtained permission from the Capital Markets Board for the issuance of bonds 
with a nominal value of 400,000 TL, for which the dominant partner Kıraça Holding A.Ş. Within the scope 
of this issue ceiling, with a 3-month floating rate coupon payment, 1093 days maturity, with a redemption 
date of 21 July 2023, a nominal value of 42,800 TL; with a 3-month floating rate coupon payment, a maturity 
of 728 days, a redemption date of 21 July 2022, a nominal value of 29,700 TL; With a 3-month floating rate 
coupon payment, a maturity of 728 days, a redemption date of 3 October, 2022, a nominal value of 22,650 
TL; the three bond tranches were sold on 23 July 2020 and 5 October 2020. 
Terms of bonds are as follows:

(*) Represents interest rate of the indicative government domestic debt instruments.

TL            4.76% + DIBS (*)      55,241                  45,745
              55,241                  45,745

TL           4.12% + DIBS (*)               -                        98,358
                       -                  98,358

Current

Current

Effective Interest Rate %

Effective Interest Rate %

Currency Type

Currency Type

Non-current

Non-current

31 December 2021

31 December 2020
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31. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a) Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns 
while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance.
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 30, cash 
and cash equivalents, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings.
The Group’s risk Board of Directors reviews the capital structure of the Group collectively on a semi-annual 
basis. As a part of this review, the committee considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with 
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the committee, the Group will balance its overall capital 
structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of 
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
In addition and consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing 
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings 
(including ‘current and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position) 
less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated statement 
of financial position plus net debt.
In 2021, the Group’s strategy has not changed since 2018. As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the debt-to-
equity ratio calculated by dividing the net debt, calculated by deducting cash and cash equivalents and short-
term financial investments from financial liabilities, by total capital is as follows:

b) Financial Risk Factors
The Group is exposed to market risk (currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and 
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk due to its activities. The Group’s risk management programme generally 
focuses on uncertainty in financial markets and minimizing potential negative effects on the Group’s financial 
performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.
Risk management, is conducted by a treasury department with some politic approved by the board of 
management. Treasury department of the Group defines and evaluates the financial risk, and by working 
with the operation units, they use tools to decrease the risk.

Financial borrowings                   1,975,890              1,540,058
Less: Cash and Cash Equivalents                   (103,061)               (69,837)
Net Debt                     1,872,829             1,470,221
Total Equity                        993,893              728,164
Total Capital                    2,866,722              2,198,385
Gearing Ratio (Net Debt/Total Capital)            65%                      67%

31 December  
2021

31 December 
2020
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31. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
b.1) Credit risk management
In order to minimize credit risk, the Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk 
of financial loss from defaults.
Before accepting any new customer, credit limits by customer are determined and defined after the 
assessment of the potential customer’s credit quality.
Credit approvals and other monitoring procedures are also in place to ensure that follow-up action 
is taken to recover overdue debts. Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread 
across diverse industries and geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the 
financial condition of accounts receivable. Additionally, the Group management evaluates the trade 
payables and financial assets on a customer and asset basis at the end of the period and ensures that 
the required provisions for the non-collectible amounts are reflected in the consolidated financial 
statements. In this context, the Group management believes that the Group’s credit risk has decreased 
significantly as of the reporting date.
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31. 31. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)
b.1) Credit risk management (cont’d)

Maximum credit risk 
exposed as of balance 
sheet date (A+B+C+D) (*)            797  1,224,198        10,994           92,256            305,296                        -
- Secured portion of 
the maximum credit risk 
by guarantees (**)                 -      44,026      -            -           -              - 

A. Net book value of financial 
assets that are neither past 
due nor impaired          797    629,769          10,994     92,256          305,296                 - 
B. Net book value of financial 
assets that are past due 
but not impaired      594,429                  -                    -           -               - 
   - Secured portion of the net 
   book value by guarantees, etc.    -         4,150                 -            -           -              - 

C. Net book value of the 
impaired assets
   -  Past due (gross amount)    -       57,484                 -            -           -              - 
   - Impairment (-)    -     (57,484)                 -            -           -              - 
   -  Secured portion of the net book 
   value by guarantees, etc.   -                -                   -             -           -              - 
   -  Not past due (gross amount)                 -                -                   -            -           -               - 
   - Impairment (-)                  -               -                   -            -           -              - 
   - Secured portion of the net book
    value by guarantees, etc.                 -                -                   -            -           -               - 

D. Off-balance sheet 
items exposed to credit risk                 -                -                   -            -           -              - 

31 December 2021

Details of credit risk by class of 
financial instruments Receivables

Trade Receivables Other Receivables

Deposits at 
Banks

Receivables from 
finance sector 

operations
Related 
Parties

Third 
Parties

Related 
Parties

Third 
Parties

(*) The factors that increase the credit reliability, such as guarantees received are not considered in the 
determination of the balance. 
(**) Guarantees consist of guarantee checks and guarantee notes obtained from the customers. 



222

Annual Report 2021
KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021  
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)

Maximum credit risk 
exposed as of balance 
sheet date (A+B+C+D) (*)            627   989,533      -     7,181             84,505               116,321
- Secured portion 
of the maximum credit 
risk by guarantees (**)                 -     23,776      -           -                       -                      -  

A. Net book value of financial 
assets that are neither 
past due nor impaired            627   681,024      -      7,181             84,505                116,321
B. Net book value of financial 
assets that are past 
due but not impaired       308,509      -            -          -               - 
   - Secured portion of the net 
   book value by guarantees, etc.   -         1,040      -           -          -             - 

C. Net book value of the impaired assets
  - Past due (gross amount)    -        13,160      -             -           -              - 
      - Impairment (-)    -      (13,160)     -             -           -              - 
        - Secured portion of the net 
       book value by guarantees, etc.  -                -                   -             -           -              - 
       - Not past due (gross amount)              -                -                   -            -           -               - 
       - Impairment (-)                 -               -                   -            -           -              - 
       - Secured portion of the net 
       book value by guarantees, etc.              -                -                   -            -           -               - 

D. Off-balance sheet 
items exposed to credit risk                -                -                   -            -           -              - 

31 December 2020

Details of credit risk by class of 
financial instruments Receivables

Trade Receivables Other Receivables

Deposits at 
Banks

Receivables from 
finance sector 

operations
Related 
Parties

Third 
Parties

Related 
Parties

Third 
Parties

31. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d)
b.1) Credit risk management (cont’d)

(*) The factors that increase the credit reliability, such as guarantees received are not considered in the 
determination of the balance. 
(**) Guarantees consist of guarantee checks and guarantee notes obtained from the customers.
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31. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
b.1) Credit risk management (cont’d)
Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the Group. The Group is aiming to decrease credit risk by transacting only with parties who has credit 
assurance and where possible, obtaining sufficient guarantee. Credit risks which the Group is exposed and 
credibility of customers are being watched continuingly. Credit risk is being controlled by the risk management 
committee through limits which are determined and annually controlled by the management. 
Trade receivables comprise lots of customers spreaded to variety of sectors and geographic segments. Credit 
assessments are continuingly performed for trade receivables balances from customers and receivables are 
insured where necessary.
Aging of overdue receivables is as follows:

Past due up to 30 days                        85,323                 85,323
Past due 1 - 3 months           80,193                  80,193
Past due 3 - 12 months         238,313                238,313
Past due 1 - 5 year        190,600               190,600
Total past due receivables       594,429               594,429

Secured portion of receivables
by guarantees, etc.             4,150                   4,150

Past due up to 30 days                       66,496                 66,496
Past due 1 - 3 months                      136,593                136,593
Past due 3 - 12 months          31,506                  31,506
Past due 1 - 5 year          73,914                  73,914
Total past due receivables      308,509                308,509

Secured portion of receivables
by guarantees, etc.             1,040      1,040

Trade
Receivables

Trade
Receivables

31 Aralık 2021

31 Aralık 2020

Total

Total
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31. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
b.2) Liquidity risk management
The ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management belongs to the Board of Directors. The Board of 
Directors has established a liquidity risk management in order to meet short, mid and long term financing, and 
liquidity requirements of the management. The Group manages liquidity risk by tracking actual and projected 
cash flows closely, and by maintaining sustainability of credibility reserve and sufficient funds through 
matching maturities of financial assets and liabilities. 
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities 
and its derivative financial liabilities. The tables below have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash 
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table 
includes both interest and principal cash flows. The liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments 
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted net cash inflows/ outflows on the derivative instrument that 
settle on a net basis and the undiscounted gross inflows and outflows on those derivatives that require gross 
settlement. When the amount payable or receivable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined 
by reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing at the reporting date.

Non-derivative
financial liabilities
Bank loans                1,751,493           1,890,466        432,523        927,526              498,526             31,931
Bonds issued                   100,986              120,705            5,028          42,083                73,594                      - 
Lease liabilities                   32,344              33,809            2,627            7,879                23,203                      - 
Factoring liabilities                  118,127               118,127            18,127       100,000                          -                       - 
Trade payables                 479,224           479,224         143,312       336,012                         -                       - 
Other liabilities                  44,980             44,980                  -         44,980                        -                       - 
Total liabilities               2,527,154         2,687,311   12,453,937  8,895,756        7,001,472           31,931

Non-derivative
financial liabilities
Bank loans               1,393,219           1,508,124    121,248        635,629      720,748           30,499
Bonds issued                 98,358            130,606       3,857           11,786       114,962            - 
Lease liabilities                               38,521               41,442      13,143            11,312        16,987                    - 
Factoring liabilities                 3,066                3,066      3,066                   -      -                      - 
Trade payables              307,640            307,640  301,942            5,698    -                      - 
Other liabilities       11,129    11,129              -              11,129    -                      - 
Total liabilities              1,851,933         2,002,007   443,256       675,554              852,697           30,499 

Contract Terms

31 December 2021
Liquidity risk table:

31 December 2020

Contract Terms

1 to 5 years

(III)

1 to 5 years

(III)

5 years +

5 years +

Carrying 
value

Carrying 
value

Total 
Contracted

Cash Outflows

(I+II+III+IV)

Total 
Contracted

Cash Outflows

(I+II+III+IV)

Less than 
3 months 

(I)

Less than 
3 months 

(I)

3 to 12

months (II)

3 to 12

months (II)

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021  
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)
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31. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
b.2) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)
Liquidity risk table (cont’d):
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates 
and interest rates. The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure 
to interest rate and foreign currency risk, including:

• Forward foreign exchange purchase/sale contracts used to hedge foreign exchange risk arising from 
foreign currency purchase and sale

Market risk exposures are measured by sensitivity and stress scenario analyses.
During the current year, any change to either exposed risks or management and measurement methods of 
these risks, there was no change compared to the previous year.

b.3.1) Foreign currency risk management
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies result in foreign currency risk. Foreign currency risk is managed 
within approved policy parameters utilizing forward foreign exchange contracts.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities 
at the reporting period are as follows:
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31. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
b.3.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d)

1. Trade Receivables                       701,958              150       45,090          6,483  -     3000
2a. Monetary Finacial Assets           87,918               33          5,749              250  -             - 
2b. Non-Monetary Finacial Assets                     -      -           -                -   -             - 
3. Other                            19,282             797             469               -               83     9,567
4.CURRENT ASSETS                        809,158             980         51,308          6,733             83   12,567
5. Trade Receivables           130,311                  -   8,637                 -    -             - 
6a. Monetary Finacial Assets                     -                  -           -                 -    -             -  
6b. Non-Monetary Finacial Assets                     -                  -           -                 -    -             - 
7. Other              67,259              100 4,370                 -    -             - 
8. NON-CURRENT ASSETS          197,570              100           13,007                -                -                       - 
9. TOTAL ASSETS                      1,006,728          1,080          64,315           6,733            83   12,567
10. Trade Payables                        310,942            1,125          19,498              556   5            - 
11. Financial Liabilities                        836,981    -           55,478   -    -            - 
12a. Other Monetary Liabilities         130,092    -   8,623  -    -             - 
12b. Other Non-Monetary Liabilities                     -     -           -    -    -             - 
13. CURRENT LIABILITIES                    1,278,015           1,125          83,599              556   5            - 
14. Trade Payables                      -     -            -     -    -             - 
15. Financial Liabilties                       343,630    -            22,777                  -   -            - 
16a. Other Monetary Liabilities
Liabilities              20,379    -      1,351                  -   -              - 
16b. Other Non-Monetary 
Liabilities                       -     -             -      -    -             - 
17. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES                     364,009    -              24,128                  -   -             - 
18.TOTAL LIABILITIES                    1,642,024           1,125           107,727              556   5             - 
20. Net foreign currency assets/liabilities 
position (9-18+19)                    (635,296)            (45)         (43,412)            6,177          78  12,567
21. Monetary items net foreign currency
assets/liabilities 
(1+2a+5+6a-10-11-12a-14-15-16a)                    (721,837)           (942)         (48,251)            6,177  (5)      3,000
23. Hedged foreign 
currency assets                       472,492     -     31,318                   -     -             - 
25. Export                       1,829,130                         8          121,234                   -      -             - 
26. Import                                     914,486                  2,605            57,171                    -   188     1,330

GBP Other

TL Amount 
(Functional 

Currency)

31 December 2021

US Dollar Euro RON
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1. Trade Receivables                          941,954                      172         104,390             194           -             - 
2a. Monetary Finacial Assets            63,810                23             6,990                366           -            -   
2b. Non-Monetary Finacial Assets                      -     -           -                   -                -             - 
3. Other                           129,333               163           14,069                       -         31         100
4.CURRENT ASSETS                       1,135,097                      358         125,449                560         31         100
5. Trade Receivables                       -      -           -                   -            -             - 
6a. Monetary Finacial Assets                      -          -           -                   -                       -             - 
6b. Non-Monetary Finacial Assets                      -       -           -                 -            -             - 
7. Other                                      -                           -                    -                   -            -             - 
8. NON-CURRENT ASSETS                                    -                           -                    -                      -           -             - 
9. TOTAL ASSETS                       1,135,097                      358        125,449                 560         31       190
10. Trade Payables                           145,710                       783           15,427                 508          7           - 
11. Financial Liabilities                            431,443                           -           47,896                      -            -             - 
12a. Other Monetary Liabilities                        -      -           -                  -            -             - 
12b. Other Non-Monetary Liabilities                       -      -           -                  -            -             - 
13. CURRENT LIABILITIES                         577,153                     783          63,323                 508          7            -
14. Trade Payables                      -     -         -         -           -             - 
15. Financial Liabilties              635,595    -           70,560    -            -             - 
16a. Other Monetary 
Liabilities           814     -                  90        -           -               - 
16b. Other Non-Monetary Liabilities         -    -          -   -           -                -
17 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES                       636,409     -           70,650      -           -             - 
18.TOTAL LIABILITIES                        1,213,562               783        133,973                 508          7             - 
Net foreign currency assets/liabilities 
position (9-18+19)                 (78,465)             (425)        (8,524)                   52         24        190
21. Monetary items net foreign currency
assets/liabilities 
(1+2a+5+6a-10-11-12a-14-15-16a)                      (207,798)              (588)      (22,593)                  52         (7)            -
23, Hedged foreign currency 
assets                           304,613                     -         33,816            -             -                 - 
25, Export                         815,218   514         90,081               -             -                 - 
26, Import                                        545,752               603         59,727            -          139           336 

GBP Other

TL Amount 
(Functional 

Currency) AUS Dollar Euro RON

31. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
b.3.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect 
to US Dollar and Euro.
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% appreciation and depreciation in US Dollar and Euro 
against TL. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The 
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their 
translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes 
external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan 
is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive number below indicates an 
increase in profit/loss or equity.
The Group management, have the opinion that sensitivity analyses does not exactly reflect the currency risk 
because sensitivity analyses made at the end of the year does not reflect exchange risk occurred within the 
year 

31 December 2020
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31. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
b.3.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d)

In case of US Dolar appreciation by 10 % against TL
1-  US Dolar net asset/liability                  (60)                     60     (60)              60
2-  US Dolar hedges (-)        -        -             -                 - 
3-  Net effect of US Dollar (1 +2)                  (60)                         60     (60)             60

In case of Euro appreciation by 10 % against TL
4 -  Euro net asset/liability            (65,494)              65,494                (65,494)                      65,4945 
5- Euro hedges (-)               47,249            (47,249)                   47,249                      (47,249)

6- Net effect of Euro (4+5)           (18,245)                18,245                 (18,245)                        18,245

In case of RON appreciation by 10 % against TL
7-  RON net asset/liability                1,873               (1,873)    1,873       (1,873)
8-  RON hedges (-)         -        -             -                 - 
9-  Net effect of RON (7+8)                 1,873               (1,873)    1,873       (1,873)

In case of GBP appreciation by 10 % against TL
10-  GBP net asset/liability                   140                 (140)       140          (140)
11-  GBP hedges (-)         -        -             -                 - 
12-  Net effect of GBP (10+11)                   140                 (140)       140         (140)

In case of other currencies appreciation by 10 % against TL
13-  Other currencies net asset/liability             18,298            (18,298)  18,298    (18,298)
14-  Other currencies hedges (-)        -        -             -                 - 
15-  Net effect of other currencies (13+14)             18,298             (18,298)                    18,298                      (18,298)
TOTAL (3 + 6 + 9 + 12 + 15)               2,006              (2,006)                     2,006     (2,006)

Depreciation of  

Foreign Currency

Depreciation of  

Foreign Currency

31 December 2021
Profit / Loss Equity

Appreciation of 

Foreign Currency

 Appreciation of 

Foreign Currency

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021  
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)
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31. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
b.3.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d)

In case of US Dolar appreciation by 10 % against TL
1-  US Dolar net asset/liability                  (312)                     312     (312)           312
2-  US Dolar hedges (-)         -        -             -                 - 
3-  Net effect of US Dollar (1 +2)                (312)                     312     (312)             312

In case of Euro appreciation by 10 % against TL
4 -  Euro net asset/liability               (7,678)                 7,678                  (7,678)         7,678
5- Euro hedges (-)               30,461           (30,461)                  30,461    (30,461)
6- Net effect of Euro (4+5)              22,783            (22,783)                   22,783                      (22,783
 
In case of RON appreciation by 10 % against TL
7-  RON net asset/liability                      10                    (10)         10              (10) 
8-  RON hedges (-)         -        -             -                 - 
9-  Net effect of RON (7+8)                     10                    (10)        10           (10)
In case of GBP appreciation by 10 % against TL
10-  GBP net asset/liability                     24                    (24)         24          (24)
11-  GBP hedges (-)         -        -             -                 - 
12-  Net effect of GBP (10+11)                     24                    (24)         24          (24)
In case of other currencies appreciation by 10 % against TL
13-  Other currencies net asset/liability                  109                  (109)       109           (109)
14-  Other currencies hedges (-)        -        -             -                 - 
15-  Net effect of other currencies (13+14)                   109                  (109)      109           (109)
TOTAL (3 + 6 + 9 + 12 + 15)                22,614             (22,614)                    22,614    (22,614)

Depreciation of  

Foreign Currency
Depreciation of  

Foreign Currency

31 December 2020
Profit / Loss Equity

Appreciation of 

Foreign Currency

 Appreciation of 

Foreign Currency

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021  
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)
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Fair value hedge
accounting                      2021  2020  2021  2020         2021          2020           2021         2020
contracts:         TL     TL     TL     TL    TL   TL   TL  TL
 
More than 3 months      9,97  3,66       472,492    276,216    312,173      112,349       160,319    163,867
 
                     472,492     276,216     312,173      112,349      160,319     163,867

Average rate Foreign currency Contract value Fair value

31. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
b.3.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (cont’d)
Fair value hedge accounting transactions:
The following table details the fair value hedge accounting contracts that have not been realized as of the 
reporting date:

b.3.2) Interest rate risk management
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating 
interest rates. The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating 
rate borrowings, by the use of interest rate swap contracts. Hedging activities are evaluated regularly to align 
with interest rate views and defined risk appetite. Thus, it is aimed to establish an optimal hedging strategy, 
to review the position of the balance sheet and to keep interest expenditures under control at different interest 
rates.

Information on interest rates of the Group in financial assets and financial liabilities is detailed in the liquidity 
risk management section of this note.
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31. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)
b.3.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The details of the interest-bearing financial assets of the Group are as follows:

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s 
profit before tax and minority share for the year ended 31 December 2021 would decrease/increase by TL 
9,051 (31 December 2020: TL 7,955).

Financial liabilities        1,097,818                 721,922

Variable interest rate instruments
Financial liabilities        905,132                   795,495

Interest Position Table

Fixed interest rate instruments 31 December 202031 December 2021
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Group management considers that the carrying values of financial instruments reflect their fair values.

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents      103,061          -           -         -            103,061       35
Trade receivables    1,224,198          -           -        -          1,224,198          6
Trade receivables from related part ies          797         -           -         -                    797        5
Finance lease receivables                -           -           -       -                         -        7
Financial investments   208,562               86,743               53,313      -              353,618      30
Other receivables     103,250                         -                          -       -              103,250        8
Derivat ives                 -           -              160,319      -               160,319      29
Financial liabilities
Borrowings                 -           -          -          (1,970,606)       (1,970,606)     30
Lease liabilities                 -           -          -              (32,344)            (32,344)      13
Trade payables                 -           -          -            (469,862)          (469,862)      6
Trade payables to related part ies               -           -          -                (9,362)               (9,362)      5
Other liabilit ies                 -           -          -        (44,980)     44,980       18

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents       69,837          -            -       -         69,837       35
Trade receivables     989,533           -           -       -      989,533         6
Trade receivables from related part ies          627           -            -       -             627         5
Finance lease receivables       116,321           -             -       -         116,321         7
Financial investments       17,058               48,712                 71,978      -        137,748       30
Other receivables            7,181                        -                        -      -            7,181         8
Derivat ives                 -            -              163,868      -      163,868      29
Financial liabilities
Borrowings                 -            -             -    (1,494,643)          (1,494,642)    30
Lease liabilities                  -            -             -         (38,520)       (38,520)     13
Trade payables                 -             -             -          (297,291)      (297,291)      6
Trade payables to related part ies               -            -                   -          (10,349)                (10,349)      5
Other liabilit ies                 -            -                 -           (11,129)             (103)     18

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Carrying 
value

Carrying 
value

Notes

Notes

Financial assets 
at amortized 

cost

Financial assets 
at amortized 

cost

Fair value 
through other 

comprehensive 
income

Fair value 
through other 

comprehensive 
income

Fair value 
through the 

statement of 
profi t or loss

Fair value 
through the 

statement of 
profi t or loss

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortized  

cost

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortized  

cost

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES AND EXPLANATIONS 
ON HEDGE ACCOUNTING)
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES AND EXPLANATIONS ON HEDGE 
ACCOUNTING) (cont’d)
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined and grouped as follows:
• Third level: Financial assets and liabilities are valued from inputs that are not based on market observable 

data used to determine the fair value of the asset or liability.
Fair value hiearchy of financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value:
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each 
reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and 
financial liabilities are determined:

33. FEES FOR SERVICES RECEIVED FROM INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S
The fees related to the services received by the Group from the Independent Audit Firm (IAF) 
for the periods 1 January - 31 December 2021 and 1 January - 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Financial Assets /
Financial Liabilities

Financial assets at fair
value through other
comprehensive 
income

Financial assets at fair
value through profit 
or loss

The positive change in the 
continuous growth rate of 
the related financial asset 
causes an increase in the fair 
value of the financial asset. 
Furthermore, the increase in 
the discount rates, which are 
the basis for the estimates 
used, have a diminishing 
effect on the fair value of 
the financial asset.

The positive change in the 
continuous growth rate of 
the related financial asset 
causes an increase in the fair 
value of the financial asset. 
Furthermore, the increase in 
the discount rates, which are 
the basis for the estimates 
used, have a diminishing 
effect on the fair value of 
the financial asset.

The fair value 
determination is based 
on the market approach 
and the venture capital 
valuation model.

The effect of 
continuous 
growth and 
discount rates 
on the value of 
the financial asset

The effect of 
continuous 
growth and 
discount rates 
on the value of 
the financial asset

The fair value 
determination is based 
on the market approach 
and the venture capital 
valuation model.

86,743 

58,313

48,712

71,978

Third level

Third level

Valuation technique
Significant 

unobservable 
inputs

Relationship of 
unobservable inputs  
to fair value

Fair value

31 
December

2021

31 
December

2020

Fair value
hierarchy

Independent audit fee for the reporting period            607                        424
Fees for tax advisory services              422                     800
Fee for other assurance services                   7                          7
Fee for services other than independent audit                  -                           -
                 1,036                      1,231

 20202021
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35. DISCLOSURES OF OTHER MATTERS THAT MAY AFFECT CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
SIGNIFICANTLY OR IS NECESSARY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TO BE CLEAR, INTERPRETABLE AND 
COMPREHENSIBLE
None.

36. NOTES ON STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Explanations about the nature and level of risks related to cash and cash equivalents are provided in 
Note 31. 
Detail of time deposits of the Group as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Cash at banks            96,734                  67,447
 Demand deposits           94,734                 65,947
 Time deposits up to 3 months maturity         2,000                    1,500
Other cash equivalents             6,327                    2,390
            103,061                69,837

31 December  
2021

31 December  
2020

         TL          19.50%           3 Ocak 2022  2,000,000           2,000,000
                     2,000,000

         TL            16.75%             4 Ocak 2021  1,500,000           1,500,000
                       1,500,000

31 December 
2021

31 December 
2020

Original Amount

Original Amount

Maturity Date

Maturity Date

Interest Rate (%)

Interest Rate (%)

Currency

Currency

KARSAN OTOMOTİV SANAYİİ VE TİCARET A.Ş. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021  
(Amounts expressed in thousand Turkish Lira (TL), unless otherwise stated)

34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
In summary, in the material disclosure dated 28 January 2022; It is stated that the Company submitted 
bids for the tender issued by the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) for Mersin 
Metropolitan Municipality, which includes the supply of 100 CNG fueled buses (70 solo, 30 articulated) and 
2-year maintenance of the vehicles. As a result of the evaluation made by the EBRD and Mersin Metropolitan 
Municipality, taking into account various criteria such as adequacy and cost, the Company announced on the 
Public Disclosure Platform that the tender was won. In this context, the company plans to manufacture and 
deliver 118 CNG-fueled buses in 2022, with business increases.
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